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The pioneer in the new era of
ecological fertiliser industry
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Board of Directors

Executive Directors
Chi Wen Fu (Chairman)
Shum Sai Chit

Chi Bi Fen

Non-executive Director
Guo Mengyong

Independent Non-executive Directors
Kwong Ping Man

Sheng Hong

Lau Chi Kit

Company Secretary
Luk Sai Wai, Simon

Committees

Audit Committee

Kwong Ping Man (Committee Chairman)
Sheng Hong

Lau Chi Kit

Nomination Committee

Chi Wen Fu (Committee Chairman)
Kwong Ping Man

Sheng Hong

Remuneration Committee

Kwong Ping Man (Committee Chairman)
Shum Sai Chit

Sheng Hong

Lau Chi Kit

Head Office
Suite 1104, 11th Floor, Tower 6, The Gateway
9 Canton Road

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2802 2165

Fax: (852) 2802 2697

E-mail: ir@centurysunshine.com.hk
Website: www.centurysunshine.com.hk
Auditors

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Principal Bankers

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
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SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited
Royal Bank House

3rd Floor, 24 Shedden Road
P.O. Box 1586
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Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Listing Information

Listing Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”)

Stock code 509

Key Dates
28 March 2019
21 June 2019 to

Announcement of 2018 annual results
Closure of register of members

28 June 2019 (for annual general meeting)
(both days inclusive)
28 June 2019 Annual general meeting

Share Information
Company’s shares of HK$0.02 each
(the “Shares”) in issue
(81 December 2018)
Market capitalisation (31 December 2018)
Board lot size

4,581,116,843 Shares

HK$888,736,668
5,000 Shares

Earnings Per Share for 2018
Basic
Diluted

HK10.35 cents
HK10.35 cents

Dividend Per Share for 2018
Interim
Final (proposed)

Nil HK cents
Nil HK cents

Share Registrar and Transfer Offices
Principal:

SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited

Royal Bank House

3rd Floor, 24 Shedden Road

P.O. Box 1586

Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong:

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

Registered Office
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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Five Year Financial Summary

2017
A7

HK$'000

2016
Fib
HK$'000

2015
T
HK$'000

2014
TR
HK$'000

HZ12H31H1LEE  For the year ended 31 December
WA Revenue 3443219 2589221 2515602 2,072,519
HEKA Cost of sales (2,591,833)  (1,829,360)  (1,729,567)  (1,412,575)
7 Gross profit 851,386 759,861 786,035 659,944
Hi AR5  Other income and gains, net 118,750 67,884 72,578 18,346
WERMHEEER  Seling and marketing costs (139,056) (93,911) (113,406) (103,116)
TBAX Administrative expenses (275,998) (159,379) (139,742) (63,302)
BBER Finance costs (150,678)  (117,564) (87,390) (44,186)
BRETSHAT A Profit before income tax 399,404 456,891 518,075 467,686
GRS Income tax expense (144,292) (143,839) (155,008) (128,045)
REREEBL Profit for the year from

FREF continuing operations 255,112 - - -
BRIEREET Discontinued operations:

FEREF Profit for the year 6,510 - - -

FRHH Profit for the year 261,622 313,052 363,069 339,641
THALERG Profit for the year

FREF attributable to:

ARRHEBA Owners of the Company 260,316 302,334 314,479 287,910

TR R Non-controlling interests 1,306 10,718 48,590 51,731
BREH Earnings per share:

—EAR(FRAEW) - basic (HK cents per share) 5.67 6.57 7.45 8.01

—BE(BRA) - diluted (HK cents per share) 5.67 6.57 7.33 7.79
H12H31H As at 31 December
BEGE Total assets 7502278 5246469 5421692 3,796,956
BEEH Total liabilities (3,848,850)  (2,192,003)  (2,057,170)  (1,430,315)
ERiB Total equity 3,653,428 3,054,466 3,364,522 2,366,641
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Five Year Financial Summary

2017
A7

HK$'000

2016
TR
HK$'000

11.1%
6.0%
5xfE

29.4%
XfE

HK$'000

2015
TR

2014
TR
HK$'000

10.6% 13.0%
6.7% 8.9%
BxfZ 11xfE

25.7% 23.4%
xfE oxfE

#Z12H31H1L%E  For the year ended 31 December

fiET T Return on shareholders’ equity 1 7.9%
BEEREE Return on total assets 2 3.5%
BAIHTSER Interest coverage 3 3xfE
R12831A As at 31 December

BELE Gearing ratio 27.3%
REL & Liquidity 5 1x(E
D notes:

1. ARAREEABEFRETBRRER

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company/
Shareholders’ equity

2. FREHNEEHLE 2. Profit for the year/Total assets
3. BRABBEANEMZAENFIEMAZ 3. Profit before income tax and interest expense/Interest expense
4. BEEEEHLE 4. Total borrowings/Total assets
5.  RBEE/ RBAMRE 5. Current assets/Current liabilities
WA MEx
Revenue Margins
EEET BfAL
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’ FEF Gross profit , P Profit for the year

Profit for the Year Attributable MR ARRE
to Owners of the Company Total Equity
AEAT BEBT
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Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company” and together with its subsidiaries, “Century Sunshine” or the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
annual results for the year ended 31 December 2018 (the “Year”) of the Group for the perusal of our shareholders.

In 2018, the supply side reform on fertiliser has provoked such policies as “Action Plan for Zero Growth in the
Application of Fertiliser by 2020” and “the partial replacement of chemical fertiliser with organic ones”. Apart from
the implementation of policies, the heated environmental protection, improved industrial concentration, and the
elimination of backward production enterprises are also the opportunities and challenges faced by the fertiliser
industry. In response to the government policies, the Group, as it always is, continues developing green ecological
fertilisers with our strategy of differentiated products, so as to achieve our mission: “make the crops more
productive and make the land more fertile”.

Fertiliser Business

During the Year, the Group adhered to its research and development, and strived to develop
a high-tech brand. As a result, all of the Group’s branded products were well recognised by
the market. Through established brands like “Yanyangtian (¥F5X)”, “Le He He (£mWM)” and
“Dongfanghong (B 4L)”, which were particularly popular amongst customers. In which, “Yanyangtian
(4[5 X)” was rewarded “China’s Best Fertiliser 2018 (2018 # Bl4F It £ H BA %), further enhanced the
brand recognition of the Group’s fertiliser products, and highlighted the Group’s contribution in playing a part
in government strategies such as “Action Plan for Zero Growth in the Application of Fertiliser” and advocacy for
substituting chemical fertiliser with organic ones, so as to promote a more efficient agriculture and enhance soil
fertility. All these extensively raise the Group’s recognition in the industry and market share, further expanding the
Group’s fertiliser business.

The fertiliser industry is getting more competitive with the rising material costs. However, the agricultural supply-
side structural reform (2 ZE M4 AIAEENE) and the implementation of the government’s policy on green eco-
industries have been favourable towards the Group. Hence, the demand of ecological fertiliser will most likely be
increased and boost the Group’s fertiliser business. The Group has consistently carried out scientific fertilisation
based on soil examination, and has embarked on the development path of green eco-industry with high production
efficiency, product safety, resource conservation and environmental friendliness. The group has exerted the
competitive strategy and market advantages of differentiated products to further strengthen the research and
development of “formulated fertilisers and dedicated fertilisers”. Aiming to meet the growing demand, the Group
has strategically introduced, in a timely manner, market-oriented high value-added green ecological products. This
has always enabled the Group to maintain a leading position in the segmented fertiliser industry.

In 2018, the Group has founded the Fertiliser Operation Centre (“AERHEZ F 13”, the “Centre”), which is responsible
for the standardized management of each production base’s production and sales. The Centre makes sure that all
production bases and sales companies operate independently while supplementing each other. As such, the Centre
can nourish the complement of advantages among production capacity, talent and management and resources
sharing. The Group also upholds “green, environmentally friendly and sustainable development”. For the joy of
hundreds of millions of farmers, the Group will forge ahead with the mission in mind “to make crops more productive
and make the land more fertile” in developing the ecological fertiliser business.
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Chairman’s Statement

Magnesium Product Business

During the Year, the Group continues to engage in magnesium product business through its subsidiary Rare Earth
Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited (“REMT”) (formerly known as Group Sense (International) Limited)
(stock code: 601.HK).

In 2018, Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Company Limited (“Xinjiang Tengxiang”), was recognised as a
national-level “High-technology Enterprise” by the PRC government, denoting the achievements for REMT and
Xinjiang Tengxiang on their R&D capabilities, advanced technology, innovation sustainability and standardized
business management.

REMT is one of the leading magnesium product manufacturers in China. The Group mainly engages in the
research and development, production, sales and marketing of its new material magnesium alloys. The Group’s
production bases possess first class facilities and manufacturing technique. All of the Group’s magnesium products
are certified with 1ISO9001, and REMT also owns 22 magnesium production patents. These reflect the Group’s
manufacturing technique and product quality being recognised by the market.

Prospect

An enterprise could not flourish without the existence of high-quality goods, sound service and the mutual trust
and support with the customers. At Century Sunshine, we “deliver high-quality products and service, make friends
with loyalty to achieve the win-win situation.” That said, we satisfy the evolving and elevating needs for diversified
products of our customers while thriving with them on building a bigger and stronger green ecological industry, and
strive to lead the green fertiliser industry and new material sectors to a better development.

Century Sunshine will seize the opportunities arisen from the stable development of Chinese economy. The Group
will utilize its technology, resources and brand competence, as well as adhere to the product differentiation
strategy, to devote every effort to the growth of agricultural green ecological fertiliser business and our mission to
“make crops more productive and make the land more fertile”.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | wish to thank our management team and staff members for their contributions
to the Group during the year. Meanwhile, | would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude towards our
shareholders, business partners and all our customers for their strong support. In the coming year, we will exert our
best efforts to create greater returns for our shareholders.

Chi Wen Fu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Review

In 2018, the growth of global economic and financial markets has slowed down, alongside with the escalating trade
friction between China and the US, political and financial uncertainties arising from ongoing Brexit negotiations.
Despite international and domestic economic instability, China’s economic growth remained modestly stable.
According to National Bureau of Statistics, year-on-year GDP grew at 6.6% in 2018, representing the weakest
growth in recent years though still in line with expectation. Amidst these challenges, the Group made steady
progress, stayed focused on its fertiliser business, and concentrated on its main businesses by leveraging on
its brand recognition. In the meantime, the Group committed to expanding the magnesium business after its
reorganisation.

During the year ended 31 December 2018 (the “Year”), the Group recorded an overall increase in revenue of 35.2%
to HK$4,655,116,000 (2017: HK$3,443,219,000), with gross profit margin 24.5% (2017: 24.7%). Revenue from
the fertiliser business was HK$3,053,183,000 (2017: HK$2,225,499,000), representing a year-on-year increase of
37.2%, and accounted for 65.6% of the total revenue of the Group (2017: 64.6%); revenue from the magnesium
product business was HK$1,537,781,000 (2017: HK$1,158,248,000), representing a year-on-year increase of
32.8%, and accounted for 33.0% of the total revenue of the Group (2017: 33.6%).

The fertiliser business was faced with both opportunities and challenges influenced by national policies and market
circumstances in 2018. During the Year, the product differentiation strategy continued to bear fruit, raising the
Group’s profile and brand reputation for “Yanyangtian (4f5X)”, “Le He He (44Mm[i))”, “Feng Shou (£1%)” and the
like. In particular, the rapid expansion of the sales network after the acquisition of Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint
Stock Company, Ltd. (“Shandong Hongri”) contributed to the development of the Group’s fertiliser business. On the
other hand, after the Group completed the reorganisation of its magnesium business, further delineation of the two
businesses has greatly elevated the Group’s ability to stay flexible and responsive to opportunities.

Fertiliser Business

The Group has been developing, producing and selling ecological fertiliser for over a decade, and is a reputable
player in China’s compound and organic fertiliser market. The Group has established a number of well-
known fertiliser brands including “Yanyangtian (4f%X)", “Le He He (Z4M]M)”, “Feng Shou (£1)” as well as an
extensive sales network. Through self-produced and OEM business models, the Group has been able to rapidly
expand the sales network of our fertiliser products. During the Year, the fertiliser business contributed around
HK$3,053,183,000 to the Group’s revenue (2017: HK$2,225,499,000), yielding an average gross profit margin of
22.5% (2017: 23.2%) and a sales volume of 1,285,612 tonnes (2017: 1,066,541 tonnes).

Jiangxi Ruichang base Phase | of production capacity 550,000 tonnes has completed trial operation. Upon
completion of the Jiangxi project, the annual production capacity will be 1,400,000 tonnes. Together with the
capacity from other production bases, the Group’s total production capacity of fertilisers can fulfill the growth
in demand of its fertiliser business in the future. Moreover, the Jiangxi Base is located at Jiangxi Ruichang,
adjacent to three major coastal economic circles, connecting two railways of Beijing-Kowloon and Beijing-
Guangzhou. With its convenient location beside the Changjiang River and advanced production technologies and
equipment,transportation and production costs could be significantly reduced.
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The diversification and quality enhancement of our products remain the Group’s core strategy. Products of
Jiangxi base include high tower fertiliser and dedicated compound fertiliser. The high tower fertiliser is made of
concentrated but low water content high-tower-granulated compound. Manufactured through the high tower
granulation process, the high tower fertilizer features high compressive strength, durable preservation, balanced
nutrition, and fast dissolution, capable of meeting the needs for functional fertiliser in modern efficient agriculture.
The products from the Jiangxi base supplement and diversify the product’s range of the Group. Amongst the
functional fertiliser, the Group has “Sheng Ming Yuan (4£757T)” and “seaweed fertiliser (&%) as its newly
developed products, which improve the crop’s quality and quantity in accordance with the crop’s needs through
effective utilisation of fertiliser.

Magnesium Product Business

The Group engages in its magnesium product business through Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings
Limited (“REMT”, stock code: 601.HK). REMT focuses on magnesium products, including basic magnesium
products and rare earth magnesium alloys.

During the Year, the magnesium product business contributed a revenue of HK$1,537,781,000 (2017:
HK$1,158,248,000) to the Group and sales volume reached 61,463 tonnes (2017: 50,463 tonnes), while the overall
sales volume of magnesium product increased 21.8% year-on-year. During the review period, the gross profit
margin recorded at 26.6% (2017: 24.3%).

In order to increase production capacity and quality, REMT proactively invests in technological upgrades and skills
innovation in its magnesium production base located in Xinjiang, the PRC. At the end of 2018, Xinjiang Tengxiang a
wholly-owned subsidiary of REMT, has been accredited as the national-level “High and New Technology Enterprise”
by the Leading Group for the Administration of Determination of High and New Tech Enterprises in PRC. This
governmental recognition denotes the nation-level achievements on strong and professional team and knowledge,
advanced research and development capability, continuous innovation practice, and comprehensive corporate
governance in the area of New and High Technology.

REMT is one of China’s leading magnesium products enterprises. REMT mainly engages in the development
of magnesium products including the research and development, as well as production and sales. Its leading
production facility and technology enable the production of high-quality magnesium products, which have been
accredited with the certificate of ISO9001, indicating the recognition of its techniques and quality by the market.
With the designation of High and New Technology Enterprise, REMT and Xinjiang Tengxiang have accelerated its
technological research and development and introduced more technical professionals. All these contribute to the
Group’s success in increasing the proportion of high-tech products and enhancing the economic efficiency, with an
aim to further expand in both the domestic and international markets.

With an array of 22 patents in high-performance magnesium alloys, as well as an industrial chain of the seamless
integration of the stable supply of upstream resources and downstream production capacity, this has placed the
Group’s Magnesium Business in a very favorable position and maintained the sustainable development.

Other Businesses

The Group owns high-quality serpentine reserves which is not only a key raw material to produce Si-Mg fertiliser,
but also an indispensable source of auxiliary material for iron and steel smelting. After setting aside an adequate and
steady portion for the production of Si-Mg fertiliser, we sell a certain amount of serpentine to major domestic steel
enterprises for a continuous and stable income.
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Prospect

Turning into the 41st year of China’s Reform and Opening-up, the Group estimates that global trade frictions will
persist, and that China’s economic growth will be slowed down, and that more stringent policies on environmental
protection will be implemented nationwide. Part of those specific measures includes the promulgation of “the
Guidance for Promoting the Transformation and Development of the Fertiliser Industry” ({HE#E({LABFT A 2 R
H¥EEE 8)) by the Chinese government, aiming to lift the current use of new fertilisers from less than 10% to
30% by 2020. The plan of replacing chemical fertilisers with organic ones has commenced in many provinces in
PRC. It is expected that China will further substitute many low-end or non-environmentally friendly fertilisers with
green ecological and high value-added ones. This offers precious opportunities for the Group’s green industry
development.

As for magnesium products, the Group will expedite its scientific research and technological enhancement,
introduce more professionals to unleash its strengths in magnesium development to further develop in both
domestic and international markets. The Group will also strengthen operation and technology innovation, and
continuously improve the core competitiveness.

With respect to the development of our production bases, the construction of Jiangxi phase Il project is
progressing steadily. Also, the plan of “Relocation to Park from City” ([3&# A& |) in shandong production base
is an opportunity to the Group. The “Relocation to Park from City” is the plan of Shandong government where the
Shandong production base of the Group will be relocated to an area designated by the government. The growth
potential is significant when the existing land is transformed into commercial use. The plan is still in the preliminary
stage and no relocation schedule or details have been unveiled.

In 2019, the management team will as always actively respond to the policy of “Promoting the Application of Green
Ecological Fertilisers” ((HEB) 4R 2 £ REAE R H FE R )), seize the favorable situation shined by environmental policies,
further promote the development of green fertiliser industry, and continue to strengthen the product differentiation
strategy to achieve the maximized return for shareholders.

Key Operational Data

Unaudited key operational data for the year ended 31 December 2018, together with the comparative figures for the
corresponding period in 2017, is as follows. Main businesses listed below contributed over 98.6% of the Group’s
total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018.

(@) Sales volume of major products:

2018 2017 Increase
Tonnes Tonnes %
Fertiliser business 1,285,612 1,066,541 20.5
Magnesium product business 61,463 50,463 21.8

(b  Average selling price of major products:
2018 2017 Increase
HK$/Tonnes HK$/Tonnes %
Fertiliser business 2,375 2,087 13.8
Magnesium product business 24,993 22,468 11.2
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(c) Gross profit margin:

(Decrease)/
Increase
percentage

point
%

Fertiliser business 22.5 23.2 (0.7)
Magnesium product business 26.6 24.3 2.3
The Group’s gross profit margin 24.5 24.7 (0.2)

Operating Income and Gross Profit

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$4,655,116,000 for the year, representing a year-on-year
growth of 35.2%. The revenue from two of the major businesses of the Group, namely fertilizer business and
magnesium business, increased by 37.2% and 32.8% respectively.

The Group strived to maintain the sales of products with high gross profit, and develop market shares for products
with low gross profit, so as to increase sales revenue and overall profits, and also satisfy the needs of product
diversification from our customers and expand our customer base. All these supports the Group’s sustainable
development.

The revenue of the fertilizer business for the year was approximately HK$3,053,183,000 with a sales volume of
1,285,612 tonnes, representing a year-on-year growth of 37.2% and 20.5% respectively. With the lower gross
profit of general fertilizer compared to that of ecological fertilizer and functional fertilizer, the overall gross profit
margin of fertilizers of the Group diluted by approximately 0.7 percentage points to 22.5%, due to the change in
product mix by increased portion of sales volume of general fertilizer resulted from the integration of Shandong
Hongri into the Group.

The revenue and sales volume of the magnesium business were approximately HK$1,537,781,000 and 61,463
tonnes for the year, representing respective year-on-year growth of approximately 32.8% and 21.8%. Gross margin
of magnesium product business increased approximately 2.3 percentage points. The gross profit of rare earth
magnesium alloy products has been maintained steadily.

Other Gain or Loss, net

Other gain or loss, net was approximately HK$75,324,000, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately
5.9%, mainly comprised of gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and land use rights of approximately
HK$56,365,000 and change in fair value of financial guarantee liabilities of approximately HK$11,168,000.

Administrative Expense

The administrative expense for the year was approximately HK$233,530,000, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 0.2%. Of which were mainly comprised of remuneration of employees, depreciation and
amortization, audit and professional fees, research and development and leases.

Finance Cost
Finance cost was approximately HK$164,943,000, representing a year-on-year growth of approximately 9.5%.
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Margin

During the year, the profits after tax of the Group was approximately HK$572,837,000 that included once off gains
and non-operating incomes of approximately HK$98,848,000. Of which, it was comprised of gains on disposal
of property, plant and equipment, land use rights, gain on disposal of subsidiaries, and change in fair value of
financial guarantee liabilities. For so, the profits after tax generated from ordinary operations was approximately
HK$473,989,000.

Final Dividend
Considering the capital requirement on expanding production capacity in the production bases, the management does
not suggest to declare the final dividend to the shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Liquidity, Liabilities and Financial Resources

The Group’s liquidity in 2018 was mainly derived from cash generated from business operations and financing
activities during the year. As at 31 December 2018, total amount of bank and cash balances of the Group was
approximately HK$717,807,000 (2017: HK$956,995,000).

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s total borrowings increased by approximately 0.9% as compared to 2017,
while net current assets decreased by approximately 80.9% as compared to 2017. It was mainly due to increase in
investment in capital expenditure for production capacity by the Group during the year. The Group’s gearing ratio
(calculated by total borrowings over total assets) was approximately 27.6% in 2018 (2017: 27.3%).

The Group’s existing cash resources together with the steady cash flows generated from operating and financing
activities are sufficient to meet its business operations.

Pledge of Assets
As at 31 December 2018, the Group had pledge of its assets, details of which are disclosed in Note 34 to the
financial statements.

Capital Commitments
As at 31 December 2018, other than those disclosed in Note 41 to the financial statements, the Group did not have
any material capital commitments.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2018, other than those disclosed in Note 46 to the financial statements, the Group did not have
any significant contingent liabilities.

Capital Structure
As at 31 December 2018, the issued share capital of the Company were HK$91,622,337, divided into
4,581,116,843 shares of HK$0.02 each.

Significant Transactions

() On 3 August 2016 (after trading hours), Long Xiang Enterprises Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, as the Purchaser), entered into an acquisition agreement with Prosperous Rich Holdings
Limited (a company indirectly held by the Company’s former executive director, Mr. Yang Yuchuan, as the
Vendor) and Acronagrotrans Ltd (as the Target Company, which directly holds 50.5% interests in Shandong
Hongri), pursuant to which, the Purchaser conditionally agreed to buy, and the Vendor conditionally agreed
to sell the entire equity interest in the Target Company, at the cash consideration of US$1 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7.76), which is payable in accordance with the terms and conditions thereto at Completion.
Details of which, please refer to the relevant announcement on the HKEX and the company’s website made
on 4 August 2016.

The transaction was completed and Shandong Hongri was consolidated into the Group with effect from 1
April 2017.
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(i) On 5 June 2017, the Company issued 7.0% subordinated notes with the face value of SGD101.75 million
(under the Multicurrency Medium Term Note Programme). The notes are listed on the Singapore Stock
Exchange and will mature on 3 July 2020.

On the same date, the Company redeemed the face value of SGD38.25 million the 7.2% subordinated notes
issued in 2015 by exchange for the new 7.0% subordinated notes. The remaining subordinated notes issued
in 2015 of the face value of SGD86.75 million were fully redeemed on 30 June 2017.

(i) On 30 November 2017, the Group has completed its group reorganisation plan, the Transaction, all of the
Group’s interests in its magnesium business will be held through REMT to allow better delineation of the
businesses of the Group and REMT. Details of which, please refer to the joint announcements dated 1
September 2017 and 30 November 2017 made by the Group and REMT and the circulars dated 27 October
2017 made by each of the Group and REMT.

Project Overview

Dolomite Mine

The Group’s dolomite mine is situated in Baishan City, Jilin Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by open-pit
method, and therefore no additional exploration works are involved or required. Only simple infrastructure works for
open-pit mining are involved in the development activities, and no underground exploration or structural works are
involved. The dolomite mined is raw material for producing magnesium products of the Group. The transportation
cost for raw material is relatively low due to the close proximity of the mine to the production base of the Group.

The dolomite mine of the Group was reported under the Chinese resource/reserve categories. As at 31 December
2018, the anticipated resource and reserve volumes were determined based on the yearly reduction of quantity
mined to calculate the remaining resource and reserve volumes. There is no material change in the assumptions
of estimation by the Group as compared with those previously disclosed. The resource and reserve volumes was
reviewed by the Group’s internal geological experts. For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group completed
a dolomite output of 145,290 tonnes. As compared with the state as at 31 December 2017, there was no material
change in the resource estimate and ore reserve of the dolomite mine during the Year.

During 2018, the expenditures incurred in mining activities were mainly for direct wages, materials, energy,
transportation, depreciation and amortisation, etc. Such expenditures have been included in cost of sales and
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for 2018.

The expenditure incurred in mining activities of dolomite for the year ended 31 December 2018 were approximately
HK$12,173,000 while the expenditure incurred in exploration and development activities was HKS$Nil.
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Serpentine Mine

The Group’s serpentine mine is situated in Donghai County, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by
open-pit method, and therefore no additional exploration works are involved or required. Only simple infrastructure
works for open-pit mining are involved in the development activities, and no underground exploration or structural
works are involved. The serpentine mined is sold directly as metallurgical flux for iron and steel smelting and is
raw material for producing silicon magnesium fertilisers of the Group. The transportation cost for raw material is
relatively low due to the close proximity of the mine to the production base of the Group.

The resource/reserve of the Serpentine Mine was reported under the JORC system when it was acquired in 2010.
As at 31 December 2018, the anticipated resource and reserve volumes were determined based on the volume at
the time of acquisition with the yearly reduction of quantity mined to calculate the remaining resource and reserve
volumes. There is no material change in the assumptions of estimation by the Group as compared with those
previously disclosed. The resource and reserve volumes was reviewed by the Group’s internal geological experts.
For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group completed a serpentine output of 676,696 tonnes. As compared
with the state as at 31 December 2017, there was no material change in the resource estimate and ore reserve of
the serpentine mine.

The expenditures incurred for 2018 in development activities were mainly CAPEX for transformation of the mine
dumping site as specified and addition of mining machine. Such expenditures have been capitalised and included in
the consolidated statement of financial position for 2018. The expenditures incurred in mining activities were mainly
for direct wages, materials, energy, transportation, depreciation and amortisation, etc. Such expenditures have
been included in cost of sales and charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for 2018.

The expenditures incurred in development and mining activities of serpentine for the year ended 31 December
2018 were approximately HK$19,802,000 and HK$33,065,000 respectively while the expenditures incurred in
exploration were HK$ Nil.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

Our Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business prospects may be affected by a number of risks
and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group’s businesses. The followings are the key risks and
uncertainties identified by our Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below
which are not known to our Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Market risks

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or affects ability to meet business objectives arising from the
movement in market demand, product prices, foreign exchange rates, and interest rates. The management of our
Group keeps continually monitoring these exposures closely to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on
a timely and effective manner against such risks.

Exchange rate risk

The Group mainly operates in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Hong Kong and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from primarily with respect to Renminbi, HKS$, Singapore dollars, US$ and Australian
dollars. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and
net investments in foreign operations. The Group does not presently hedge the foreign exchange risks. The Group
periodically reviews liquid assets and liabilities held in currencies other than HK$ to evaluate its foreign exchange
risk exposure and consider the usage of hedging instruments when necessary.
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Interest rate risk
For interest-sensitive products and investments, our Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis
and considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner when appropriate, through variety of means.

Credit risk

The Group has always been aware of the credit risk exposure of our customers. The Group strictly followed the
“client account management procedures” established in 2004. The procedures required and ensured that all clients
were regularly assessed and be kept track of their transaction records and credit history. The Group specified and
assigned to each customer, as according to their operation and credit status, a series of credit measures such as
credit ratio, credit period, credit rating, credit terms and guarantee. The client account management procedures
were effective to control the credit risk of the Group.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the potential that our Group will be unable to meet its obligations when they fall due because of an
inability to obtain adequate funding or liquidate assets. In managing liquidity risk, our Group monitors cash flows
and maintains an adequate level of cash and cash equivalent to ensure the ability to finance the Group’s operations
and reduce the effects of fluctuation in cash flows.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or
from external events. Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests with functional departments of
the Group and its subsidiaries. Key functions of the Group is to guide their standard operating procedures, limits
of authority and reporting framework. Our management will assess key operational exposures and effect raised in
business development regularly, implement relevant measures and improve the internal control so that risk can be
responded and mitigated on a timely and effective manner.

Investment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of extension of its return period relative to the expected return or
occurrence of losses on any particular investment attributable to changes of external factors. The Group is well
aware of importance of exploring various business opportunities and territories on a continual basis, and also
implement as the top agenda of the year. Key concern of projects investment framework will be balancing risk
and return across different investments, and thus risk assessment is a core aspect of the investment decision
process. Proper investment assessment and due diligence procedures have been set up and detailed analysis will
be made before approving investments. Regular updates on the progress of the investments of our Group would be
submitted to the Board.

Manpower and retention risk

Manpower risk means huge demand for talents because of the Group’s rapid business development while at the
same time facing severe competition over specialists from the industry and turnover of manpower. Our Group may
face the risk of not being able to recruit and retain key personnel and talents with appropriate and required skills,
experience and competence to cope with the expansion of business which would meet the business objectives
of our Group. Our Group will conduct a thorough analysis over its remuneration system, as well as incentive
mechanism and optimise the compensation structure so as to ensure remuneration packages can align reasonably
with market standard and maintain its competitiveness. Meanwhile, recruitment channels are broadened and
the talent pool of senior management are strengthened, so as to further enhance the promotion opportunities
and career path of employees. Systematic staff training are also being further enhanced to increase the overall
effectiveness of training and the dissemination of good corporate cultures.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

Environmental policies and performance mainly means increasing attention of PRC government paid to
environmental rules and policies and more strict regulatory requirements. As subsidiaries and newly acquired
enterprises commenced into operation for a long while and lag behind certain environmental and duty requirements
promulgated by PRC government. The Group monitors impact on business development closely raised from
movements of environmental policy and external factors. Acting in an environmentally responsible manner and
performing social responsibilities, the Group is committed to improving and maintaining the long term sustainability
of the communities in which it operates. The Group endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and
waste reduction. Green initiatives and measures have been adopted in daily operation of the Group. Such initiatives
include recycling of resources, energy saving measures and water saving practices.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries in mainland China while the
Company is listed on the Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and
regulations in mainland China and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this
report, to the best of our knowledge, the Group has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in mainland
China and Hong Kong.

Relationship with Employees and Key Stakeholders

The number of employees of the Group was approximately 3,440 (2017: 4,680) as at 31 December 2018. The
remuneration of employees was determined by the Group with reference to their performance, work experience
and current market conditions. Employee benefits include medical insurance, defined provident fund scheme,
discretionary bonus and employee share option scheme. There has been no labour dispute or significant change
in the number of employees that affect the normal operations of the Group. The Directors believe that the Group
maintains admirable relations with its employees.

Our Group understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with business partners, shareholders,
investors and banks to achieve its long-term goals. To keep up with our key stakeholders closely, the Group has
formulated corresponding scheme about investor relationship, and also holds tailored activities from time to time,
such as annual/extraordinary general meetings, on-site visits, seminars and road-shows. Accordingly, our senior
management have kept good communication, promptly exchanged ideas and shared business latest update about
development of the Group with them when appropriate. During the Year, there was no material dispute between our
Group and its business partners or banks.
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Executive Directors

CHI Wen Fu, aged 56, Chairman of the Group who is responsible for overall strategic planning and key operating
decisions. Mr. Chi started his law firm in Fuzhou in 1995, in which he was the Managing Partner. Prior to that,
Mr. Chi joined Fuzhou Justice Bureau Commerce Law Office after qualifying as a lawyer in the PRC in 1989. In
early 1998, Mr. Chi originated an initial research on organic agricultural production and funded a R&D project on
microbial compound fertilisers. Mr. Chi is a graduate of Chemical Analysis and Law. Mr. Chi established the Group
in 2000.

SHUM Sai Chit, aged 61, Chief Executive Officer of the Group who is responsible for business operations. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Shum was the Managing Director of Go Modern Limited which was principally engaged
in manufacturing of textile products and trading activities. In 1984, Mr. Shum joined Fujian Textiles Import and
Export Corporation as a Manager to oversee importing and exporting of textile products. Mr. Shum is a graduate
of Consumer Product Pricing and Statistics. Mr. Shum has joined the Group since January 2002. Mr. Shum is
currently an executive director of REMT.

CHI Bi Fen, aged 60, Vice-President of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Chi was the Deputy General
Manager of an electronics equipment company over 17 years. She has an extensive experience in accounting,
taxation and finance in the PRC for more than 15 years. She is a graduate of Accounting and Finance. Ms. Chi has
joined the Group since March 2000. Ms. Chi is currently an executive director of REMT.

Non-Executive Director

GUO Mengyong, aged 60, is a Deputy General Manager of Fujian Changsheng Wireless Technology Development
Company Limited. He is responsible for electronic engineering technical management. Fujian Changsheng Wireless
Technology Development Company Limited is principally engaged in production of electronic products and
communication devices. Mr. Guo joined Fuzhou Capacitors Factory as a Technician in 1976. From 1993 onwards,
Mr. Guo worked at Fuzhou Meters Group Company as an Engineer and later promoted to the Deputy Factory
Manager in 1996, in charging of technical quality control. In 2000, Mr. Guo joined Fujian Wireless Group Company
as Deputy General Manager and was responsible for quality management. He is a graduate of Industrial Enterprise
Management. Mr. Guo has joined the Group since February 2011.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

KWONG Ping Man, aged 54, Director of O’Park Corporate Services Limited which provides corporate advisory
services. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Kwong served as the Chief Financial Officer of various companies for
almost 7 years. Mr. Kwong has over 15 years of experience in accounting, finance and administration. He obtained
a Master’s Degree in Professional Accounting from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of CPA
Australia, fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and associate member of Hong
Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Mr. Kwong is currently an Independent Non-Executive Director of Tang
Palace (China) Holdings Limited (stock code: 1181), REMT, Royal Deluxe Holdings Limited (stock code: 3789) and
Dragon King Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8493).

SHENG Hong, aged 56, Director of Hadrian Manufacturing (Asia) Limited and Director of Operations and General
Manager of Hadrian (Shanghai) Trading Limited. The Hadrian Group is principally engaged in production and sales
of metal partitions and lockers. Mr. Sheng has over 20 years of experience in management of corporation and
investment. He was employed by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited from 1986 to 1996. Mr. Sheng
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering Mechanics from Tongji University, Shanghai.

Lau Chi Kit, aged 74, an executive director of Chinlink International Holdings Limited (stock code: 997). He retired
from The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited (“HSBC”) in December 2000 after more than 35
years of service. Among the major positions in HSBC, he was the assistant general manager and head of Personal
Banking Hong Kong and assistant general manager and head of Strategic Implementation, Asia- Pacific Region.
He is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Bankers (“Institute”). He was the chairman of the Institute’s Executive
Committee (from January 1999 to December 2000). He is currently the honorary advisor of the Institute’s Executive
Committee. He served as a member on a number of committees appointed by the Government of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region, including the Advisory Council on the Environment (from October 1998 to December
2001), the Advisory Committee on Human Resources Development in the Financial Services Sector (from June
2000 to May 2001), the Corruption Prevention Advisory Committee of the Independent Commission Against
Corruption (from January 2000 to December 2003), the Environment and Conservation Fund Committee (from
August 2000 to October 2006), the Innovation and Technology Fund (Environment) Projects Vetting Committee
(from January 2000 to December 2004) and the Law Reform Commission’s Privacy Sub-committee (from February
1990 to March 2006). He also served as chairman of the Business Environment Council Limited (from September
1998 to December 2001). Currently, he is also an independent non-executive director of Royale Furniture Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1198), Leoch International Technology Limited (stock code: 842), Janco Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8035) and Hin Sang Group (International) Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 6893).

Company Secretary

LUK Sai Wai, Simon, aged 55, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Group. Mr. Luk is responsible
for financial, management accounting and secretarial affairs of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Luk was
appointed as financial controller for several listed companies in Hong Kong. He has over 20 years of experience in
finance and management. Mr. Luk holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration from Hong Kong Baptist
University and a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from University of Strathclyde. He is a fellow member
of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and a member of Society of Registered Financial Planners, Hong Kong. Mr. Luk has
joined the Group since May 2010.
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Senior Management

NGAN Sau Fung Joseph, aged 61, Managing Director of the Group. Mr. Ngan is responsible for corporate finance
and investor relations management, and also participates in risk management and strategic planning of the Group.
Mr. Ngan has over 30 years of experience in the financial industry, which includes working at The Hong Kong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, the Allied Banking Corporation, and DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited, in the
foreign exchange and treasury businesses, corporate and retail banking, payment and cash management, as well
as credit and risk management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ngan was the Managing Director of DBS Bank (Hong
Kong), and was in charge of its enterprise banking business. Mr. Ngan has joined the Group since March 2017.

WANG Yongxiang, aged 50, Senior Engineer of the Group, is responsible for the management and business
planning in fertilizer and ore business operations of the Group. Mr. Wang majored in planning and surveying of
mining industry with over 20 years of experience in agricultural fertilisers production and mining. Prior to joining the
Group, he was the Production Technician and Engineer at Donghai serpentine mine in Jiangsu Province, and the
Head of Sulfuric Acid factory. Mr. Wang has joined the Group since 2007.

MAO Huayin, aged 46, is responsible for business affairs and trade management for the fertiliser of the Group. Mr.
Mao holds a Master’s Degree, majored in the Economics Management. As a senior economist, he has more than
20 years of experience in marketing and corporate management. Mr. Mao joined the Group in February 2015.

HU Jie, aged 49, is responsible for fertiliser production and operation management of the Group. Mr. Hu studied
in mechatronics, and has over 20 years of experience in the fertilizer industries. He has served in various positions,
such as the Head of fertiliser factory, the General Manager of the production technology department, the Head of
the main chemical factory and the General Manager of the purchasing and branding department. Mr. Hu has joined
the Group since 2007.

ZHOU Jianhui, aged 46, is responsible for the safety environment management of the Fertilizer Base of the Group.
Mr. Zhou majored in agriculture with over 20 years of experience in agricultural fertilisers industries, and has served
in various positions, such as the Head of Fertiliser factory and company General Manager. Mr. Zhou has joined the
Group since 2007.

CHI Jing Chao, aged 36, Chief Corporate Affairs Officer of the Group who is responsible for the overall
corporate activities. Mr. Chi has 10 years of experience in corporate affairs. Mr. Chi is a graduate of Financial and
Administrative Management. Mr. Chi has joined the Group since August 2004.

LEE Man Ching, aged 39, Assistant to Chairman of the Group. Ms. Lee has over 10 years of experience in human
resources and administrative management. Ms. Lee holds a Bachelor’ s Degree in Accountancy and a Master’ s
Degree in Corporate Governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She is a fellow member of Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, and an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Ms.
Lee has joined the Group since August 2004.
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The Company is committed to achieve and maintain high
standards of corporate governance and business integrity. The
Board believes that good corporate governance will not only
improve management accountability and investors confidence,
but will lay a good foundation for the long-term development of
the Company.

Code on Corporate Governance Practices

Throughout the year of 2018, the Company has complied with
the code provision as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) and Corporate Governance Report
under Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) except
for the following deviations as explained below with considered
reasons:

(@)  Under code provision E.1.2, the Chairman of the Board
should attend the annual general meeting. Mr. Chi Wen
Fu, the chairman of the Board was unable to attend the
annual general meeting held on 13 June 2018 as he was
obliged to be away for a business trip. Mr. Shum Sai
Chit, chief executive officer and executive Director of the
Company, attended the said annual general meeting to
respond to queries from shareholders.

(b)  Under code provision A. 6. 7, independent non-executive
Directors and other non-executive Directors should
also attend general meetings and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders. Mr. Guo
Mengyong (being a non-executive Director) and Mr.
Sheng Hong (being an independent non-executive
Director) was unable to attend the general meeting held
on 13 June 2018 as they were obliged to be away for
business trips.
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The Board

The Group is governed by the Board which is responsible for
strategic leadership and overall supervision of the Group. The
Board exercises a number of authorities which include:

- Formulating the Group’s overall strategies

- Monitoring and controlling operational and financial
performance

- Formulating strategies for risk management

- Reviewing effectiveness of internal control system

- Approving financial results and public announcements

- Approving annual operating budgets

- Approving major acquisitions or disposals and capital
projects

- Reviewing and approving major investments and material
borrowings

- Setting dividend policy

- Approving appointment of Directors

- Setting the Group’s remuneration policies

The Board is also responsible for performing the functions set
out in code provision D.3.1. The Board will meet to develop,
review and monitor the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, to review and monitor training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, to review and monitor the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, to develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual applicable to employees and
Directors and to review the compliance of the Company with
the CG Code and the disclosure in the corporate governance
report.

During the year of 2018, in relation to the corporate
governance functions, the Board has reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and the regulatory and statutory
requirements, and the disclosure in the corporate governance
report.

During 2018, the Chairman had met the non-executive Director
and the independent non-executive Directors respectively and
individually without the presence of other executive Directors.
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Board Composition

The Board comprises 7 Directors in which 3 are executive
Directors; 1 is non-executive Director and 3 are independent
non-executive Directors. The number of independent non-
executive Directors constitutes more than one-third of the
Board. The composition of the Board as at the date of this
report and their profiles are set out on page 32 and page 33 of
the annual report respectively.

The Board delegates powers to executive Directors for the
day-to-day management of the Group and the implementation
of major strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board
whereas executive Directors should provide such explanations
and information to the Board in a timely manner to enable the
Board to monitor the performance of management.

Non-executive Director brings in valuable expertise and
experience to the Company and serves important functions as
well as provides strategic advices to the management.

Independent non-executive Directors ensure that the Board
is accountable for the interest of all shareholders and handles
matters in an objective manner. The 3 independent non-
executive Directors have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the
Board for efficient and effective delivery of its functions. The
Board has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Mr. Chi Wen Fu and Ms. Chi Bi Fen have a family relationship
of brother and sister. Mr. Guo Mengyong is a brother-in-
law of Mr. Chi Wen Fu. Save as disclosed, there is no other
relationship among members of the Board.

Upon reviewing (i) the directorships and major commitments
of each Director; and (ii) the attendance rate of each Director
at the meetings of the Board and its committees, the Board
is satisfied that all Directors have spent sufficient time in
performing their responsibilities during 2018.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against Directors.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

The chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company
are Mr. Chi Wen Fu and Mr. Shum Sai Chit respectively. The
roles of chairman and the chief executive of the Company are
separate and exercised by two separate individuals.

Appointment and Re-election

Any potential new Directors, being individuals who are suitably
qualified and expected to make a positive contribution to the
performance of the Board, will be identified by the existing
Directors and the Nomination Committee and submitted to the
Board for approval.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company,
at each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third
of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation and every
Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every 3
years. Ms. Chi Bi Fen, Mr. Sheng Hong and Mr. Lau Chi Kit
shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company, but being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of the non-executive Director and the independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Guo Mengyong, Mr. Kwong
Ping Man, Mr. Sheng Hong and Mr. Lau Chi Kit, has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a fixed term
of 2 years commencing from 1 March 2019, 1 March 2019,
1 March 2019 and 1 April 2018 respectively, subject to the
provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors under the
articles of association of the Company and save that either
such Director or the Company may terminate the appointment
by giving at least 3 months’ prior written notice. Annual
emoluments payable to independent non-executive Directors
and non-executive Director will be reviewed according to their
estimated time to be spent on the Company’s matters and
their working experience with the Company.
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All existing executive Directors are entitled to a fixed
remuneration per annum respectively. In addition, each
executive Director is also entitled to a discretionary
management bonus calculated as a percentage of the audited
consolidated net profit of the Group attributable to the owners
of the Company (after tax and non-controlling interests
and the payment of such management bonuses but before
extraordinary and exceptional items), which percentage shall
be determined by the Board provided that the aggregate
amount of the bonuses payable to all executive Directors in
respect of each financial year of the Company shall not exceed
5% of such net profit. The remuneration of each executive
Director is subject to the annual review of the Board with
reference to his/her contribution in terms of time, effort and
his/her expertise.

Details of remuneration paid to each of the Directors and senior
management during the year are disclosed in Note 13 to the
financial statements.

All Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable
expenses incurred during the performance of their duties to
the Company and are eligible for share options under the share
option scheme of the Company.
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BITES Executive Directors

WXE(LE) Chi Wen Fu (Chairman)

Tt Shum Sai Chit

BEK Chi Bi Fen

FHTES Non-Executive Director

PRE Guo Mengyong

BUKHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors
B Kwong Ping Man

B Sheng Hong

2B Lau Chi Kit

Board Processes

The Board is accountable to the shareholders and leads the
Group in an ethical, responsible and effective manner. The
Board meets on a regular basis and arranges ad-hoc meetings
for any specific matters that may arise.

The Board met 4 times in 2018. The attendance of individual
Directors at Board meetings, committee meetings and general
meetings is set out in the following table:

FlR/ 81288
Attended/held
# REERgER FMZReeR
Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee
Megtings Meetings Megtings

General
Meetings

Meetings

4/4 - 1 - 01
4/4 - - " Al
4/4 - - - 0/1
4/4 - - - 01
4/4 5/5 17 il il
4/4 5/5 1 il 0/1
4/4 5/5 - il n

ARENEMNEEEXHEREFEHZES SR
BRARTERES UK TRISKEKEE
Ble- EF@ANEFEER LARERRT AN
NEERBRFELRTE - WEBBRRKEFNE
ZeEERERRBERZEETAMNEER -
EREEBANEERTESESHR 2 AMIN
EEARBRRZIARE -

Agendas and the accompanying board papers are circulated
in full to all Directors at least 3 days before the Board or
committee meeting. Board decisions will then be resolved
either by vote at Board meetings or by written resolutions. If a
substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with by a
physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution.
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Minutes of the Board meetings and meetings of the Board
committees taken by the company secretary of the Company
and, together with any supporting papers, are available for
inspection to all Directors. The minutes record the matters
discussed by the Board or its committees, the decisions made
and any concerns or dissenting views raised by the Directors.

If a Director has a conflict of interests in relation to a
transaction or proposal to be considered by the Board, such
Director is required to declare his/her interest and abstain from
voting. Such matter shall be considered at a Board meeting by
Directors who have no material interest in the transaction or
proposal.

Directors’ Induction and Continuous
Professional Development

On appointment to the Board, each Director would receive
an induction package covering the Group’s business and
the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a
listed company. The Group also regularly updates Directors
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable legal and regulatory requirements regarding
subjects necessary for performing their duties. In addition,
the Company has been encouraging and offering to pay
for Directors to attend seminars on the latest development
of applicable laws, rules and regulations so that they can
continuously update and further improve their relevant
knowledge and skills.
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According to the records provided by the Directors, the training
received by each of the Directors during the period from 1
January 2018 up to 31 December 2018 is summarised as
follows:

FEEELE
EE S
Type of
continuous

professional
development
training netes

HITES Executive Directors

MY E Chi Wen Fu B
Lt R Shum Sai Chit B
AR Chi Bi Fen B
FHITES Non-Executive Director

Ellf] Guo Mengyong B
BYEHITES Independent Non-Executive Directors

BB R X Kwong Ping Man A, B
BR At Sheng Hong B
225 £ Lau Chi Kit B
5T notes:

A R ESREIRE

B: MEMRE TYWEREHEARREBREFTHAEL
BE - EHRARAMEREERERNERS
7 E B AR

A: Attending seminar(s) or training session(s)

B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the
Company’s business or directors’ duties and responsibilities,
the latest development of the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements etc.
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Delegation by the Board

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for
implementing business strategies and management of the
daily operations of the Group to the senior management who
is required to report back to the Board. Functions reserved to
the Board and the management are reviewed periodically. The
Board and each individual Director is empowered to access
any Company’s information from senior management and
the company secretary at all times. The Directors are kept
informed on a timely basis of major changes that may affect
the Group’s businesses, including amendments on relevant
rules and regulations. During the year, Directors are provided
with monthly updates on the Company’s performance, position
and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each
Director to discharge their duties. Directors are allowed to seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties at
the Company’s expense, but no request was made by any
Director for such independent professional advice in 2018.

The Board monitors and reviews performance of the
management based on several key performance indicators
such as financial figures, investor relations, corporate
governance and internal control. The principal measures
include review of management accounts, review of internal or
external auditor reports and feedbacks from stakeholders.

Board Diversity Policy

During the year, the Board has implemented a board diversity
policy which has been effective since 1 September 2013.
The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural background and ethnicity, in addition to educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 7 Directors.
Among which, one of them is a woman, one of them is a non-
executive Director and three of them are independent non-
executive Directors. The Directors are of diverse educational
background and possess a wide spectrum of professional
qualifications and business experience. The Board is of
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of gender,
professional and educational background and skills.

Code of Conduct Regarding Securities
Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (“Model Code”) as the code
of conduct of the Company regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. The Company made specific enquiries to all
Directors and all Directors have confirmed in writing that they
have complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code during the year.

Board's Committees

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board
has established audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), and
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”). These
committees function within clearly defined terms of reference.
Independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in
these committees to ensure that independent and objective
views are taken.

The terms of reference of these committees are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently consists of Mr. Kwong Ping
Man (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Sheng Hong
and Mr. Lau Chi Kit, who are all independent non-executive
Directors. All committee members possess appropriate
qualifications such as accounting and financial management.

The Audit Committee met 5 times in 2018 to review with
the senior management and external auditors the Group’s
significant internal controls and financial matters as set out in
the Audit Committee’s terms of reference. The functions of the
Audit Committee include the following matters:

- Reviewing the Group’s financial statements with
recommendation to the Board for approval

- Reviewing the Group’s compliance of the regulatory and
statutory requirements

- Reviewing the Group’s internal control and risk
management

- Reviewing significant accounting and audit issues

- Reviewing the Group’s connected transactions

- Overseeing and managing the relationship with external
auditors

The Audit Committee has power to conduct investigations
into any matter within the scope of responsibility of the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee is authorised to obtain
independent professional advice if it deems necessary
for discharging its responsibilities. The Audit Committee
has obtained a written confirmation from the auditors on
their independence and objectivity as required under the
Section 290 (revised) of the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants prior to the commencement of the audit
of the Company'’s financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018.
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During the year, the Audit Committee has carried out the above
functions in the respective Audit Committee meetings and also
has been satisfied with the review of the audit scope, process,
effectiveness and independence of the auditors. The Audit
Committee has reviewed and recommended to the Board for
approval of the interim and annual financial statements for
2018. There was no disagreement between the Board and the
Audit Committee on the re-appointment of the auditors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 4 members,
namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man (chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and independent non-executive Director),
Mr. Shum Sai Chit (executive Director), Mr. Sheng Hong
(independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Lau Chi Kit
(independent non-executive Director).

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to formulate
transparent procedures for setting remuneration policies and
packages for Directors and the senior management of the
Group. Its duties include:

- Reviewing and recommending to the Board the
remuneration packages of individual executive and non-
executive Directors and the senior management of the
Group

- Reviewing the administration of the share option scheme
of the Company

- Reviewing the appropriateness of compensation for
Directors and the senior management of the Group

No Director is involved in determining his/her own
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee met once in 2018
to review the existing remuneration policies of the Directors
and senior management.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 3 members,
namely, Mr. Chi Wen Fu (chairman of the Nomination
Committee and executive Director), Mr. Kwong Ping Man
(independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Sheng Hong
(independent non-executive Director).

Its duties include:

- Reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board

- Recommending any change to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategies

- Identifying capable and qualified individuals to become
Board members

- Assessing independence of independent non-executive
Directors

- Making recommendation on appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors

- developing and maintaining a policy for the nomination of
Board members

- developing and maintaining a board diversity policy and
to ensure its effectiveness

- monitoring the implementation of the Board diversity
policy and to review and to make recommendations on
any revisions of such policy

The Nomination Committee met once in 2018 for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, making
recommendation to the Board regarding change of roles
of board members and re-appointment of retiring Directors
at the forthcoming annual general meeting, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In carrying out the responsibility for identifying suitably qualified
candidates to become members of the Board, the Nomination
Committee will give adequate consideration to the board
diversity policy.
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Auditors' Remuneration

The Company had appointed HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as the independent auditors of the Group. Apart
from audit services, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited also
provided non-audit services during the year. For the year of
2018, the provisions of non-audit services mainly include
professional services for professional review.

The following principles are considered when determining the
appointment of the auditors in non-audit services:

- No management decision made by the auditors
- Independence of the auditors not to be impaired
- Quality of service

- Cost of service

The Board was authorised in the annual general meeting to
determine the remuneration of the independent auditors.

The remuneration paid/payable by the Group to the
independent auditors for the year of 2018 are as follows:

FEx
HK$’000

BEESMEERERAR

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

Bz R FEIZEERT Audit and audit related services 3,276
IEF X ARTS Non-audit services 663
B Total 3,939

AEREZEEREFBEAMEHMBRAAE
T HEMBRABRTZERBFAS LE
me BREZEBGCRESFSEE  RAEETZ
BRRBFASG LBAZERFSHMELAAR
RBBARRE] 2 ZEED -

The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will expire upon the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit Committee has
recommended to the Board that HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited be re-appointed as the auditors of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Respective Responsibilities of Directors and
Auditors

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparation of the financial statements for each financial
period, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Company and its subsidiaries and in compliance with the
requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Listing Rules.

The auditors acknowledge their responsibilities in the auditors’
report as set out on pages 69 to 78 of the annual report.

Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish,
maintain and review the effectiveness of the Group’s system of
internal controls and risk management with a view to ensuring
that shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets are
safeguarded. Such system is designated to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. This responsibility is
primarily fulfilled on its behalf by the Audit Committee. In the
year under review, the Audit Committee, as delegated by the
Board, has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control
systems of the Group, covering all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

The foundation of a strong system of internal control is a
solid control environment. This is dependent on the following
components:

- Business ethics and culture of the organisation;
- Quality and competence of its personnel;

- Direction provided by the Board; and

- Effectiveness of the management
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Risk Management

The Group improves its business and operational activities
by identifying the areas of significant business risks via a
regular review and taking appropriate measures to control and
mitigate these risks. The management of the Group reviews all
significant control policies and procedures and highlights all
significant matters to the Board and Audit Committee.

The implementation of risk management of the Group was
assisted by the Group’s internal audit department so that the
Group could ensure new and emerging risks relevant to the
Group’s operation are promptly identified by management,
assess the adequacy of action plans to manage these risks
and monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the action plans.
These are on-going processes and our Audit Committee
reviews the Group’s risk management systems periodically.

Audit committee reported to the Board the implementation
of the Group’s risk management and internal control policy
which, among other things, included the determination of
risk factors, evaluation of risk level the Group could endure
and effectiveness of risk management measures. Based on
the reports from the Group’s internal control department and
the Audit Committee, the Board considers the Group’s risk
management and internal control system is adequate and
effective and the Group has complied with the provisions on
risk management and internal controls as set out in the CG
code.
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Procedures and Internal Controls for Handling
and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The
Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as
reasonably practicable unless the information falls within
any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before the
information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot
be maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached,
the Group would immediately disclose the information to the
public. The Group is committed to ensure that information
contained in announcements or circulars is not false or
misleading as to a material fact, or false or misleading through
the omission of a material fact in view of presenting information
in a clear and balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of
both positive and negative facts.

Communication with Shareholders and
Investor Relations

The Company recognises the importance of open
communication and fair disclosure. It is the Company’s policy
to ensure that all shareholders are equally informed of all major
corporate developments.

All shareholders have proper notice of any general meeting
of the Company at which the Directors and the committees’
members are available to give explanation on any query raised
by the shareholders. Major information of the Company could
be obtained from the Company’s website or financial reports
and circulars sent to the shareholders. Any enquiries by the
shareholders requiring the Board’s attention can also be sent
in writing to the Investor Relations Manager of the Company
whose contact details are set out in the paragraph headed
“Shareholders’ Rights — (c) Right to Put Enquiries to the Board”
below.
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Resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the
Company shall be decided on a poll, save that the chairman of
the meeting may in good faith allow a resolution which relates
purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted
by a show of hands. Procedures for conducting a poll will be
explained to the shareholders at each general meeting and
questions from shareholders regarding the voting procedures
will be answered. The poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively
in the manner prescribed under the Listing Rules.

As part of a regular program of investor relations, senior
executives may hold briefings or road shows after the results
announcement and attend conferences with institutional
investors and analysts to engage in two-way communications
on the Company’s performance, objectives and developments.
Company visits can be arranged by the Company upon
specific request.

Shareholders’ Rights
(a) Right to Convene Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company,
any one or more members holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 2
months after the deposit of such requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposit it to
the Board or the company secretary of the Company
at the Company’s head office and principal place of
business in Hong Kong at Suite 1104, 11th Floor,
Tower 6, The Gateway, 9 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong, and such request may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more of the requisitionist(s).
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(b)

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong and upon the confirmation
of the branch share registrar that the request is in order,
the company secretary of the Company will ask the
Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting by
serving sufficient notice in accordance with all relevant
statutory and regulatory requirements to all registered
members. On the contrary, if the request is verified as
not in order, the requisitionist(s) will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, an extraordinary general
meeting will not be convened as requested.

If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself/themselves may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to Put Forward Proposals at General
Meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose
new resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Law or the articles of association
of the Company. Shareholders who wish to propose
a resolution may request the Company to convene an
extraordinary general meeting following the procedures
set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regard the procedures for proposing a person for
election as a Director, please refer to the procedures
made available on the website of the Company at
www.centurysunshine.com.hk.
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(c) Right to Put Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing for the attention of
Investor Relations Manager of the Company whose
contact details are as follows:

Suite 1104, 11th Floor

Tower 6, The Gateway

9 Canton Road

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2802 2697

Email: ir@centurysunshine.com.hk

The Investor Relations Manager of the Company shall
forward the shareholders’ enquiries and concerns to the
Board and/or relevant committees of the Board to answer
the shareholders’ questions where appropriate.

Company Secretary

Mr. Luk Sai Wai, Simon is an employee of the Company and
has been appointed as the company secretary of the Company
with effect from 1 May 2010. The biographical details of Mr.
Luk are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management Profile”.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Luk has taken
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

Constitutional documents

There are no changes in the Company ’s constitutional
documents during the year.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report together
with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018, which are set out on pages 79 to
220.

Principal Activities and Geographical
Analysis of Operations

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities and other particulars of its principal subsidiaries
are shown under Note 24 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance by operating segments
is set out in Note 8 to the financial statements. During the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group mainly
operated in the PRC and the Group’s revenue are mainly
derived from the PRC and non-current assets of the Group are
mainly located in the PRC as at 31 December 2018 and 31
December 2017. No analysis of the Group’s result and assets
by geographical area is disclosed.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on pages 79 to 80.

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment
of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Business Review

A business review of the Group is set out on pages 23 to 24 of
the annual report.

Five Year Financial Summary
A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for

the last 5 financial years is set out on pages 6 to 7 of the annual
report.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 18 to the financial statements.

Investment Properties

Details of the movements in investment properties of the Group
are set out in Note 19 to the financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in Note 38 to the financial statements.

Equity Linked Agreements

(@) Share options granted to directors and
selected employees
For share options granted, exercised and lapsed during
the year ended 31 December 2018, details are set out
in Note 40 of the financial statements and the section
named “Share Option Schemes” contained in this
Directors’ Report.

(b) Exchangeable Bonds

During the year ended 31 December 2016, redeemable
fixed coupon exchangeable bonds in the principal
amount of HK$232,000,000 were issued by the
Company, which can be exchanged for ordinary shares
of an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. However, the option to exchange was lapsed
during the year ended 31 December 2017. Details are set
out in Note 35 of the financial statements.
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Listed Subordinated Notes

On 4 June 2015 and 3 August 2015, the Company issued
listed subordinated notes (under the Multicurrency Medium
Term Note Programme) with the face value of SGD75 million
and SGD50 million respectively, totalling SGD125 million. The
notes carry a fixed coupon rate of 7.2% and are listed on the
Singapore Stock Exchange maturing on 4 June 2018.

The 7.2% subordinated notes were fully redeemed in June
2017 before maturity.

On 5 June 2017, the Company issued listed subordinated
notes (under the Multicurrency Medium Term Note
Programme) with the face value of SGD101.75 million. The
note carries a coupon rate of 7.0% and are listed on the
Singapore Stock Exchange and will mature on 3 July 2020.

Details of the listed subordinated notes outstanding as at
31 December 2018 are set out in Note 34 of the financial
statement.

Reserves

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 83 and Note 39 to the financial
statements respectively.

Distributable Reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December
2018 amounted to HK$1,450,895 (2017: HK$1,406,414).

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company's Listed Securities

During the year 2017, the Company repurchased 16,860,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each of the Company at an
aggregate consideration of HK$4,081,655 before expenses at
prices ranging from HK$0.223 to HK$0.265 per share on the
Stock Exchange. The repurchased shares were cancelled on
31 July 2017.

Accordingly, the issued share capital of the Company was
reduced by the nominal value thereof. The premium payable on
repurchase was charged against the share premium account
of the Company. The repurchases were effected by the Board
pursuant to the mandate from shareholders, with a view to
benefit shareholders as a whole in enhancing the net assets
and earnings per share of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year and up to the date
of the annual report.
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Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of the annual
report are:

Executive Directors
Chi Wen Fu (Chairman)
Shum Sai Chit (CEO)
Chi Bi Fen

Non-Executive Director
Guo Mengyong

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Kwong Ping Man

Sheng Hong

Lau Chi Kit

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Ms. Chi Bi Fen, Mr. Sheng Hong and Lau Chi
Kit will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries or its parent
company was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.
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Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

During the year, none of the Directors or the management
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that
competed or might compete with the business of the Group.

Permitted Indemnity

Pursuant to Article 167 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities
which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto, and no
Director shall be liable for any loss, damages or misfortune
which may happen to or be incurred by the Company in the
execution of the duties of his office or in relation thereto.

A Directors liability insurance is currently in place, and was in
place during the year, to protect the Directors of the Company
against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims
brought against them.

Biographical Detalls of Directors and Senior
Management

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management
are set out on pages 32 to 34 of the annual report.

Share Option Schemes
(a) Share option scheme of the Company

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees
for the development of the Group’s businesses and to
provide additional incentives or rewards to selected
qualifying participants, the Company adopted a share
option scheme on 3 December 2008 (the “Scheme”).
The qualifying participants mainly include employees
of the Group, Directors and contractors, suppliers or
service providers of the Group who have contribution
to the Group. The Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years since
its establishing date. The Scheme was expired on 3
December 2018.
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(b)

As at 31 December 2018, options to subscribe for a
total of 14,956,204 Shares were outstanding under the
Scheme (the “Options”) (2017: 33,334,769 Shares).
Details of the movements in the options are set out in
note 40 to the financial statements.

Share option scheme of a subsidiary
REMT

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees
for the development of the Group of REMT’s businesses
and to provide additional incentives or rewards to
selected qualifying participants, REMT adopted a
share option scheme on 4 December 2017 (the “REMT
Scheme”). The qualifying participants mainly include
employees, directors, contractors, suppliers or service
providers who have contribution to the Group of REMT.
The REMT Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years since its
establishing date. The remaining life of the REMT Scheme
is approximately 9 years (expiry on 4 December 2027).

As at 31 December 2018, options to subscribe for a
total of 261,400,000 Shares were outstanding under
the REMT Scheme (the “REMT Options”). Details of the
movements in the options are set out in note 40 to the
financial statements.
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BEERTETHAERARATRAEMIAE Directors and Chief Executives' Interest

BOEABERR D  BERD MMES 2L in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company and Any
Associated Corporation

B

M20185E 12 A31H » ARRIBEEHX T E7TH  As at 31 December 2018, the relevant interests and short

AERAAT SRAEMEREEZE(FHERBESHKL  positions of the Directors or chief executive of the Company in

GO B5 MBS IS 1) EXVER) 21D« the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company

HEBROHELFTELHERARRRIREZ SR or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of

EIEPIEXVEREIS21EFE 2 &5 MR Z M Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)),

=REEWT as recorded in the register to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

(i) ZTRAFAZRORERERE (i) Long Positions in Shares and Share Options of
the Company

NG|

A20184

128318

BRTRA

BEERE ZEA

#E Percentage

FERAEE (fitzk2)  of issued share

Number of Shares held Number of capital of the

EEng EARER Fi R DRER Options  Company as at
Personal Spouse Corporate held 31 December

Name of Director interests interests interests (note 2) 2018

BXE(EE]) 248,530,548 1,341,871,364 1,590,401,912 34.72%
Chi Wen Fu (“Mr. Chi") (FIE1) (note 1) - -

ThHE R 14,666,305 - - 14,666,305 0.32%
Shum Sai Chit - -

HES 12,352,499 - - 12,352,499 0.27%
Chi Bi Fen - -

HEB 2,625,000 - - 2,625,000 0.06%
Guo Mengyong - _

WX - - - - -
Kwong Ping Man - _

Bt 1,775,000 - - 1,775,000 0.04%
Sheng Hong - -

Lau Chi Kit 6,389,145 0.14%
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(*Alpha Sino”) and are deemed corporate interests by virtue of
Mr. Chi’s holding of 83.74% of the issued share capital of Alpha
Sino which entitled him to exercise or control the exercise of
one-third or more of the voting power at general meeting of
Alpha Sino.

As pursuant to a share mortgage agreement dated 10 July
2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial shareholder of the
Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000 Shares (representing
approximately 12% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 30 June 2015) to International Finance Corporation
(“IFC”) as security for a loan agreement dated 30 May 2014
(as amended and restated on 7 December 2015) entered into
between IFC and Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co. Ltd.

2. Details of Options held are set out in the above section headed
“Share Options Schemes”.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their
respective associates had interests and short positions in the
Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of SFO.
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(iii) REQAT 2B EERY - HERGKRE (i) Interests in the shares, underlying shares and

HFeEm debenture of associated corporation of the
Company
BERR REMT

ERERER
20184
12H31H
BRTRA

o - HERENS AR
FERERRARARN Y BERYE BEEEE Percentage of

Number of ordinary shares interested (ftzx2)  issued share

or deemed to be interested Number of capital of

Bz KRR AERER REMT  REMT as at
Family Corporate Options held 31 December

Director interests interests (note 2) 2018

&

Long position

PALE - - - 30,000,000 0.46%
Shum Sai Chit

MBS - - — 20,000,000 0.30%
Chi Bi Fen

B - -
Kwong Ping Man

5,000,000 0.08%
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EmkER Shareholders in the Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company

BEERARNT EEITABATE - B2018%F  So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of
12A31H » RARAIRMSRESTET AERERE  the Company, as at 31 December 2018, persons who had
5% 10 % A R 5 5 M ISP 5 33616 R T AR interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares

GFRELRMETKEEMALTOT - of equity derivatives of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

1525 A 7R 20184F
12A31HE #TRAE
ZERL

Percentage

of issued share

BEERHBHE capital of the

e TPt BatE Number of Company as at
Name of shareholder Nature Shares held 31 December 2018

B E RE 1,590,401,912 34.72%
Chi Wen Fu Long position (K3E1) (note 1)
BE e 1,341,871,364 29.29%
Alpha Sino Long position (BI3E4) (note 4)
BE RE 351,844,434 7.68%
Yang Yuchuan Long position (M7E3) (note 3)
BE RE 309,914,999 6.77%
Zou Li Long position (B3E2) (note 2)
Best Equity Holdings Limited (“Best Equity”) &#& 309,914,999 6.77%
(TBest Equity]) Long position
ERemAr([ERemAE]) KB 793,526,275 17.32%
International Finance Corporation (“IFC”) Long position (Mi5E4) (note 4)
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BEeE -

1. MXEXRERARQAFS H£1,590,401,912 %
R B #EZ - & T (a) 248,530,548 % ik
MIPAEEDSES  IUEBEEL  K(b)
1,341,871,364 R I ERE AT ED 1T
AR 7A83.74% + BRI T HE N AR T ERR K
T EITERENITE=S 2 — A LR EEM
WAR AR RKER -

ERBEEAE014F7810B 2K HDEFAE
B EAXRRITERRERNTE  BA2 A
549,280,0008% i {7 (A& 7201556 A30H AR
A EITIRANL12%) IWIFA B S F A R ([ B
BRemanl)  EABBIREeRARMA LM
AL BEBREERARN2014F58300 %2
(R20156F12 A7TBEEE R EY) WE R
PG o

2. ZEBRMGIHENHEEEBest EquityE 1T A
52.83% & IILAE, T H 4 77 Al 7 Best Equityi& &
RE EITEREHITE=S 2 — A L2 IR
MR B D EHER -

3. HBEINFEERKRATE 351,844,434 R 0
BEREZ > B P (a) 41,929,435 A% 15 Jh i H AL
BEBLITEZME  WUEEEEL &)
309,914,999 % A% 17 J5 E 7 H £F B Best Equity
BEEATIRA47.17% » ¥R LA F H 42 77 7] 74 Best
Equity R A& EfTESRIERIITE=5 2 — A
EZREEMmMER AN RER o

4, BEEERARNE 793,526,275 %0 S
25 - B () 244,246,275 1D T E B
A WAEREZED  Kb) BRBARA2014F
7TR10BZBRMEMER - (EAARREERRE
RS E - #§ANA R]549,280,000 8% B 15 (B & 7
2015F 6 A0 AR R B BT A 4)12% ) #K ##
BKEERSRAR - (EARBEERERARMA LT
AL BHEBREERARN2014F58300 %2
(R2016F12 A7TBEEE REY) WE R
PG o

notes:

Mr. Chi Wen Fu has interest in an aggregate of 1,590,401,912
Shares of which (a) 248,530,548 Shares are beneficially owned
by him and registered in his name; and (b) 1,341,871,364
Shares are deemed corporate interests by virtue of his holding of
83.74% of the issued share capital of Alpha Sino which entitled
him to exercise or control the exercise of one-third or more of
the voting power at general meeting of Alpha Sino.

As pursuant to a share mortgage agreement dated 10 July
2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial shareholder of the
Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000 Shares (representing
approximately 12% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 30 June 2015) to International Finance Corporation
(“IFC”) as security for a loan agreement dated 30 May 2014
(as amended and restated on 7 December 2015) entered into
between IFC and Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co. Ltd.

These Shares are deemed corporate interests by virtue of her
holding of 52.83% of the issued share capital of Best Equity
which entitled her to exercise or control the exercise of one-third
or more of the voting power at general meeting of Best Equity.

Mr. Yang Yuchuan has interest in an aggregate of 351,844,434
Shares of which (a) 41,929,435 Shares are beneficially owned
by his spouse, Ms. Lao Min, and registered in her name; and (b)
309,914,999 Shares are deemed corporate interests by virtue of
his holding of 47.17% of the issued share capital of Best Equity
which entitled him to exercise or control the exercise of one-third
or more of the voting power at general meeting of Best Equity.

IFC has interest in an aggregate of 793,526,275 Shares of
which (a) 244,246,275 Shares are beneficially owned by it and
registered in its name; and (b) pursuant to a share mortgage
agreement dated 10 July 2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial
shareholder of the Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000
Shares (representing approximately 12% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 30 June 2015) to IFC as security for
a loan agreement dated 30 May 2014 (as amended and restated
on 7 December 2015) entered into between IFC and Baishan
City Tianan Magnesium Resources Co. Ltd.
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EERBFEH

REBEHA  EFHARFEEBRRABEEFS
BZMEAL(ERREEBMARZMBRAT]
EF EWARRAT Em R A BHE N EfEARE
BB BRI BRI T 2 BT EA T

Ny
S o

T

BHEAL

WP+ AR R B TS MR A A BRI A
A2 HAEAEAIBG LY 2 ERRITRAL -
FEHERRES

AERBARETEHERLREPEEZRBLE
ERILEWT ¢

i
— A ER 24.9%
—5RER A 42 4%
SHE
—mARF 3.0%
—5REF A& 8.9%

BF REZBEATHEARRBEEEMAA
BEEARRBRALRIA L) BER Lt = RHER
ABEFPPHE RS

HERXS

REEREFEWRBEMNBERS - RFH
WA 42T IR BRI

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

During the period under review, none of the Directors nor the
management shareholders of the Company or their respective
associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”)) had any interest in a business that competed
or might compete with the business of the Group.

Management Contracts

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

Major Suppliers and Customers
The percentage of purchases and sales for the year

attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are
as follows:

Purchases
— the largest supplier 24.9%
- 5 largest suppliers in aggregate 42.4%
Sales
— the largest customer 3.0%
— 5 largest customers in aggregate 8.9%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders
which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major
suppliers or customers noted above.

Connected Transaction
Other than those disclosed in Note 42 to the financial

statements, there was no connected transaction during the
year and in last year.
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NEFREZ TN Sufficiency of Public Float

BEAABTRAFGEME 2 ERRMEER  According to the information that is publicly available to the

H o RQARREE2018F12 A31HIEEEN— Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the

BHIZEZHARSRE - Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2018.

Z A Auditors

HEC018F12A31HILEEMERKLHHTBFE  The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2018 were
HENERFAER AR SEZ - ETHRENEETY  audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term
RERERE FER - NARERENEETZI  of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general
FREEAE MR —EARAEEEANETEAEEE  meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of HLB Hodgson
BB AR AR AR R ZAZHA - Impey Cheng Limited as the auditors of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

RERESFE On behalf of the Board
it Shum Sai Chit

HITEF Executive Director

7 - 2019%3A28H Hong Kong, 28 March 2019
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BttEEAEEEZERERATRR
(RASHFSEME AR A])
R

RAZHENE TP H N E79E 220 H IOt 42 F5 ¢
EEERERAR(TERAR ) REWB AR (4
BIEERDNSAVB®RE  BWERAPBRE
BIER2018F 12 A31 B MR G M SRR R BE
ZZAULFENGABEER  HAEMmE2EEKS
E CRAEBREHRNGABESRER UM
A BERRZME  BREEIESTHRREE -

BMRE  ZEFREVBRREBETESETAD
RE([EBGTMAS ) BERHOEBHBRE
EA([BEETBREERN D EEMF SR
T EEEMN2018F12 A31 HWNGEAMBERR
NEHBEZALEFENGEMFERARELGER
SRE WDEREBQKINEEREZLA
B -

BREER

HMBEBEEESAMASEMNE BT ER
(TEABERER D ETE - APAEZFENT
AENETDEARSE ARBE BRSSP
BWRAFENREROFEE—FEAL - RIFFE
SEMASMNEEGEER T (A TEME [
A1) BN BEEE - AEETTRIFH
HpFEXBREMT - BMAE - RAMESHNE
AHRRERETE MEE M AR MNET B RIRHE

it o

B g6 FE R R A
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

B 31/F., Gloucester Tower
FIR The Landmark
EITEH115R 11 Pedder Street

B ES Central
ERTITARESE Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CENTURY SUNSHINE
GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 79 to 220, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountant (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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FAs TR IR

FRESFESRBRFANERAE - RRYX
HNGEAMBERRNEARREENFTH - 5L
FERERMEAERGAMBRRNLEAER
RAETTRIEN - AT SHELEREREED
BR e

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

HREETER

Key audit matters

W E 5 RRRE

Impairment of trade receivables

A2 BER A B TSR T T4 R BT E29

EMEEPEEFRENSENGE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Refer to notes 4 and 29 to the consolidated financial statements

MN2018F12A31H » BEBEEEKRZEZFERERSE
371,071,000/ 7T % FE W B 5 BR FUR (B #E#515,148,000
B BEREREWRESERNEHBEHEEEER
R -

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had gross trade
receivables of HK$371,071,000 and provision for
impairment of trade receivables of HK$15,148,000.
Provision is made for lifetime expected credit losses on
trade receivables.

G IR [ 5 A R R e ST (2
R

Our procedures in relation to management’s
assessment on provision for impairment losses of trade
receivables included:

e EENREFEEBNTHNEEERESF BRHE
7 B2 B0 18 HA FE W 5 BR R % T A T M BR R TR
HEEERRENER

Understood and validated the credit control
procedures performed by management,
including its procedures on periodic review of
aged receivables and assessment on expected
credit losses allowance of receivables;
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BEETER

Key audit matters

W E S RFOSE (&)
Impairment of trade receivables (continued)

BEEEEMRHEFEEREERE - BRENEFERH
WENE PR E W FAEERE M EURRRE TR
WERER L ERG - AATRREEEER - £
HORKERTEREZEPMEE - IR B AN ARERAE
IR ED R EERBRSEETOE - UARFEER
Bl E - IR TERE B &R RN R U R A R E
FE - BHEEERXIRBAT=FHLEANELEFE
ERETE - WKABRNRBRREMATEEER - flang
B EXPENRESRFRENNEBLBERE -

Management applied judgement in assessing
the expected credit losses. Receivables relating
to customers with known financial difficulties or
significant doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision for impairment
allowance. Expected credit losses are also estimated
by grouping the remaining receivables based on
shared credit risk characteristics and collectively
assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking into account
the nature of the customer, its geographical location
and its ageing category, and applying expected credit
loss rates to the respective gross carrying amounts
of the receivables. The expected credit loss rates
are determined based on historical credit losses
experienced from the past 3 years and are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information such
as macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables.

BTN SHERENEWE HREREREEE - ARE
BEERUEZERAAMEEBERBER S REFAMH
B o

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
trade receivables and the estimation and judgement
involved in determining the expected credit losses
allowance of the trade receivables.

RAEEPEEBRRESSENSGE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

s FERMEMRBAEERR  UHMEHANHRKE
IR AR 2 FERENE

Tested on a sample basis, the accuracy of ageing
profile of trade receivables by checking to the
underlying sales invoices;

o BT ABRBTUIRAHEKRE ZERRNE
HRENENBR &

Tested on a sample basis, the subsequent
settlement of trade receivables against bank
receipts; and

s HSEREHRUERSEHEEERBEENT
i e RPENBE=ZFBEENEN - BEP
HBR R BN RR IR (BB E P &R
B EBEARBRER) AR BEAEILE
(P ERBTETARBRERER)HMISH
K BEUBRIEEEHOFM -

Obtained management’s assessment on the
expected credit losses allowance of receivables.
We corroborated and validated management’s
assessment based on the historical settlement
pattern from the past 3 years, correspondence
with the customers, evidence from external
sources including the relevant public search
results relating to the financial circumstances
of the relevant customers and market research
regarding the relevant forward-looking
information such as macroeconomic factors used
in management’s assessment.

ER P E1E - RMBEREEEREUERFAREEES
B R AT B PR Y (A AT R A BB AT S R RE IR XX

5 o

Based upon the above, we found that the estimation
and judgement made by management in respect of the
expected credit losses allowance and the collectability
of receivables were supportable by the available
evidence.
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Key audit matters

M - BERRERE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

A2 HE AP BHRM T4 N8

RAEESPEERRESSENSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Refer to notes 4 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements

R2018F12HA31H - ESEAYWE  BELER
% #493,767,246,000/8 T - T ERFEEEITREY
1,280,295,00078 7t * & + i &% 1 5 49869,236,000
BTN E R Es4)1,564,288,00058 7T » FfIEH R
IHEE - REZWE - BERZE 2 EBER - malE
BRESEMERSETH  BRESENEIILRENLERE
BREE - FIAIRE - RIRKAE - BESXECER
SNBEERETHS T RET  BE LR AU
SEIHETE-

As of 31 December 2018, the Group had
property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK3,767,246,000, which mainly comprised
construction in progress of approximately
HK$1,280,295,000, leasehold land and building
of approximately HK$869,236,000 and plant and
machinery of approximately HK$1,564,288,000.
We focused on this area because the balance of
property, plant and equipment was significant and
these assessment process is complex and highly
subjective which based on the selection of appropriate
comparables and assumptions such as discount rate,
future revenue. The Group engaged an external valuer
to perform the valuation for the recoverable amount
of the leasehold land and building and plant and
machinery.

RMEREREEHRENGEIZFEEE

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment included:

o FHMEBUMGEEMNER  ENREBIL

Evaluating the independent valuer’s competence,
capabilities and objectivity;

o MRERMUMBEITENERLERMGENG ¥
AFTEMIERBRBRRNEERE

Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumption based on
our knowledge of the relevant industry and using
our valuation experts;

e RBRERMEUEBRITEMNER  THRHERBRLIE
BARE: &

Challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions based on our knowledge of the
business and industry; and

o ABES B ANREANEABEY
MHERARE -

Checking, on a sampling basis, the accounting
and relevance of the input data used.

HPIBERRRSINRAREFF -

We found that the assumptions were supported by the
available evidence.
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BEETER

Key audit matters

FEREE

Carrying value of inventories

A2 M BmRM T4 128

RAEEPEEBRRESSENSGE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Refer to notes 4 and 28 to the consolidated financial statements

M2018F12H31H - EHESEBFE 689,456,000
B BIEEHBERERNEEENRERREBEER
MiEMatER FEEEIFIRNELFRKELLET
58 WERRIMES 7 RAFHFERE 2 HIETK
oo HETRFEELH - UHEAEEARPHB R TR
MEEENRESANERK AN E 2 HEFHRBE#H 25
EBKTF - EREHERIEEEEHARIEE BB RER
GFE&TE -

As of 31 December 2018, the Group had inventories
of approximately HK$689,456,000. which comprised
of fertiliser products, magnesium products and
metallurgical flux products which are usually with
longer life span. The consumption of inventories are
subject to changing consumers’ demands and market
trends which increased the level of judgement involved
in estimating inventory provisions. Judgement was
required to assess the appropriate level of provisioning
for items which may be ultimately obsoleted or sold
below cost as a result of a reduction in customers’
demand. Such judgements included management’s
expectations for future sales and inventory liquidation
plans.

BMABEEEREFERAENEFEHE

Our procedures in relation to management’s
determination of the carrying value of inventories
included:

s HIHAREERE  ANIBREEBRENRE
FFoERBR - EERGEEENGEEBE
FEEREETLE  RAMNERS B 1R
BLERTERENHEEL AN EEEBRA
HRR R

Assessing the process, methods and
assumptions used to determine the provision
for slow-moving, excess or obsolete items. This
included comparing management’s calculations
for consistency against those used in the prior
years and assessing the provision policy adopted
by management by reference to past usage or
sales history;

o MBS AREEFRESTMERNBEERE
MERER - BAEREMEREREIRN 5
BE  UNAEEFEREE

Testing the reliability of the underlying data
used by management to calculate the inventory
obsolescence provisions by sample checking of
an inventory ageing analysis and the subsequent
sales orders and usage;
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AREFTER BMNEETHTEEERENSENG E
Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
FEREE(HE)

Carrying value of inventories (continued)

s BRNGHEREARBERZFEEENIEES
B BB EARNERIEE - R

Testing the accuracy of the resultant calculation
by assessing the calculation criteria and
recalculating the provision for the inventories
based on those criteria; and

. BERTAEE  BFLBBOEAMS - R
FBRE B R E BT EEN TR
FEHE -

For those items which were identified as slow-
moving, excess or obsolete, we assessing
management’s calculation of net realisable value
by checking to the latest or subsequent selling
prices.

HPBRFEREESIREBRESS -

We found the carrying values of the inventories was
supported by the available evidence.
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ERBRAMBRERE EFRENE E5HE
FERZENERE N YEBABATREESEL

BEENEE ULEAKELLERSHER
BRIEEZAEN BEEEBRJFLEE 35
BEMERNERADR -

ERZEGRAAEEE BESENUBHREE
=

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in
the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon (“Other
Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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s HEEEMEASHBRNREERFELE
AR MBI EN SR -

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun
Practising Certificate Number: PO6901

Hong Kong, 28 March 2019

78 @B EEEBRARAT CENTURY SUNSHINE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED



. [ N

=IVAN
wiNE Eflﬁ_

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

HZE2018F12AG1HIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

2017
B =E T
Notes HK$’000
(&E75)
(Restated)
WA Revenue 7 3,443,219
BHE AR Cost of sales (2,591,833)
EAH Gross profit 851,386
EERE Y= Gain on bargain purchase 31,733
HE—REKB AR Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 1,895
H U i sk B 18 R 58 Other gains or losses, net 9 80,037
HERTSHEEER Selling and marketing costs (139,056)
THAX Administrative expenses (233,031)
b FRE Exchange differences, net (42,967)
RHIEEERENCDERR Net realised and unrealised gain on
RER U558 investments held for trading 85
M ER Finance costs 10 (150,678)
R FT1S 5 A s 7 Profit before income tax 399,404
FRST5 2 Income tax expense 11 (144,292)
BERSEER 2FERNRR Profit for the year
from continuing operations 12 255,112
ERIEEEET Discontinued operations:
ERIRE B 2 ERN=M  Profit for the year from
discontinued operations 16 6,510
F R A Profit for the year 261,622
THALEEFEREF : Profit for the year
attributable to:
ZA/NSIE/ 2SN Owners of the Company
—REBELEED — from continuing operation 256,845
—REERIEEET - from discontinued operation 3,471
FEIERME Non-controlling interests
—REFEREER - from continuing operation (1,733)
—REDKRIEEER - from discontinued operation 3,039
261,622
BREF Earnings per share:
REFERCKRILEEE]E  From continuing and
discontinued operations
—EARCGEN) — basic (HK cents) 5.671llicents
— g GBl) — diluted (HK cents) 5.671llcents
REFERSEELK From continuing operations
—EARGE) — basic (HK cents) 5.601licents
—EE B — diluted (HK cents) 5.601llicents
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

HZE2018F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

2017
FH&T
HK$’000
FREF Profit for the year 261,622
Hihzmikzs(BAxX) - Other comprehensive income/
HBRFTBH - (expenses), net of income tax:
HigngeEmoE= ltems that may be reclassified
Bm2HEE subsequently to profit or loss:
BHAHDERE Net gain arising on revaluation
EE W= FEE of available-for-sale
investment 9,285
HAREHEE Reclassification adjustments
"B EBMDERAE relating to disposal of
available-for-sale investments
during the period (487)
RHEEWBAREEER  Release of reserve upon disposal of
= subsidiaries -
BREBINERERES Exchange differences arising
2 PE N R from translation of foreign
operations 300,860
FEREMEE(FAX), Other comprehensive (expenses)/
Wz o (MBRFTEH) income for the year
(net of income tax) 309,658
FREZERREE Total comprehensive income
for the year 571,280
THALELEER Total comprehensive income
2SR - for the year attributable to:
PN ZEUN Owners of the Company
—REEBEEER — from continuing operation 541,282
—RE R IEEEER — from discontinued operation 7,186
IR Non-controlling interests
—RERFESEER — from continuing operation 17,110
—REERIEEER — from discontinued operation 5,702
571,280
MEMTM T B A AR & B SRR B — 21y o The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

H2018F 12 A31H
As at 31 December 2018

2017
B 5T THEIT
Notes HK$’000
FREBEE Non-current assets
o fP PR A Land use rights 17 311,177
WME - BE &R Property, plant and equipment 18 3,558,617
EE= Goodwill 21 197,368
mLEE Intangible assets 22 389,524
RIEE Mining rights 23 487,464
RHFH Long term deposits 60
REBERRIZRE Investments in joint ventures 25 6,490
R—FEBERRZKE Investment in an associate 26 18
AIEHERE Available-for-sale investments 27 3,000
EHEARITER Pledged bank deposits 31 26,084
4,979,802
REBEE Current assets
AHEERE Available-for-sale investments 27 11,620
BARER ABER Equity instruments at fair value
ZRATA through profit or loss 27 -
& Inventories 28 481,065
i A Land use rights 17 8,647
B Z IR IE & R R i Trade and bills receivables 29 497,385
BAZE - ZE R Prepayments, deposits and
H b fE U 5K TE other receivables 30 470,648
AR A TS FL Income tax recoverable 1,835
Y —EEERRINIE Amount due from a joint venture 25 844
IRITRIBE &% Bank and cash balances 31 930,911
2,402,955
SERFIEEENEE Asset classified as held for sale 20 119,521
2,522,476
W RBAE Less: Current liabilities
B S RN FIERENZR Trade and bills payables 32 633,838
FEET & B I H A e R Accruals and other payables 33 398,494
B UL FRIE Receipt in advance 33 240,591
EHaE Contract liabilities 33 -
FERETIS Income tax payable 35,556
BE Borrowings 34 626,425
ATERES Exchangeable bonds 35 -
1,934,904
RBEEFE Net current assets 587,572
EEHAERRBERE Total assets less current liabilities 5,567,374
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

H2018F12 A31H
As at 31 December 2018

wERBAE

Less: Non-current liabilities

2017
TAET

HK$’000

PRI A Deferred revenue 36 73,585
Ho e 5RIE Other payables 33 239,650
TEBRES Exchangeable bonds 35 227,985
BE Borrowings 34 1,192,760
EERIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 37 179,966
1,913,946
EEFE Net assets 3,653,428
RKATEEAEBEERAK Capital and reserves attributable to
K f#E owners of the Company
& A< Share capital 38 101,419
i Reserves 3,194,963
3,296,382
RS Non-controlling interests 357,046
A Total equity 3,653,428

BEEEN2019F3 A28 A it /fE MIXETIEH N E
T9OE220B Z AN B®E - WA THEEREK

®2E

The consolidated financial statements on pages 79 to 220
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 28 March 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

X E LSS
Chi Wen Fu Shum Sai Chit
2 EF
Director Director

BEP I T B A SR A BT IRR A —&F 1D -

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HZE2018F12AG1HIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

s
u BeEE mER fea
BE O ORBER () B WEw)  BE 8% BeER  ReRd ¢ penRd

Capital
redemption Capital Statutory Share Non-
Share Share reserve  Revaluation reserve reserve option  Translation Other Retained controlling
capital premium (note (i) reserve (note (i) (note (ii)) reserve reserve reserve eamings Sub-total interests Total
T T T Th7n Tin Thr Thn Tin TEn TEn T T Thn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000

Ro017E1A1R Asat 1 January 2017 101,756 1,357,100 4189 1407 13,666 188,786 4214 (278.934) (211,754) 1,592,271 2,712,701 341,765 3,064,466
i Prot for the yeer - - - - - - - - - 036 260316 1306 26162
FRERRERE Other comprehensive
(RHER) : expense for the year,
net of income tax:
FRERTRLERE Nt gain arsing on
Bt haE revaluation of avalble-
for-sale investments
durng the year - - - 17 - - - - - - 773 1512 9285
ERLETELEREZ  Reclssifcaton
EiAEaE adjustment relating to
disposal of available-
for-sale investments
during the year - - - (487 - - - - - - (487) - (487)
REBNERAEEL Exchange differences
EizE arising from translation
of foreign operations - - - - - - - 280,866 - - 280,866 19,994 300,860
ERZENREE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - 7,86 - - - 280,866 - 260316 548,468 22812 571280
BANEmRE Share options lapsed - - - - - - 1,307) - - 1,307 - - -
2RE Transferto resene - - - - - 21,267 - - - (21.267) - - -
RECEROATZRS  Equity setfled share-based
fransactions - - - - - - 309 - - - 309 - 309
WEHBAR Acquistion of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - 31,105 31,105
AR I—AHELA Incorporation of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - 2970 2970
HELTEEERR, Change n ownership
4] interest n subsidiaries - - - - - - - - 38,985 - 38,985 (41,606) (2.621)
HERR Share cancellation (337) (8,744) 337 - - - - - - (337) 4,081) - 4,081)
ROITE12A31B R As at 31 December 2017
018F1518 and 1 January 2018 101,419 1,353,356 452 8,693 13,666 210,053 3216 1,982 (232769) 1832290 3,296,382 357,046 3,653,428
RaEREEESEE Effect of adoption
F9%77E ofHKFRS 9 - - ) - - - - - W8 B0 (0 (%
101,419 1,353,356 452 - 13,666 210,053 3216 1,982 (232,769) 1834918 3290317 356,952 3,646,269
Efhl Proft for the year
EREHRARY Other comprehensive
(REER) expense for the year, (et
of income tax)
REERRETLEEHKE  Release upon disposal of
Bk discontinued operation
RERNERFEL,  Exchange diferences arsing
EizE fiom tianslaton of oreign
operations
HhaEhags Total comprehensive income
for the period
BRiERE Shere opfions lapsed
SRR Transferto resene
REEERARFZRS  Equity settled share-based
fransactions
LENERR Disposel of subsidiaries
120185127318 Asat 31 December 2018

20184 #t ANNUAL REPORT 2018

83



-~ e N/ gy
reEmEER

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HZE2018F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

BEEE -

() EBAEDFREEARFRERRTHROE B
REREBNERZ ARBRM 2 HE -

iy EBEXRRBEREEEEADWERERZWEB
NERDEE  BAESBREERMDMETZA
NRIRMDEE  MERZ =5 -

EERBEIERMBARREAFTEARKME
(TR B ) EEM MR AIAENN10% R AET
REEELDRENES -

(i)

RIBR BRI 2 B AR 2 BB E2MA K EE
ZHEDEARER - 2 EMBARARE10% 2
B PR S B a A G h BB DA e M I R A
BREVEREZERE B EeEHREE
B AR EARE0% © A ATE T E R AR 44
MEARBEFEZER BRAMBRRZEE
FRE L INHE R R 2 B e

RETHEERZ2AEEETIRAR N ELMIAR
ERRBROMNETRN  AREBZRELD
REERRRORBEDREES - ZFES
AHAREERSNE DR EE - TER
BERDIK °

notes:

(i)

(i)

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of
the Shares of the Company which was transferred from the
Company’s retained earnings upon repurchase and cancellation
of Shares by the Company.

Capital reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of the shares of the subsidiaries that have been acquired
and capitalised pursuant to a group reorganisation over the
nominal value of the Company’s Shares issued in exchange
therefore.

Statutory reserve mainly represents the fund set aside by the
subsidiaries based on 10% of their net profit of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) statutory financial statements and
that for the purpose of certain safety production activities.

In accordance with the articles of association of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC and the relevant PRC rules and
regulations, these subsidiaries are required to set aside 10% of
their profit after income tax as recorded in the PRC statutory
financial statements as statutory reserve, except where the
reserve fund balance has reached 50% of the subsidiaries’
registered capital. The reserve fund can only be used to make
good the subsidiaries’ previous years’ losses, to expand the
subsidiaries’ production operations or to increase the capital of
the subsidiaries.

Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State
Administration of Work Safety of the PRC and other relevant
regulatory bodies, the Group is required to set aside funds
mainly for mining of dolomite and serpentine at prescribed rates.
These funds can be used for maintenance and/or improvements
of safety of these activities, and is not available for distribution to
shareholders.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HZE2018F12AG1HIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

ey

RIS HATR R

REFELEXH

REBR HEERE

5L TSR B fEHAE -
REREH

FHER
HENX - BERRER
T RENRE R
BEEERENCERR
RER W

BEBA

LN
BELERNNH RS
SRITETARAEED
JE(EREE DA A

JA o FR Y B 5 KRR B R
B 0 ELft R YR R B R

TERBRELAERED

BRRGEEANENEL
BRATEZE#E
FaffkE
WA 55 ARE
AR
AR ERERE
HE-FENELRAKE
HETHLERERE
#ENE RS
ElEREARRR

Operating activities
Profit before income tax
From continuing operations
From a discontinued operations
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Finance costs
Net gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment and land use right
Realised and unrealised gain
on investments held for trading
Dividend income
Interest income
Equity settled share-based payments
Fair value change on financial derivatives
Share of profit of an associate
Reversal of impairment and written off
of trade receivables
Reversal of impairment and written off of
other receivables
Fair value change in derivative financial
guarantee
Loss on equity instruments at fair value
through profit or loss
Provision of inventories
Impairment of trade receivables
Impairment of other receivables
Impairment of an available-for-sale investment
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investment
Gain on bargain purchase
Share of profits of joint ventures

EEALRPNNEERERE

HERFRERENMENE

ER-—HAERARA
B,/ (%)
BERFEERE
FE(EM),/ WD
BHRMTAREURER D

BNFHR - e REMRKGUR

(88m),/ Ho
B S EMTIEREMZEEN

B HEAFARBRRER

ataEEN/ (i)

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital
Proceeds from disposal of investments
held for trading
Decrease/(Increase) in amount due from
a joint venture
Purchase of investments held for trading
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
Decrease in trade and bills receivables
(Increase)/decrease in prepayment,
deposits and other receivables
Increase in trade and bills payables
Increase/(decrease) in accruals, other payable and
receipt in advance and contract liabilities

REXBREENRS Cash generated from operations
BFAEH Income tax paid
BETHRELENBLEE Net cash generated from operating activities

2017
5T
HK$'000

399,404
6,622

162,277
151,486

(2,898)

(85)
(26)
(11,329)
309
(32,600)
(1)

(102)

3,400
9,374
1,003
3,840
(1,89)
(593)
(31,733)
(1,087)

655,266
10,915
(752)
(27)
16,989
216,109

123,339
98,368

(359,926)

760,281
(144,328)

615,953
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HE2018F12A31HILEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018

2017
iz BT
Notes HK$'000
REEE Investing activities

RITFHRD Decrease in deposits with banks 142177
BEBRIERRD, /() Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank deposits (239,174)
BENE  BELEE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (914,639)
REFEHRD Decrease in long term deposits 312

BHLE-BMBLANRS Net cash outflow in respect of the disposal of

iR a subsidiary 16 (486)
BFHE Interest received 10,128
BlRE Dividend received 26
HEME - WFEREEN Proceeds from disposal of property,

PR3 sE plant and equipment 10,847
HELFREMREHE Proceeds from disposal of land use right 491
KEHBARZBERA/ (Fit) Net cash inflow/(outflow) on acquisition

et of subsidiaries 202,166
BETHERERE Purchases of addition land use right (6,644)
HEMRIEEREMSGIE Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale

investments 68,692
REZBFANRLRE Net cash used in investing activities (726,104)
REEH Financing activities
MEEENMERE Proceeds from new borrowings 1,626,129
BERRE Repayment of borrowings (1,599,348)
BERFS Interest paid (131,061)
RMBAR ERREREZS Net cash outflows(inflow) in respect of changes in

Bemim/ (RN 58 ownership interest of subsidiaries (2,621)
ERBAEM Increase in deferred revenue 2,307
REMBARZFFERBRRNER Proceeds from loan from a non-controlling

MEEE shareholders of a subsidiaries 114,360
EBEREMBRF Repayment of loan from non-controlling

FERBROER shareholders of subsidiaries -
FERBB A MR R FER D Decrease in an amount due to

non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries (64)
—AWBRRAIBTTRRESES Transaction cost attributable to issue of

RPHAK convertible bond by a subsidiary (3,357)

REERHIIFA Payment for share repurchases (4,081)
METEH(FA)/ EENELFE Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities 2,264
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HZE2018F12AG1HIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

2017
TAL

HK$'000

BEeRERBEEEE R FHE Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (107,887)
FINRERERRLER Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning

of the year 709,310
NEERSBHYE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 54,326
ERNBERERREER Cash and cash equivalents at the end

of the year 655,749
ReRERRLER N Analysis of balances of cash and

EAMBRRKFT 2 CERRITER
REFTRRR L

ERRERRENERER D AN
RITHER

RYRERIMABA=EA 2 BER
RITHER

cash equivalents

Pledged bank deposits and bank and
cash balances as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position

Pledged deposits with banks pledged as security
for borrowings and bills payable

Non-pledged deposits with bank with
original maturity of more than three months
when acquired

956,995

(283,299)

(17,947)

HRAREMERMIZRER
ZRREEA

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
the consolidated statement of cash flows

655,749

BEPM BT ST B A SR A M S IR A —&F D -

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

HZE2018F12A31 B IEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

1. — R E R

ARG REZERAR AR (TARR]) &
HtBAm (i [ ARE D TERERE
ERED  BEEMER - RMEBHE
i’% o

KRR 2003F1 A1 HRIEFSHE R
ALESE22E (1961 F A3 « &4RE RIERT)
ERSHEEMATMNERCERAT » A
NAMIDR2004F2 A17THREBH AR
SHERAE ([BRAT])GEM(IGEM]) +
™ - WH20084F 7 A 31 H & E N GEMAY
AL o 820088 A1 HEE + AR EHY
BHOERBRMERLET - EE2RE - AR
A2 BRI AR AT EFBRERAR %
RElBRREBEZHSHEMK L AT -

FaVBHRRAUAET(ET ) REM -
HEARRBNREEEAR - RIFREHA
BRIABSBH AL TR (TET)HE -

General Information

Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in fertiliser
business, magnesium product business, metallurgical
flux business.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 21 January 2003 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. On 17 February 2004, the Company’s shares
were listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and were withdrawn from the GEM Board
on 31 July 2008. Since 1 August 2008, the Company’s
shares have been listing on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. In the opinion of the directors, the
ultimate holding company of the Company is Alpha Sino
International Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as
the functional currency of the Company. All values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$’000) except when
otherwise indicated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

HZE2018F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

2.

FERFTR] MERT BB B dE %
AI(T BB HRELER )

MAEE » REEEXEAATHES S
B A S MBI HR201841 1 H MBI ASE
BB BFE LRI RSB B BT

HERBI([FET REIBFT BB B REE
Bl ]) o 37R] REHER] BB I 15 RS ZE R AR
T

EBUSRERER ARG SRR

EPLACCHIES) RGMDERTE

ERVHHRELER RBRED

FA5(BF]A)

BBV HMELRN @I A

F o5

BEEUBWELERN RKEEPEH WA

$15%% NAREEE]

ERTHHELER BHEPHHRELER

[EFIEN 2014%F 220164 A
HR 7 F S 2RE

BB ERFEA HRIEEME

UACCHEN)

&5 (BARSBHRE INERX S RENNKE
#EZ8E)-%
FEEE 22858

B EEM B RE LN BB LR
EREMAREER REFT 2 BRIBR G E
B EBYTXAl 8@ BER EREHE
R/ BEEAHRES -

2.

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSsY

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the
first time, the following new and revised HKFRS (“new
and revised HKFRSs”) issued by the HKICPA, which
are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning
1 January 2018. A summary of the new and revised
HKFRSs are set out as below:

HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement
(Amendments) of Share-Based Payment
Transaction
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contract
(Amendments)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
amendments
HKFRS Annual Improvement to HKFRSs
(Amendments) 2014-2016 Cycle
HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property
(Amendments)

HK (IFRIC) — Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

The above new HKFRSs and HKAS have been applied in
accordance with the relevant transition provisions in the
respective standards and amendments which results in
changes in accounting policies, amounts reported and/or
disclosures as described below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

HE2018F12A31HILEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018

HEEBERR2EE Impact on the consolidated financial statements
TRINTAHEZBLIEE EROHAE - Eh1 The following tables show the adjustments recognised
BIENTERT KB BB ERESE for each individual line item. Line items that were not
AIFEMIEE - EIZEHEE 2/ Nat MR affected by the application of new and revised HKFRSs
WA ATIRENSRFTENTE - Z5FHE have not been included. As a result, the sub-totals and
R TR EAERER 4R Rl totals disclosed cannot be recalculated from the numbers

EAMBARE (F5%)

FRBEE

AHHERE

BRAMEEKA
BORBEHEZ
RATA

REBEE
AHREERE
BRAREG AR
ZRATE
E) 8
LERE R

RBRE
AR
AaMAaR

ZYNCE 2PN
BAREE

G

I

provided. The adjustments are explained in more detail
by standard below:

BBRTE g
R20174F SR £H R20184
12A31H Eotel 1818
At At

31 December 1 January
Consolidated statement of financial position (extract) 2017 HKFRS 9 HKFRS 15 2018

FHET FAET FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Non-current assets
Available-for-sale investments 3,000 (3,000) - -
Equity instruments at fair value

through other comprehensive

income - 3,000 - 3,000

Current assets
Available-for-sale investments 11,620 (11,620 - -
Equity instruments at fair value
through profit or loss - 11,620 - 11,620
Trade and bills receivables
497,385 (7,159 - 490,226

Current liabilities
Receipt in advance 240,591 - (240,591) -
Contract liabilities - - 240,591 240,591

Capital and reserves

attributable To owners of the

Company
Reserves 3,194,963 (6,065) - 3,188,898
Non-controlling interests 357,046 (1,094) - 355,952
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HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments and the related consequential
amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduce new
requirements for (1) the classification and measurement
of financial assets and financial liabilities, (2) expected
credit losses (“ECL”") for financial assets and contract
assets and (3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with
the transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied
the classification and measurement requirements
(including impairment under ECL model) retrospectively
to instruments that have not been derecognised as
at 1 January 2018 (date of initial application) and has
not applied the requirements to instruments that have
already been derecognised as at 1 January 2018. The
difference between carrying amounts as at 31 December
2017 and the carrying amounts as at 1 January 2018
are recognised in the opening retained profits and other
components of equity, without restating comparative
information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared
under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement.
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Below illustrates the classification and measurement
(including impairment) of financial assets and financial
liabilities and other items subject to ECL under HKFRS 9
and HKAS 39 at the date of initial application, 1 January
2018.

Under the transition methods chosen, the Group
recognises the cumulative effect of the initial application
of HKFRS 9 as an adjustment to the opening balance
of equity at 1 January 2018. Comparative information is
not restated. The following table gives a summary of the
opening balance adjustments recognised for each line
item in the consolidated statement of financial position
that has been affected by HKFRS 9.

BIRER

20174 SRR
12318  REAFEORMTE
Impact

on initial

2018%1A1H

As at application of As at

31 December 2017 HKFRS 9 1 January 2018
FiEx FiET FET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000

kRBEE Non-current assets
A EERE Available-for-sale investments 3,000 (3,000) -
BRAREFAEMZERE  Equity instrument at fair value through

ZBRARTA other comprehensive income - 3,000 3,000
REBEE Current assets
A HERE Available-for-sale investments 11,620 (11,620) -
BARERAER Equity instruments at fair value through

ZBRATA profit or loss - 11,620 11,620
B S RYGER Trade and bills receivables

e 497,385 (7,159) 490,226
ADREEAEN Capital and reserves attributable to

EXRfREE owners of the Company
& Reserves 3,194,963 (6,065) 3,188,898
i ER Non-controlling interest 357,046 (1,094) 355,952
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Classification and measurement

HKFRS 9 categories financial assets into three principal
classification categories: measured at amortised cost, at
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)
and at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"). These
supersede HKAS 39’s categories of held-to-maturity
investments, loans and receivables, available-for-sale
financial assets and financial assets measured at FVPL.
The classification of financial assets under HKFRS 9 is
based on the business model under which the financial
assets is managed and its contractual cash flow
characteristics.

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified
into one of the following measurement categories:

° Amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method;

° FVOCI — recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual cash
flows and sale. Changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition in profit or loss of expected credit
losses. When the investment is derecognized,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income is recycled from equity to profit or loss; or

° FVPL, if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortise cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised in
profit or loss.
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An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an election to designate the investment at
FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income remains in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed
of.

At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or
loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI
(non-recycling), are recognised in profit or loss as other
income.

Under HKFRS 9, derivatives embedded in contracts
where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the
standard are not separated from the host. Instead,
the hybrid instrument as a whole is assessed for
classification.

Except described above, there is no reclassification or
remeasurement of the financial assets, including cash
and cash equivalent, trade receivables, deposit and other
receivables for the adoption of HKFRS 9.

The measurement categories for all financial liabilities
remain the same. The carrying amounts for all financial
liabilities at 1 January 2018 have not been impacted by
the initial application of HKFRS 9.

Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables. Except for those which had been determined
as credit impaired under HKAS 39, the remaining
balances are grouped based on past due analysis. The
Group has therefore estimated the expected loss rates
for the trade receivables and contract assets on the same
basis.
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Except for those which had been determined as credit
impaired under HKAS 39, ECL for other financial
assets at amortised cost, including deposit and other
receivables and bank balances, are assessed on
12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) basis as there had been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

All loss allowances including trade receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost as at 31 December
2017 reconciled to the opening loss allowances as at 1
January 2018 are as follows:

B 5 e WA
YA ES

Trade and

bills receivable
TET
HK$’000

As at 31 December 2017 (HKAS 39)

(HHEEAERIFEI95) 9,974
BRI ENTEMNRIR Amounts re-measured through opening 6,065

- REB A - retained earnings

- e - Non controlling interest 1,094
720181 A1H As at 1 January 2018 (HKFRS 9)

(BEMBRELERFENR) 17,133

NRBURBIER B 55 3R 5 RIS 95 ¥ 20184
1TATEZ R EERNTZE(HRRZSE
BAMIR)

H2017F12A31H
BAREFARMEEmREE

The following table summarised the impact, net of tax of
transaction IFRS 9 on the opening balance of reserve as
at 1 January 2018 as follow:

RE R
Retained
earning

TET
HK$’000

As at 31 December 2017
Reclassification to FVTOCI (note i)

(B &Ei) 1,832,290
T B B 513 AN Increase in expected credit loss (“ECLs”) in

—E S rWRIE — Trade receivable 2,628
HR2018F1 A1 H(KEY) As at 1 January 2018 (restated) 1,834,918

#E— T BRI MR M 4 R E29A

%o

Further details are disclosed in note 4 and note 29 to the
financial statement.
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HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related Amendments

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers and the related Amendments
from 1 January 2018 which resulted in changes in
accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts
recognised in the financial statements. In accordance
with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 15, prior period
comparative figures have not been restated. There
was no any significant changes except the reclassify
the receipt in advance amount of HK$240,591,000 to
contract liabilities in the balance sheet at the date of initial
application (1 January 2018).

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
(Amendments) Negative Compensations'
HKFRS 10 and Sales or Contribution of Assets
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
(Amendments) Associate or Joint Venture®

HKFRS 16 Leases'

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

HKAS 19 Employee Benefits!
(Amendments)

HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
(Amendments) and Joint Ventures'

HKFRs Annual Improvement to HKFRSs
(Amendments) 2015-2017 Cycle!

HK (IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty Over Income Tax
Treatment'

HKFRS 3
(Amendments)

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of a Matenial*
(Amendments)

Definition of a business®

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020.

5 Effective for business combination and asset acquisitions
for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning
of the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
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Except for the new and revised HKFRSs as described
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of all other new and revised HKFRS will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statement in the foreseeable future.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases - Incentives and
HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires
lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two elective recognition
exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and
short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease,
a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments
(i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the
right to use the underlying asset during the lease term
(i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset
is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses unless the
right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class of property,
plant and equipment to which the revaluation model is
applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased
to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced
for the lease payments. Lessees will be required to
separately recognise the interest expense on the lease
liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-
use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure
the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events,
such as change in the lease term and change in future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate used to determine those payments. Lessees will
generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement
of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-
of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is
substantially unchanged from the accounting under
HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases
using the same classification principle as in HKAS 17
and distinguish between operating leases and finance
leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to
make more extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17.
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Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either
a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach.
The Group will adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 January 2019.
The Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions in
HKFRS 16 to recognise the cumulative effect of initial
adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained earnings at 1 January 2019 and will not restate
the comparatives. In addition, the Group plans to apply
the new requirements to contracts that were previously
identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and measure the
lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate at the date of initial application. The
right-of-use asset will be measured at the amount of the
lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised
in the statement of financial position immediately before
the date of initial application. The Group plans to use
the exemptions allowed by the standard on lease
contracts whose lease terms end within 12 months as
of the date of initial application. During 2018, the Group
has performed a detailed assessment on the impact of
adoption of HKFRS 16. As at 31 December 2018, the
Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments
of HK$10,800,000 as disclosed in Note 41. A preliminary
assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet
the definition of lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16,
the Group will recognise a right-of-use assets and a
corresponding liability in respect of these lease unless
they qualify for low value or short-term leases.
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Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CQO”).

Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain
financial instruments, which are measured at fair values,
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.
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In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.
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When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to
give it power, including:

° the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

o voting rights held by the Company, other vote
holders or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

o any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Company has, or does not have, the
current ability to direct the relevant activities at the
time that decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meeting.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Company loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Company
gains control until the date when the Company ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to being their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@) The contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
profit or loss to the extent of dividends received and
receivables. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries
are stated at cost less any impairment.
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Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decision about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the Group’s share of net assets under the
equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the
associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share
of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or
joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint
ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in
associates or joint ventures.
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If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest
is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues
to be accounted for under the equity method. In all
other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the
associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its
fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount
of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in
profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture
is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5.

Changes in the Group’s Ownership Interests in
Existing Subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.
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When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Where
certain assets of the subsidiary are measured at revalued
amounts or fair values and the related cumulative gain
or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity, the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the
Company had directly disposed of the related assets
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly
to retained earnings). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment
in an associate or a jointly controlled entity.

Business Combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

()  deferred tax assets or liabilities, and liabilities or
assets related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;
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(i) liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment transactions of the acquiree or
the replacement of an acquiree’s share-based
payment transactions with share-based payment
transactions of the Group are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at
the acquisition date; and

(i) assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5
Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation
may be initially measured either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on
a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value
or another measurement basis required by another
standard.
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When the consideration transferred by the Group in
a business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding
adjustments being made against goodwill or gain on
bargain purchase. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the measurement period about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date.
Measurement period does not exceed one year from the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or
a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates
in accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as
appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e.
the date when the Group obtains control), and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that
interest were disposed of.
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Changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity before the acquisition date are
reclassified to profit or loss when the Group obtains
control over the acquiree.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional
assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would
have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

Acquisition of Additional Interest in a Subsidiary
When the Group increases its interest in an entity that
is already controlled by the Group, goodwill arising on
such acquisition represents the difference between the
cost of additional interest acquired and the increase
in the Group’s share of the net carrying amount of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired. The difference between the cost of additional
interest acquired and the book value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities attributable to
the additional interest acquired is recognised as a reserve
movement (other reserve). The difference represents the
difference that arose since the original acquisition date
that is attributable to the Group’s increased interest in the
subsidiary. On the subsequent disposal of the subsidiary,
the reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the relevant business
at the date of acquisition. Such goodwill is carried at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses.
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For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash generating units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGU,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition. A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, and whenever there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year,
the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than
the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets of
the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss
for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount
of goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of
the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue
when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e.
when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.
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Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for an presented on a net basis.
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Revenue from the processing and sales of fertilizer,
magnesium products and metallurgical flux is recognised
when control of the products has transferred, being at
the point the products are delivered to the customer and
the customer has accepted the products, and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specified location,
the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred
to the customer, and either the customer has accepted
the products in accordance with the sales contract, the
acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have
been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the
price specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns
and value added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are
delivered and the customers accept the products, as this
is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional
because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1
January 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and represents
amounts receivable for goods sold in the normal course
of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and title has passed, when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer, provided that the Group
maintain neither managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership nor effective control
over the goods sold.

Interest income from a financial asset excluding financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Dividend income from investment including financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised
when the shareholders’ right to receive payment have
been established.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms.

Service fee income is recognised when the services have
been rendered.

Any other income not mentioned above is recognised
whenever it is received or receivable.

Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including leasehold land
and buildings held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other
than construction in progress), are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production
or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress
is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss.
Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.
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An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.

Investment Properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. On initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is charged
SO as to write off the cost of investment properties over
the lease term and after taking into account of their
estimated residual value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use or no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the
period in which the item is derecognised.
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Assets classified as held for sale

Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amount will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale
is considered highly probable. They are measured at the
lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell, except for assets such as deferred tax assets,
assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets
and investment property that are carried at fair value and
contractual rights under insurance contracts, which are
specifically exempt from this requirement. An impairment
loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-
down of the asset to fair value less costs to sell. A gain
is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value
less costs to sell of an asset, but not in excess of any
cumulative impairment loss previously recognised. A gain
or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale
of the asset is recognised at the date of derecognition.
HKFRS5(25) Assets are not depreciated or amortised
while they are classified as held for sale. HKFRS5(38)
assets classified as held for sale are presented separately
from the other assets in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Land Use Rights

Payment for obtaining land use rights is considered as
prepaid operating lease payment. Land use rights are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses, amortisation is charged
to profit or loss over the period of the rights or the term of
the respective enterprise to which the land use rights are
granted, whichever is the shorter, using the straight-line
method.

The land and building elements of a lease of land and
building are considered separately for the purpose of
lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, in which case, the entire lease is generally
treated as a finance lease and accounted for as property,
plant and equipment. To the extent the allocation of the
lease payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests
in land are accounted for as operating leases and
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownerships to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as Lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

The Group as Lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive
to enter into an operating lease are recognised as a
reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business
Combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where
they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their
fair values can be measured reliably. The cost of such
intangible assets is recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Alternatively, assets with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.
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Technical Know-how

Expenditure on acquired technical know-how is
capitalised and amortised using the straight-line method
over its estimated useful life of 5 years, from the date
when the technical know-how is available for use.

Trademark

Trademarks are shown at historical cost. Trademarks
acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date and amortised using the
straight-line method over its estimated useful life of 5 to
10 years.

Research and Development Expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development (or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

- the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

- the intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

- the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

- how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

- the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and
to use or sell the intangible asset; and

- the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during the
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.
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Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if
any), on the same basis as intangible assets acquired
separately.

Derecognition of Intangible Assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured at the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and are recognised in profit or loss in the period
when the asset is derecognised.

Mining Rights

Mining rights, including transferred exploration and
evaluation assets, are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. The mining
rights are amortised on the production quantities over
the total estimated mineral reserve. Mining rights are
written off to the profit or loss if the mining property is
abandoned.

Foreign Currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the functional currency (i.e. the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates) at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates
of the transactions.

At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value,
are included in profit or loss for the period.
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For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
(i.e. the translation reserve) (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of joint control over jointly controlled entity that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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Retirement Benefit Costs

Pension Schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution staff
retirement scheme registered under the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”)
for its employees (including certain directors), the assets
of which are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the eligible employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
ORSO Scheme. When an employee leaves the ORSO
Scheme prior to his/her interest in the Group’s employer
contributions vesting fully, the ongoing contributions
payable by the Group may be reduced by the relevant
amount of forfeited contributions.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Payments to defined contribution retirement plans are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprises of cash in
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Share-based Payment Transactions

Share Options Granted to Employees

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
services received is determined by reference to the fair
value of share options granted at the grant date and is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (employee
compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to
employee compensation reserve.

For share options that are vested immediately at the date
of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in employee compensation reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in employee compensation reserve will be
transferred to retained earnings.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.
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The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years, and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to
the extent that is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities. Current and deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to
items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-
out basis for electronic product and in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method for
the other inventories. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make sale.
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Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable from
1 January 2018)” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. The Group’s
business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash
flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

2018 ¥ ANNUAL REPORT 2018

123



A5 s Y ot

Notes to the Financial Statements

HZE2018F12A31 B IEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

TREENMBE-—RESEMNRSZ A (AKX
SEAGRESEENBH)BR - —REE
BRE—RmEREXENEERTHEA
RNEENTREERS °

RETE

CREEMNRBEFEIORNIAT O

HHERAGENEREE(EHTR)
T & AT RIRGM - RSB EHEKA
AAEEREE

s SREEINUKBEESRMEERBR
MEBEAARFH > §HEBRIMEHOR

g —X
'\%//zlibi °

o TREEARNKRNKFIARETE B HN
RenBErBFEEERERREER
AEHE -

el SRR ET B M S B A R R
KRR - TR - AR LR
EATSURE - Bl R B AR R R -

BERAAEFARMEARANSRBEE
(B E)

RIS HERE - ARE AR ERRERER
EEEETERSERE [T A - 2R
AT R ER AYIFRHEERR - BEK
BIRETAIHEM Y BAIEERAAEA
Hip 2mRARBRERE - DR ER T
HEEEF -

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows.

o The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by instrument basis.
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Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognized as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably, except when
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case,
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
investments, as appropriate. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus
transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition
of the financial assets, except in the case of financial
assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement,
such assets are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment.
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Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
other income and gains in profit or loss. The loss arising
from impairment is recognised in profit or loss in finance
costs for loans and in other expenses for receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-
derivative financial assets in unlisted equity investments
and debt securities. Equity investments classified as
available for sale are those which are neither classified as
held for trading nor designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those
which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of
time and which may be sold in response to needs for
liquidity or in response to changes in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value,
with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment is
derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss in other income, or until
the investment is determined to be impaired, when the
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-
for-sale investment revaluation reserve to profit or loss
in other gains or losses. Interest and dividends earned
whilst holding the available-for-sale financial investments
are reported as interest income and dividend income,
respectively and are recognised in profit or loss as
other income in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.
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When the fair value of unlisted equity investments
cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability
in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is
significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value,
such investments are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention
to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near
term are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances,
the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due
to inactive markets, the Group may elect to reclassify
these financial assets if management has the ability and
intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or
until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date
of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and
any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been
recognized in equity is amortised to profit or loss over
the remaining life of the investment using the effective
interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised
cost and the maturity amount is also amortised over the
remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate.
If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired,
then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to profit
or loss.
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Derecognition of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and
policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent
it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues
to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has
retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all
debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other
credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.
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The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and contract assets which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs
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Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears
or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them
for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not yet been
incurred). The present value of the estimated future
cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued
on the reduced carrying amount and using the rate of
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realized or has been
transferred to the Group. If, in a subsequent period,
the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases
or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the
allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to other expenses in profit or loss.
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Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked
to and must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted
equity instrument, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets
are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a group
of investments is impaired. If an available-for-sale asset is
impaired, an amount comprising the difference between
its cost (net of any principal payment and amortisation)
and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognized in profit or loss, is removed from
other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or
loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment
below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the
original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against
the period in which the fair value has been below its
original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised
in profit or loss — is removed from other comprehensive
income and recognised in profit or loss. Impairment
losses on equity instruments classified as available for
sale are not reversed through profit or loss.

Increases in their fair value after impairment are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.
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Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables,
other payables and accruals, borrowings, an amount due
to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary amounts
due to shareholders and convertible bond.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings after initial recognition, interest-
bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018
and HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018
and HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Provision

A provision is recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation, as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of the time value money is material, the
amount of a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. Then the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Provision for product warranties granted by the Group on
certain products are recognised based on sales volume
and past experience of the level of repairs and returns,
discounted to their present value as appropriate.
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BEALRS Related Parties Transactions
ETIERT BEALEBEAAERNEE A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
BRE
(1) B TAL BIZALTsZALZ (1) A person or a close member of that person’s family
HEEVBEAEEBREE : is related to the Group if that person:
(i) =l A A EE ()  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) HEKBEBEATE: (i)  has significant influence over the Group; or
(iy ARNEEIANEEGRAFHES (i) is a member of the key management
EEEKE - personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group.
2) 1ﬁfk/\—|—§|Hﬂ—Hlﬂ’—? A ERE AL (2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
EHME following conditions applies:
() ZEEAARABR-—SEZK ()  The entity and the Group are members of the
BRA(AEZE AR - WBAF same group (which means that each parent,
FRIZRKB AR EAREE) - subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to

the others).

iy —HEBAS ETEMBEANT (i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture
LEERA(HEZ—EBANKE of the other entity (or an associate or joint
NAIZEEBETKERR 2B venture of a member of a group of which the
REKNEERT) ° other entity is a member).

(il MEEEHAR-—F=ZFHEE (i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
NI third party.

vy, —HEBERBAFE=-ZFEEMNEER (iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
Al ME—ERBRZF=-FERE and the other entity is an associate of the third
ROHE = A E] o entity.

(v) EBARNSENMEAREEERE (v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
2 ERMIEE NSRBI for the benefit of employees of either the
FIFTE] o WASEEA S E &S Group or an entity related to the Group. If the
g REEPNEZNEREE Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
BEEE - employers are also related to the Group.

(vi) (1) FTak Bl A 15 sk 5 (vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by

}?E’E

o1 ot
[
i

a person identified in (1).
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(vii) A person identified in (1) (i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’ s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to,
and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.
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4.

Critical Accounting Judgments and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in Note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(a) Estimated Impairment of Investment
Properties, Mining Rights, Property, Plant
and Equipment and Intangible Assets
The Group evaluates whether investment
properties, mining rights, property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets have suffered
any impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
the assets may not be recoverable, in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 3. The
recoverable amounts of CGUs represent the
higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell
or its value-in-use. The calculations of fair value
less costs to sell or value-in-use require the use
of estimates. During the year, the Group did not
provide any impairment for investment properties,
mining rights and property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets (2017: HK$ Nil) and available-for-
sale investment (2017: HK$3,840,000).
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(b)

(c)

Estimated Useful Lives of Investment
Properties, Property, Plant and Equipment,
Intangible Assets and Mining Rights

The Group’s management determines the
estimated useful lives and related depreciation/
amortisation charges for its investment properties,
property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of investment
properties, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets of similar nature and functions
and the mineral reserve determined by independent
technical adviser. It could change significantly as
a result of technical innovations and competitor
actions in response to market conditions.
Management will increase the depreciation/
amortisation charge where useful lives are less
than previously estimated lives, or it will write-off
or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2017, the Group did not change the estimated
useful lives of investment properties, property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets and mining rights.

Income Tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are certain transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
may be uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination
is made.
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(d)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
and bills receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate
ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns
(i.e., by geography, product type, customer type
and rating, and coverage by letters of credit and
other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit
loss experience with forward-looking information.
For instance, if forecast economic conditions
(i.e., gross domestic products) are expected to
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an
increased number of defaults in the manufacturing
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At
each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 5 and
29 to the financial statements.
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(a)

(b)

BT A 5. Financial instruments
SR IAER (a) Categories of Financial Instruments

2017
TAT

HK$’000

SREE Financial assets

BER R EYRIE Loans and receivables
(BIERITR (including bank and
MR cash balances) 1,556,228
AHEHERE Available-for-sale investments 14,620
BARER ABEN Financial assets at fair value
EREE through profit or loss
= 1,570,848
tHRAaE Financial liabilities
SRR Amortised cost 3,248,141
3,248,141
BRERAREEBERBER (b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies
AEBENETEZESMIABEREEER The Group’s major financial instruments include
®E - AHEERE - BEHEWFIE investments held for trading, available-for-sale
REWEE «  EMEIGRIE - BIKE investments, trade and bills receivables, other
BRI FIE - D EARITFER - RIT receivables, amount due from a joint ventures,
LB BIERNRERENE pledged bank deposits, bank and cash balances,
B BEHERREMENTIE - E trade and bills payables, accruals and other
RAlRES - et TAFERER payables, borrowings and exchangeable bonds.
s HEzSem TABBENE Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in
MeEINERR - FEER - EME respective notes. The risks associated with these
BER - EERRERRESESER financial instruments include foreign exchange
LA #5051 a0 ] & AN 7% 55 [, B B B © risk, interest rate risk, other price risk, credit risk
AEENBEREREKRERTEZENT and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
AEANESRMmENSRKEREEH these risks are set out below. The Group’s
PREARSEE I HRIBMEZNELET overall risk management programme focus on the
F @Bz o unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to

minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.
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(i)

(ii)

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group does not have significant
exposures to foreign currency risk as most of
its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective subsidiaries.
The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities.
The Group will monitor its foreign currency
hedging significant foreign currency exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to pledged bank deposits,
bank and cash balances and borrowings (see
Notes 31 and 34 respectively for details).

Sensitivity Analysis

If interest rates on pledged bank deposits,
bank and cash balances and borrowings as at
31 December 2018 had been 10 basis points
(0.1% per annum) (2017: 10 basis points)
higher/lower than the actual effective interest
rate, the Group’s profit for the year would
have been approximately HK$1,097,000
(2017: HK$862,000) higher/lower as a result
of a increase/decrease in fair value of pledged
bank deposits, bank and cash balances and
pborrowings.

As management considers the Group’s
exposure to the above fair value interest rate
risk is not significant, no interest rate swaps
or other hedging activities are undertaken by
management during the year.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to bank balances
carried at prevailing market rate. However,
such exposure is minimal to the Group as the
bank balances are all short-term in nature.
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(iii)

(iv)

Other Price Risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its investments in listed equity
securities and listed debt investments.
The management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risks. The Group’s other price risk
is mainly concentrated on equity instruments
listed in the Australia and on listed debt
investments.

Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity
price risks at the reporting date.

If the prices of respective instruments has
been 10% (2017:10%) higher/lower, the
Group’s profit or loss would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$388,000
(2017: HK$NIl) as a result of the changes in
fair value of available-for-sale investment.

Credit Risk

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s
policy that all customers who wish to trade on
credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and
the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant. For transactions that are not
denominated in the functional currency of the
relevant operating unit, the Group does not
offer credit terms without the specific approval
of the Head of Credit Control.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as
at 31 December 2018.

The table below shows the credit quality and
the maximum exposure to credit risk based
on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly
based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost
or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 December 2018. For listed debt
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THEATREENREAEARERK
MBEREONEERR -

2018512 H31H As at 31 December 2018

investments, the Group also monitors them
by using external credit ratings. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets and the exposure to credit risk
for the financial guarantee contracts.

FAHEE R
Expected
loss rate

REAE
Gross carrying
amount Loss allowance

EREE

FERT FERT

HK$’000 HK$’000

BVER( R HR) Current (not past due) 0.54% 357,862 1,939
BETZR1F Not more than 1 year past due 100.00% 13,209 13,209
371,071 15,148

R2017F 12431 A )&= E B
LA SE T RERBITRMRE R
ARSHEECERSBREENE
f AEEEARZNESEER
% RNER A SRR R BR 2 7%
SEEMNREE -

AEBERR RERTHERL
ME=ZTETRS ° AEERIK
REMBBAEERERZNE
FEAZEERERERRF ° UL
AEESHEERBYER -

RAEEHEMEREE(BER
EhERRSEB)MELEZE
ERkmE  AEEERHSER
EXMARHNEERRER -
T BRE T EE RIFEER
Ao MARBEEMIERZETE
BORDEBK EEWMILE
REK -

Maximum exposure as at 31 December 2017
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure
to perform their obligations at the end of the
reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying
amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group trades only with recognised,
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s
policy that all customers who wish to trade on
credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

With respect to credit risk arising from the
other financial assets of the Group which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
default of the counterparties is limited as the
counterparties have good credit standing and
the Group does not expect to incur significant
loss for unallocated advances/deposits from
these entities.
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AEEYESEETNEER
B o NEBERT BB EBERER A
AERIFEERBNEFHERE
i o AEBMRITERMFRR
TRIME 2 F RIS TF RN EER
FERBRNEESBEE -
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L MEFERRAEEFRRN
RITREREBENTFATEFE
BEXEERR

BRASEMEYKEE SRR
REZEERRBZE-TELH
BN TS BRR M E29HKEE -

REEZEE
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BHAORFAHBANEREER
B #UGFESHENTEE
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TRETAEE R AFEERELS
e mas  whRRERN
FIHAER - RIBRBMERRES
B A BRI BR B R AETT DA
RAFMBENSESE QMR
BNRERE - ARITROTE
¥AEKR - HE121EA AR
IR SN L REE -

(v)

The Group has no significant concentrations
of credit risk. It has policies in place to ensure
that sales of goods are made to customers
with an appropriate credit history. The
Group’s deposits with bank and deposits
placed with financial institutions are placed
in high quality financial institutions without
significant exposure to credit risk.

The directors consider that there is no
significant credit risk in respect of the
Group’s deposits with banks and deposits
placed with financial institutions as the
financial institutions have no record of default
payment.

Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade receivables are disclosed in note 29 to
the financial statements.

Liquidity Risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and marketable
securities, the availability of funding through
an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. The Group aims to maintain
flexibility in funding by keeping adequate
facilities available.

The table below analyses the Group’s
financial liabilities that will be settled on a
net basis into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the end
of the reporting period to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash
flows. Balances due within 12 months upon
recognition equal their carrying balances, as
the impact of discounting is not significant.
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20184 2018

LSEAERENZE  Trade and bill payables
EAEBERAMENSE  Acoruals and other payables

AHERE Coniract liabifies

f&E Borrowings

B Exchangeable bonds

20174 2017

AR

T L , EqE

Weighted

average Total
effective Less than Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year [ cash flows amount
Thr BT Thn T

HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'00

EEMTERENZE  Trade and bill payables - 633,838 - 633,838 633,838
B EMREMENZE  Accruals and other payables - 307,483 239,650 567,133 567,133
ffE Borrowings 575 726,954 1,230,377 1,957,331 1,819,185
B Exchangeable bonds 18,04 99,657 188,023 287,680 207,985

1,787,932 1,668,050 3,445,982 3,248,141
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(c)

ARMEN B
AR AN AR E AE A
RAERSBABEE AR EHHE -

() RESEMELEZLAETEL

FEEEHBEER ZHBEEH L
SifE
AEEBOEREERERAE
REREPREAAEFE T
RFFMERSANAEELZFS
REENSRABENAAECL
HEMBMBERMNEBABER) -

SHEE 2018127318

Financial assets 31 December 2018

(c)

Fair Value Measurements
This note provides information about how the
Group determines fair values of various financial
assets and financial liabilities.

(i)  Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis
Some of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period.
The following table gives information about
how the fair values of these financial assets
and financial liabilities are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and
inputs used).

RATEANAAE

Fair value as at

() BARRRAAEHEL REBRIM) LR

BATA(M:27) 3,876,000
Equity instrument at fair value  Listed equity securities
through profit or loss (Note 27)  outside Hong Kong:
HK$3,876,000

@ ARnERA () REBRIM) LR

S
Available-for-sale Listed equity securities outside
investments (Note 27) Hong Kong: HKSNl

MEFERNALEEFIE  £2
BREIRLHNEE -

20175128318 ARERH fhERERTERANE
Fair value Valuation techniques

31 December 2017 hierarchy and key inputs

REBRMILTRARS . F1E ERNAAREAE
ShT

Listed equity securities Level 1 Quoted bid prices in
outside Hong Kong: an active market
HKNl

REBRMILTRARS . F1E ERNAAREAE
11,620,007

Listed equity securities outside  Level 1 Quoted bid prices in
Hong Kong: HK$ 11,620,000 an active market

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2
and 3 in both years.
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(i) WHRBLEMHBERZLAEG
ENFEEHEERTHERE
HARE
EERE  MNERAMEREMER
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HENRBEEE

6. BxREREIE

AEENESEIRRBERRENEERES
LEMEE N - BARBRERMEMBRRERD

o ARG RENENGBAREERK
$O

RTHFNABENGERE  AREAEEH
EXNTRROKEHE  MBRRDKNE
AIRE ~ BTHRSH EEEAREER -

AEENBRBELREREERN - iRz
REEERATERESEERINEERQET
H - BERERIINGEMHRRERA -

HE2018F12A31HILEE - AEBHXR
M AEEELERERFLES0%NNA - K20184F
N2017F12 A31EMABLRMT ¢

(iij)  Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on recurring basis
The directors consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised in the consolidated
financial statements approximately their fair
values.

Capital Risk Management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other shareholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividend paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings and
exchangeable bonds divided by total assets as shown in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s
strategy is to maintain a gearing ratio within 50%. The
gearing ratios at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as
follows:

2018 2017

FET FABT

HK$’000 HK$’000

BEBE Total borrowings 2,065,073 2,047,170
BEME Total assets 7,474,567 7,502,278
aE = Gearing ratio 27.6% 27.3%
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YA

AEETENERERHER  2BEER
KRR AR RS - REBERFAZWA
DT

FREEEXRK

Continuing operations:

Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in fertiliser business,
magnesium product business and metallurgical flux
business. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year
is as follows:

2017
TET
HK$’'000

(#E5)
(Restated)

HEEREENE®R Sales of fertiliser products 2 225,499

HESBHEER Sales of magnesium products 1,158,248

55 JoR # 1A B EE Sales of metallurgical flux products 59,472
3,443,219

WA R - Timing of revenue recognition:

— &5 ] 26 A point in time 3,443,219

S ERE Rt 8. Segment Information

SERARC R BRRFE AR QR TTHAR
H(EBEZERRE)BEZEMAEREE
R - REBRBE B HREERIESH
R R BRI AT

- REREHES

- SBEEMER

- REIEEI

HREFEREBME @ ERERRUEA/LE
DER2ZINBAEB 2 ERIEEER -
BRABKRILREEB 2 EZHE - F2HM
16 °

BERAKBZAREDHMERNTXER

Information reported to the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer, being the chief operating decision maker, for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance focuses on the operating divisions.
The Group’s operating and reportable segments under
HKFRS 8 are therefore as follows:

Fertiliser business

- Magnesium product business

Metallurgical flux business

For the electronic product business, the management
considered that it is an operating segment and is
presented as discontinued operation of the Group.

For more detail of the discontinued operations, please
refer to Note 16.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
is presented below.
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DEWBAREE
AEBEIRAIHREDF

—Fo

BZ WA KB D Hran

HZE2018F12A31HIEFE -

Segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Segment Revenue and Results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2018:

REMBEEHKA Revenue from external
customers

DEELE Segment results

HiFWA Other income, net

RRITHER Central administrative costs

HBER Finance costs

BRATEH AR Profit before income tax
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HE2017F12A31 B ILFE -

For the year ended 31 December 2017:

Continuing operations
BEERZEL cEREMEL REBHZES

Magnesium Metallurgical

Fertiliser product flux

business business business Total
T T THT THT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
(ZE5)

(RENEE)!

SEBA Segment revenue 2,225,499 1,173,649 74,130 3,473,278
AERUA Inter-segment revenue - (15,401) (14,658) (30,059)
RENBEPHKA Revenue from external

customers 2,225,499 1,158,248 59,472 3,443,219
NEEE Segment results 409,672 271,508 31,149 712,329
HipFhA Other income, net 113,750
RRITBER Central administrative costs (275,997)
H%RER Finance costs (150,678)
BETER AR F Profit before income tax 399,404

EX 252D FUA - TIRRINEE P PTEE
HEZWA - D EER SR A FEEL]L

AERED R SRR EA LB G R ERA
Rl o 7 #B %%?aﬁ’\jtﬂ DR RITERE A
(BREFHM BTHEMFEA  BEZ
BlUBEkE  HE—BHBARZ WK -
MBEREAGHASDBATEN B ZE
Mot RMEREERREREAFEAA
BEREFFEDBRRA 2T -

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. Inter-segment
transactions are entered into at arm’s length.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment
results represent the results from each segment without
allocation of central administrative costs including
directors’ emoluments, certain other net income,
including gain on bargain purchase, gain on disposal of
a subsidiary, finance costs and income tax expense. This
is the measure reported to the chief operating decision
maker for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance.
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THEERERS

R2018F12A31 A Z oA EENRBEME
EZHEFERARESB2EARAFE W
B

HHEE Segment assets
HH&E Segment ligbilties
ERR% Capital expenditure

R2017F12A31AZ HEEKBEA
HEZALFERARES B2 EARF X

Segment Assets and Liabilities
The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December
2018 and capital expenditure for the year then ended by
reportable segments are as follows:

The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December
2017 and capital expenditure for the year then ended by

NN reportable segments are as follows:
3 T Al
Magnesium
Fertiliser product  Metallurgical Total
business business  flux business Segment Unallocated
Ji AL TRT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
248E Segment assets 3,122,241 2,302,379 671,107 6,095,727 1,406,551 7,502,278
Bl Segment liabilities 1,625,914 507,777 164,833 2,298,524 1,550,326 3,848,850
EARX Capital expenditure 630,830 268,245 9,799 908,874 64,321 973,19

REREEDHBRBRLND BREAFLEER 2

BOBARBELENEE  BIEESE
BE  RITLRSESRMEMDEE
REE BEVE BELRREBNE
fil FEUBRIR DA I B 48 LR X R P %

BNEES - FEAESHEETH
EHT
— BITESBARE  THAES  OX

RgztEE  ETEMENFEARE
RIEREXBHBAENREN A

BEOORERREDEL

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments:

all assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than asset classified as held for sale, investments
held for trading, bank and cash balances and other
assets for corporate use which including property,
plant and equipment and other receivables and
assets held by discontinued operations;

all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than derivative financial liabilities, exchangeable bonds,
borrowings for corporate use, certain other payables
and liabilities held by discontinued operations.

152 #RBH*EEIERERLT CENTURY SUNSHINE

GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED



BTSRRI FE
Notes to the Financial Statements

HZE2018F12AG1HIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Hitb 7 &

Other Segment Information

HE2018F12A31BILFE - For the year ended 31 December 2018:

VER S
NEENFRE

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
and investment properties

THERE  REER

Amortisation of land use rights,

BYEESHE mining rights and
intangible assets
REZ P RNFERE Reversal of impairment of trade
receivables
BREMERTIERE Reversal of impairment of
(M£E30) other recelvables (notes 30)
LENE  BER Gain on disposal
RERTFERE of property, plant and equipment
gl and land use right

BRBRERNAENEL
BATEAZER

Loss on equity instruments at fair
value through profit or loss

FEHAX

Income tax expenses
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HZE2017FE12A31BILEE - For the year ended 31 December 2017:

BEEH <SEEER
% %
Magnesium
Fertiliser product  Metallurgical
business business  flux business  Unallocated Total

TAT TAT TAT TAT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(g=E5) (K5

(Restated)  (Restated)

nE - BERRE Depreciation of property,
MnEEMENE plant and equipment
and investment properties 77 37,096 9,800 9,734 133,801
TifEAE - REER Amortisation of land use rights,
BREEEH mining rights and
intangible assets 7,017 6,265 1,980 13,214 28,476
B S ENFUBRE Impairment of trade receivables 8,842 - - - 8,842
HiEWFIERE Impairment of other
(Pi5£30) receivables (note 30) 1,003 - - - 1,003
HEWS - BER Loss/(gain) on disposal
SERLERE of property, plant and equipment
WEE/ (a) and land use right 122 - (83) (244) (205)
BEEEREMN Net realised and unrealised
BEBRRAER gain on investments held
W for trading - - - (85) (85)
TR X Income tax expenses 84,813 55,253 4,164 62 144,292
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HE2018FE K20174F12A31HIEEE K
EEFERPEEERANEREB AR
BHE - mR2018F12 31 H K20175E12
AS81H ' "EBARIHIERBEEHMRN
RE - ENEAEERINEEDNEEN
BEDN °

FERFER

RNEE2018FE K2017F12A31HILEE
WAEHEME —FF 2 HEBBRNEEBIL
AZ10% AT EEHEERFNERZ

Geographical Information

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,
the Group mainly operated in the PRC and most of the
Group’s revenue are derived from the PRC and most of
non—current assets of the Group are located in the PRC
as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017. No
analysis of the Group’s result and assets by geographical
area is disclosed.

Information about Major Customers

No information about major customers is presented
as no single customer contributed over 10% of the
total revenue of the Group during the years ended 31

5l o

Hoh W s s B 185 58

FEKERE
M EHA
(SR ON
HER I ERE W

HEME - BERERER

T AR e
B B

CRITETARAEED
MBRRABRIAEZD

BARERABRSZBATA

AR ERB

=

S I

= &

#
A

® W

December 2018 and 2017.

9. Other Gains or Losses, Net

2017
TAT
HK$’'000

(F&=E5))
(Restated)

Continuing operations:

Interest income

Dividend income

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale
investments

Gain on disposal of property, plant
and equipment and land use right

Government subsidy

Change in fair value of financial
derivatives

Change in fair value of financial
guarantee liabilities

Change in fair value of equity
instruments at fair value through
profit or loss

Sale of scrap materials

Sundry income

11,255
26
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10. BIERH 10. Finance Costs

2017
TAT
HK$’000

(&£E=71))
(Restated)

BERSEEL Continuing operations:

FHREREIMERAZ Interest expenses on listed
subordinated notes
AR ES A EFRX Interest expenses on exchangeable
bonds
ARTFRNZBEEY Interest on borrowings wholly
BEHFE repayable within five years
ARTFEZBEEREL Interest on borrowings wholly
BENFE repayable after five years
EEK 1A% Total borrowing costs
W EREEREE Less: amount capitalised in the cost of
RAERE 2 &5 qualifying assets
150,678
BABELZIMBETHER L EAETEEY The weighted average capitalisation rate of fund
(20174 : BFE5.57%) © borrowed generally is Nil% per annum (2017: 5.57% per
annum).
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FriS i 2 1. Income Tax Expense
RERE BRI, (GFA) TSR 8 The amount of income tax expense charged/(credited) to
REIE the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

2017
THET
HK$’000

(&%)
(Restated)

BERE IR - Current tax:

—HENEH - Hong Kong Profits Tax
—REBEREH - PRC Enterprises Income Tax
—Hftb - Others
145,740
IEFERIE (PH7E37) Deferred taxation (Note 37) (1,448)
144,292
(a) BBRNEBH (a) Hong Kong Profits Tax
M2018543H21H - EAMLEE BB On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative
C2OM7TEMB (EET) (B75R) A E Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment)
Z)EOIEZR]) - sl AMEHRHR X (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the
AR o B EZER2018F 328 H two-tiered profits tax rate regime. The Bill was
KEBRAZER  WHRRBTIE IR signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazette
BREHMNERAT  aEBEEE on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits
BBHE2E &8 TR NG 1k8.25% & tax rate regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of
o MEB@2E &8 T a A BIZE i the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%
16.5%BEL ° TFF & T 15 B 4R and profits tax above HK$2 million will be taxed at
il B0 5= B E BE A0 A G AR A R B T 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying
#A16.5% HF ° for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will

continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

AEBEERAE - PSR KRS The directors of the Group considered the amount
BB SRR ESAUBRE involved upon implementation of the two-tiered
A RER o BHEFEBRE MR profits tax rate as insignificant to the consolidation
16.5%5T 5 - #Z£2018F 124318 L+ financial statement. Hong Kong Profits Tax is
FEWEEMABIAECOI7TF : T) R calculated at 16.5% for both years. No tax is
B 2 0 P B B A A JE AR g A o payable for the year ended 31 December 2018

(2017: Nil) since there were no assessable profit
generated in Hong Kong.
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(b) HEILHEMEH (b) The PRC Enterprise Income Tax
FEREMSEMSHIZEHZ2018F & The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at
201712 A31 B ILFE 2 (hETERTH 25% on the estimated assessable profits arising in
B2 25%EtHE - the PRC for the years ended 31 December 2018

and 2017.

(c) BHFBH (c) Overseas Income Tax
RABDIBRBERAERERRERFEE The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
HEIMER L AEREEBRAR - I Islands as an exempted company with limited
B ERCHNFESBEEMERH - & liability under the Companies Law of Cayman
UNGINAES =)o@ = 3= 1 Aviwd 0] =N Islands and, accordingly, is exempted from Cayman
DIRBRERZESEENERRE Islands income tax. The Company’s subsidiaries
FEM AL M 3A 5 A 5L 8 R A B established in the British Virgin Islands were
SFEE incorporated under the International Business

Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands and, are
exempted from British Virgin Islands income tax.
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7N 5% B #9 B PS5 A g A B2 A o B
EMRER R25% T B H) IR i B

ZRIT

REEEXB
BRBEAT A

Profit before tax from
continuing operation

RHEAMEHBE25%
(20174 : 25%)
AEORELL

REMAEEREER
EEPNT RN S
a7

BERTERAZ
oy g

AR IR
BT E

EREAMRERZ
BBER

RHERZ (T HA
BRORBYE

Tax charge at applicable
income tax rate of
25% (2017: 25%)

Effect of different tax
rates of subsidiaries
operating in other
jurisdictions

Tax effect of income not

taxable for tax purpose

Tax effect of expenses
not deductible for tax
purpose

Utilisation of previous
unrecognised tax
losses

Tax effect of estimated

tax losses not recognised

REEZFAEHRAX

Income tax expenses
from the Group

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
using a tax rate of 25%, the standard income tax
rate of the PRC enterprises, as follows:

2017
A7
HK$'000 %

(BE51)

(RESEE)!

=)
(RESEE)!

399,404
99,851 25
7,577 1.9
(18,179) 4.6)
28,873 7.2
(5,440) (1.4)
31,604 7.9
144,292 36.1
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MR2018F 12831 H » KEBKRER
T 78 5 18 41 649,242,000 % 7T (2017
F 765,548,000 7T ) 7] 45 & DA 3K
SHR R EER TR ) o #927,197,0007%8
Tt (20174 : 270,955,000 70 ) 2
HEGEERER S 2T FE~E
RAEZEE - 4622,045,00078 7T
(20174 : 494,593,000/8 7T ) 2 Fi 18
EERIER AL - ARNRBRAERY
ERBZERT GFAIERB) BT
HEBYHE  NZEHREBRBZEL
I I AR FER -

12, FRmF
EREFBENR, (Ee) T &R

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has
unrecognised tax losses of approximately
HK$649,242,000 (2017: HK$765,548,000), which
can be carried forward to offset future taxable
profit. Tax losses of approximately HK$27,197,000
(2017: HK$270,955,000) will expire after five years
from the year of assessment they relate to while
tax losses of approximately HK$622,045,000
(2017: HK$494,593,000) can be carried forward
indefinitely. The deferred tax benefit of such
tax losses has not been recognised as it is not
considered probable that future taxable profit will
be available to utilise the unused tax losses.

12, Profit for the Year

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

FEISEE Continuing operations:
TERY 2 Wages and salaries
BETEERER 2 ERE Share options granted to

employees
X AR M SR RGTEIFRE
retirement plans

Payment to defined contribution

2017
TAT
HK$’000

(=5)
(RENELET))

224,988
directors and
309

9,512

BETIRAN(BREESHH) Total staff costs (including
directors’ emoluments) 234,809
2GR Auditors’ remuneration
%V&%W‘E I Audit and audit related work
BEeHMESHBRA - HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited 3,467
3F%’1‘?Iﬂ5 Non-audit work
—BEeTMERIERAF - HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited 184
mEREH Depreciation and amortisation 156,721
HEWE - BERZER Net gain on disposal of property,
T (E AR WEF plant and equipment and land use right (205)
HIEEBERENCDERK Realised and unrealised gain on
REH W investments held for trading (85)
BRAFMXZFEXAE Cost of inventories recognised as
an expense 2,422,550
THREFEEROES Operating lease rentals in respect of
land and buildings 3,938
B S EWFIERE Impairment of trade receivables 8,842
H BRI E Impairment of other receivables 1,003
B E SR IEREEE Reversal of impairment loss of trade
receivables
BB R GIRRESE Reversal of impairment loss of

other receivables
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P& -

RER A SOAGIET - ARBEAETEE
B [[) — I BT & R IR 3R - &%
sHEIBRN EBMERG S - RIBEHWBUTH
BE  AEBEZEBHSH14% A %A
S LARFEHRFIZIN  AEEH
BRRBERXNBEEZSRRARRENZE
F - ZBEARBF R RKG 8B BRIK
BEMZHEESEME -

AEBEAEBBEE L RESTE -
BESTEBN ERMRGE - BB YE
FAABE - BERESTE  AEER
HEBRERBASHREBRIMERAES KM
REBWAZ5%IL AmZetEIHR - 5
201456 A1HE  AEBERESHNKZ L
R A A1,5008 7T °

HZE2018F12A31HLLFE - AEEME L
& T EI1E L A FRAREEAY6,260,000
#IT (20174 : 9,512,000 7T ) 12018
F12A318 » AEE W EEFEFEM
R U A SR P AR R A AN B B R PR A R
(20174 : L) -

note:

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the
Group contributes to a state-sponsored retirement
plan for its employees in the PRC, which is a defined
contribution plan. The Group contributes approximately
14% of the employees’ salary as specified by the local
government, and the Group has no future obligations
for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions. The state
sponsored retirement plan is responsible for the entire
pension obligations to retired employees.

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
to join the MPF Scheme, a defined contribution scheme
managed by an independent trustee. Under the MPF
Scheme, each of the Group and its Hong Kong employees
make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ earnings as defined under the Mandatory
Provident Fund legislation. Since 1 June 2014, both the
Group’s and the employees’ contributions are subject to a
cap of HK$1,500 per month.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
aggregate amount of the Group’s contributions to the
aforementioned pension schemes was approximately
HK$6,260,000 (2017: HK$9,512,000). As at 31 December
2018, the Group was not entitled to any forfeited
contributions to reduce the Group’s future contributions
(2017: HK$Nil).
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12 EE - -FETHRABREEHFMKE 13 Directors, Chief Executives and Employees’
&= E AL Emoluments and Individuals with Highest
Emoluments

(a) E=FHM (a) Directors’ Emoluments
HZ2018F12A31HILLFESRESZ The emoluments of each director for the year ended
FHEH AT 31 December 2018 is set below:

YTESE Executive directors

WX E(EE) Chi Wen Fu (Chairman)

S (77%2%)  Shum Sai Chit (CEO)

HES Chi Bi Fen

FHITES Non-executive director

PBEE Guo Mengyong

BUFHTES Independent non-
executive directors

B Kwong Ping Man

B Sheng Hong

=g Lau Chi Kit
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HE2017F12A31BILFERES

ZEESIT

The emoluments of each director for the year ended
31 December 2017 is set below:

R e

Employer’s

contribution

Share to pension

Fees Salaries options scheme
BT THL BT AL AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

YTEE Executive directors

MXE(LE) Chi Wen Fu (Chairman) - 1,380 - 18 1,398

R (7THEH) Shum Sai Chit (CEQ) - 096 - 18 1,014

UEEP:S Chi Bi Fen - 996 - 18 1,014

FHTES Non-executive director

BEE Guo Mengyong 35 - - - 35

BUFHTES Independent non-

executive directors

B Kwong Ping Man 105 - - - 105

B Sheng Hong 35 - - - 35

L Lau Chi Kit 240 - 45 - 285
415 3,372 45 54 3,886
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(b) EUEESHFMAL (b) Five Highest Paid Individuals
RER AEBRUSZEHEHALE The five individuals whose emoluments were the
FEIML (20174 - 1) RN RRIEE - A highest in the Group for the year included 3 (2017:
BEENeNIMEN EXHEE - F 1) director of the Company whose director’s
WER T T 22/ (20174 « 4R1) A emoluments are disclosed in the above analysis.
T2MenT The emoluments payable to the rest 2 (2017: 4)

individuals during the year are as follows:

2017
TAT

HK$’000

EAFH& - BIRE - Basic salaries, share options,

EMEMREMFE other allowances and

benefits in kind

REe Inducement fee
BAREBR—EBER Pension costs-defined

&l contribution plan
o0 (20174 : 400 B BN A 1Y The emoluments of the 2 (2017: 4) individuals with
e BRI T &R : the highest remuneration are within the following

bands:

£%1,000,0007% 7T Nil - HK$1,000,000

1,000,001/87c2 HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000
2,000,000 7T
2,000,001 8T HK$2,000,001 — HK$3,000,000
3,000,000 7T
3,000,001 8L 2 HK$3,000,001 — HK$4,000,000
4,000,000/ 7T
(c) HZE2018FK2017F12A31HILF (c) During the years ended 31 December 2018 and
B AKEUEAEAARRGIESR 2017, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
A2 EHMA TS E A any of the directors of the Company and the five
HE o RELE20184F %2017 12 A highest paid individuals as compensation for loss of
SIBEILFE  BEARTESRAM office. There was no director of the Company and
ERFMALRERESND REEBR the five highest paid individuals agreed to waive or
EABE - waived any emoluments during the years ended 31

December 2018 and 2017.
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)

KAREETEZEZE2018F K2017F
12 A31 B IEFE IR ERLE ©

BREF
(a) EZX

BRERBNEREBEARREE AR
EEREN - BRAFAD T EBK

AT BGE -
27

HEERERRNZ
ISYNSIE Sl S

14, Dividend

The directors of the Company do not recommend the

payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December

2018 and 2017.

15, Earnings Per Share

(a) Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit for the year attributable to owners of

the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Earnings
Profit attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent,

BB AEERN used in the basic earnings
per share calculation:
RARFBEC ST From continuing operations
(F#&7T) (HK$’000) 256,845
RE B I T From a discontinued operation
(F#&7T) (HK$'000) 3,471
260,316
2EITE @R INE Weighted average number of
FHE(FR) ordinary shares in issue
(thousand shares) 4,590,863
BIRERZF (FRAW) Basic earnings per share
(HK cents per share)
SFELEEBRBLLE Continuing operations and
E TS discontinued operation 5.67
HEIREET Continuing operation 5.60
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(b) #8
ERBERANEBRERMEHE T
BIEL B - LFARBRE ETE BN
TR E - AN RE ARSI
BEEER - BB -

PEREMS - ANRQRRIE N ATTE
EREMM  REREBEETT
B AEEA]EARE(ARA R
AZBmDEHEMEETE) BANKSG
HE - R EXFTMFTENRGEE
BRI TE R TR D BB
ELLE - ARNBIRETEERRNEE
20184 K 201712 A31 H IF FEH
B FHmE  MTEEREEAF
R R AR A TIE AN A B R BE A -

FRRA 18 AR 1T 158 BB AR i B I S8 AU
HE20184F K2017F12 A31H IFF
EEREAREERZFMER o

(b)

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company has two
categories of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
share options.

For the share options, a calculation is done to
determine the number of shares that could have
been acquired at fair value (determined as the
average market price of the Company’s shares
during the period) based on the monetary value
of the subscription rights attached to outstanding
share options. The number of shares calculated
as above is compared with the number of shares
that would have been issued assuming the exercise
of the share options. The computation of diluted
earnings per share does not assume the exercise of
the Company’s share options because the exercise
price of those share options was higher than the
average market price of shares for the years ended
31 December 2018 and 2017.

The basic and diluted earnings per share are the
same for the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2017 as the effect of share options outstanding
were anti-dilutive.
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BRI LR 16. Discontinued Operation

HEETEREK Disposal of electronic product business
MR2018F6AIE - BNEFEMEBEFEE At the end of June 2018, the board of the Company
TEG - ARAEESRFTHEZER - % decided to dispose the electronic product business due
HER2018F7 A31H T ° to its weak profitability. The disposal was completed on

31 July 2018.

PR ETR 7 FRGE ST o 455 The profit for the year from the discontinued operations
BXEP I HEHTOEY  UERTRETFE is set out below. The comparative figures in the
MmEFEREPR L E - consolidated statement of profit or loss have been

restated to represent as if the electronic product
business had been discontinued at the beginning of the
year.

HE20174
12H31H
=2

Year ended
31/12/2017
FHTT
HK$’000

IR, FRNEFERES (Loss)/profit of electronic product

ez (BE),RF business operation for the period/year
HEBETFEMERLE Gain on disposal of electronic product
s business operation

ERIEEER 2 FRRA Profit for the year from discontinued
operation
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B20185E1 A1 E20185F7 A1 A HKE

TEMEHZFEAER

™

BamR AR

The results of the electronic product business for the
period form 1 January 2018 to 31 July 2018, which have
been included in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss were as follows:

HE20175F
128318
IFFE

Year ended
31/12/2017
FHEIT
HK$’'000

WA Revenue 329,071
SHE AR Cost of sales (261,754)
E7 Gross profit

E b Wy 2 5k 5 18 F 5 Other gains or losses, net

HERDHEER Selling and distribution costs

THFAX Administrative expenses

EEAERANGN REE
FEMEEE S R RNE A R ER
MBER

Share of profits and losses of joint ventures
Share of profits and losses of associates
Finance costs

BRATS BRI (B1R), R A
Fr{S i e IR

(Loss)/profit before income tax
Income tax credit

8B/ 5 N0EB1RE), ar

(Loss)/profit for the period/year
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Hitv2mE(F%), Wi

BRBERARERF D BRERRZ
Hip2m (), MW

HZE20174
12A31H
LEFE

Year ended
31/12/2017
FHIT
HK$’000

Other comprehensive (expenses)/income

Other comprehensive (expenses)/income
to be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:

BREFINEB CEREZTE Exchange differences on transaction of
foreign operations
HRE2E(FAX)WHEE Total comprehensive (expenses)/income

THALRIEER

for the period
(Loss)/profit for the period attributable to:

12,888

3,471
3,039

(BB /WA :
RRBEB A Owners of the Company
FEVERR IR Non-controlling interest
THALTEEBHRZE Total comprehensive (expenses)/income
(FX), /W . for the period attributable to:
RRBEB A Owners of the Company
FEERR R Non-controlling interest
BRER Profit per share:
RECKRIEEEET From discontinued operation
EARREE GBI Basic and diluted (HK cents)

FERRNEENK
ME - BERRERE

EEFERA
gt REFHEEEE

4E ym £

=EREER

Recognition of prepaid lease payment 475

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Cost of inventories sold

Minimum lease payments under operating

lease in respect of land and buildings

5,380
182,678

3,606
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HZE2018F7A31HILHR EFTEMRED
AREEKEREMIFREEE13,751,000
T (20174 @ B 10,624,000 7T )
PR ESEE 2 A1,116,00058 7T (2017 4F -
E 423250008 70) AR EEBE B
4,413,000/ 7 (20174 : © 1,784,000
JL) e

RE : Consideration:

During the period ended 31 July 2018, the electronic
product business generated HK$13,751,000 (2017: used
HK$10,624,000) to the Group’s net operating cash flow
used HK$1,116,000 (2017: generated HK$2,325,000) in
respect of investing activities and used HK$4,413,000
(2017: used HK$1,784,000) in respect of financing
activities.

B IR & Cash received
EERSRE Deferred cash consideration
RERER Total consideration
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CHEZEEFE:

Net assets disposed of:

o fP PR A Land use right

Wz - WE R Property, plant and equipment
mEE Intangible assets

AT Long term deposits
REBRAIZIRE Investments in joint ventures

R—EBE QR ZRE
FREMEEBRAZALENE
ZRATA

TE

EUE SRR R EWE &

BN FRIE - e REMbERIR
R —REABRRIRK
RITRIRE R

Investment in an associate
Equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Inventories
Trade and bills receivables
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Amount due from a joint venture
Bank and cash balances

B S EMER Trade payables

FEETE R R E MR RRK Accruals and other payables
FERPTIS L Income tax payable

BE Borrowings

BIETRIABE Deferred tax liabilities

B Provision

JEf — B AR 2 BRFK Amount due to a shareholder
AR Non-controlling interests

BB A RS Release of reserves upon disposal subsidiaries
S B A R Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
wERE Total consideration
HEMEARSRAFE - Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
EYIRER(E Cash received

B B ERIT MRS AR

Less: Cash and bank balances disposed
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1/ T HhE A RE 17. Land Use Rights
REBER TS RAESR 2 ERIERNEEH The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid
SRt HEEFESMWT : operating lease payments and their net carrying values

are analysed as follows:

2017
TAT

HK$’000

EHE - BESEFE In the PRC, held on:

FREARAY Medium term leases
mEEE Current assets
FEMBEE Non-current assets

319,824

R2018F 12 A31H @ (kEE AL As at 31 December 2018, land use rights with a carrying
121,165,000 7T (20174 : 210,379,000/ amount of approximately HK$121,165,000 (2017:
T0) 2 T AR EERBITHEE 2 R (B HK$210,379,000) have been pledged to secure bank
F£34) ° borrowings (Note 34).
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8. W% BENMK

Property, Plant and Egquipment

HELHR BE BER BRR TEIR
BR(MEm)  DEgEs BE BOERE IARER e BE (WG
Leasehold
and and Furniture Construction
buildings ~Leasthold  Plantand and office Tooling Motor in-progress
(note i) improvements  machinery  equipment and moulds vehicles Ship (note i) Total
T T Tin Tin T T Tin Thn
HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000  HK$'000
A Cost
R017E1 AR Asat 1 January 2017 485,888 22,001 938,961 12,025 1402 10,083 3B 1074664 2545378
YERELT Acquiston of subsidiries 199,077 - 80 0212 R T SR 9T%
nE-AHELT Disposal of a subsidiary - . - 29) - (133) - - (159)
e Addtions 526 1342 12,693 6,903 1418 1,184 - B05T2 914638
& Transfers 276,790 - BT 76 - 141 - (19804 -
il Disposals (2,984) 1,201) (5,357) (3,647) (1,168) (5,092) - - (19,449)
L Bxchanges alignment 49978 2,603 97,626 27% 1975 74 u 85,079 24082
H017E12831AR As at 31 December 2017 and
N18%1718 1 January 2018 1,009,275 U4 1,824590 28339 3627 21,864 B 1208148 4180969
HE-FHBAT Disposal of a subsidiary (226,831) (1.871) (86,870) (4,905) (2,867) (2,34 - - (35678
#E Addftions 4637 76 8512 30,098 386 29 - 654007 699805
& Transfers 144574 - 398510 1498 - %7 - (p4ds19 -
ik Disposals - ] (3,218 (37 845) 3,183 - - (7,346)
[ Exchanges alignment (39,280 (1349 (145,244) (5,999) (311) (1.379) (7941 (291453
ZittE Accumulated deprecation
H017E1 18 Asat 1 January 2017 62,280 2505 356429 7,036 621 3584 354 - 451809
Ehng Charge for the year 2,783 29 93,001 5,362 1,086 3269 - - 130793
HE-BHBATRNE  Eiminated on disposal of
asubsidiary - - - (10) - 29 - - 39)
HERHE Eiminated on dlsposa (654 [1,201) (5,145) 2,780) (1,168 (30 - - 15
EREE Exchanges alignment 7623 2504 36,143 2259 1998 456 i - 51,040
H017E12A318 R Asat 31 December 2017 and
N18E1418 1 January 2018 97,082 B190 480428 1847 2497 6977 31 - B
EmE Charge for the year 13119 a7h 15408 8497 39 2883 - - A%
HE-BIBATENE  Eiminated on disposal of
asubsiiary (57,442) (1621 (164,176) (3,541) (1,712) (1,93 - - (280430)
ek Eiminated on disposa - B ] (LT AL - - (6,020)
[k Exchanges alignment (29,520 (8,356 (33,744) 2,283 (299) (43¢ - - (74,586)
H2018E12A31 A As at 31 December 2018
BHFE Net carrying values
2018512731 A As at 31 December 2018
R017E128318 As at 31 Decerber 2017 912,243 1555 1344162 16492 1,130 14,887 - 1208148 3558617
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BiaE - notes:
(i) AEBEMHAE L MIEFRIRE RO ()  The carrying amount of the Group’s leasehold land and
HEES AT : buildings at the end of the reporting period are analysed
as follows:

2017
TR

HK$’000

EEFREELD Medium term leases in Hong Kong 6,747

R B R EAFR 40 Medium term leases in the PRC 905,496

912,243
iy M2018F12A831H FEEAHYD (i)  As at 31 December 2018, leasehold land and buildings
598,519,000/ L (20174 : 424,713,000 and plant and machinery with a carrying amount of
B2 HETHRIET BERZEDE approximately HK$593,519,000 (2017: HK$424,713,000)
BIRITIEE 2 (HE34) - have been pledged to secure bank borrowings (Note 34).
(i) PR EZE2018F K2017F 12 A31 A IEF (i)~ During the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the
B AEBESRAREREBBRARE directors of the Group considered that no impairment loss
BIEEKRER - should be recognised in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss.
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_{

—HETHREF HEHA

—MERE 2EB4E
— B N#2s 3E40%F
— RPN ERE 22125
! 4104
— MR 54
—TAREA 2%
wEYE

RAFEZYME - BE KRB ERFHD

— Leasehold land and buildings
— Leasehold improvements

— Plant and machinery

— Furniture and office equipment
— Motor vehicles

— Ship

— Tooling and moulds

19. Investment Properties

The useful lives of property, plant and equipment
adopted for the current year are as follows:

Over the lease terms
2 to 5 years

3 to 40 years

2 to 12 years

4 to 10 years

5 years

2 years

FTERT
HK$’000

R Cost
201751 A1H As at 1 January 2017 146,008
BEESSHEARBELENEE Transfer to assets classified as held for sale (157,075)
b R Exchange alignment 11,067
R2017F12A31H - As at 31 December 2017, 1 January 2018 and

201841 A 18 &2018%F 12 A31H 31 December 2018 -
ZItINE Accumulated depreciation
201751 A1H As at 1 January 2017 32,007
FHITE Charge for the year 3,008
ERESHEABELENEE Transfer to assets classified as held for sale (37,554)
& 5 A Exchange alignment 2,539
2017 12H31H - As at 31 December 2017, 1 January 2018 and

201891 HA1H &2018%12HA31H 31 December 2018 -
REFE Net carrying values
7A2018%F12H31H As at 31 December 2018 -
2017412831 H As at 31 December 2017 -
REMFREAEEMXE B F_HLE The investment properties represent the buildings related

—HERENET -

L EYMEREBERANAERENE - &
EMENEF R EREHN F43248% -

to phase one, phase two and phase three of the Yunxiao

properties.

The above investment properties are depreciated on a
straight line basis over the lease term. The estimated

useful life of the investment properties range from 43 to

48 years.
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20. DRERBIELENEE

20. Asset Classified As Held For Sale

2018 2017
TERT TAT

HK$’000 HK$’000

DERFEHENEE

Asset classified as held for sale 113,328 119,521

R2017F12A28H - —E2 BB AR E
— 2B E=F([BEEA1]) R EE
T ([ E s ]) - WIRAEMIER L
FIEATE R AR 110,000,0007T B = 48
A% - AREREBEE ARE300,000TE
RRRESERBSHEZEARI N 2B
BRG] - N2018F9H18H » BEIE 51%5
WRGBETN  NWERBHMLEIE20184F
128318 °

EREBEE 10BN 201812 A
NEARE ZE2EMBAFN2018F12
ASVHES—EZBYE=H([BEEH2])
FES—OmmE ([ mEEsE2]) -
WIZRAENGEREFBEATERARKE
110,000,000 cEEHEEWZE - METEES
2HEFRE TS BHEOORA  MEEHE
AES TR EIRES A RE1,000,000
TC e RANREBE - BT A REIRE S
AR #1,000,0007T °

MN2018412 8318 @ Eln ABEH &
MEERMTEAS AR 102,500,000 7T
(113,328,000 % T ) (2017 F : AR ¥
102,500,000 7t ( 119,321,000 78 T ) ) -
UEDEABIELENEENAREBELY
152,670,000 7 7t ( A B # 134,570,000
7t ) (20174 : 170,952,000/ 7t ( A B #&
142,877,0007T) ) © {h 18 F 87 £ (3] 4 ) 5
BB A ERMEMET - RIEEEELS
VA B RAEME D HEERSELROFE
R R2018F 128318 - AEEHEIEH
EZIERBEERAMEDERE -

On 28 December 2017, a wholly owned subsidiary
signed a memorandum of understanding (“MOU 1”)
with an independent third party (“Potential Buyer 17)
and agreed to the terms and the details of sell and
purchase of the related properties with the amount not
less than RMB110,000,000 and a refundable deposit
of amount RMB300,000 had paid to the wholly owned
subsidiary within 3 month after the date of MOU 1. On
18 September 2018 a supplementary memorandum of
understanding was signed with Purchaser 1 to extend the
exclusivity period to 31 December 2018.

Due to the exclusivity period with the Potential Buyer
1 was expired on 31 December 2018, the wholly
owned subsidiary signed another memorandum of
understanding (“MOU 2”) with another independent third
party (“Potential Buyer 2”) on 31 December 2018 and
agreed to the terms and the details of sell and purchase
of the related properties with the amount not less than
RMB110,000,000 and the Potential Buyer 2 agreed to
pay a non-refundable deposit RMB1,000,000 to the
wholly owned subsidiary within 90 days of the MOU 2.
At the date of this report, the non-refundable deposit
RMB1,000,000 was received.

The carrying amount of the asset classified as held for
sale as at 31 December 2018 was RMB102,500,000
(HK$113,328,000) (2017: RMB102,500,000
(HK$119,321,000)) and the fair value of the asset classified
as held for sale is approximately HK$152,670,000
(RMB134,570,000) (2017: HK$170,952,000
(RMB142,877,000)). The valuation was performed by
independent qualified valuers not connected with the
Group. Based on the result of management’s assessment
by making reference to the valuation report issued by the
independent qualified valuers, there is no impairment on
the carrying value of the Group’s non-current asset held
for sale as at 31 December 2018.
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21.

Bk Goodwill
EASERcEABV([REELSE Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating
TJJ)Zﬁ@?ﬁLXTﬁf%"* I units (“CGU”) identified according to business segment
as follows:
2018 2017
FET FABT
HK$’000 HK$’000
©BHEEMEB() Magnesium product business (i) 197,144 197,144
Ho b Z 75 (i) Other business (i) 224 224
197,368 197,368

(ii

AEREUEBEMREEZRERA
(IWEERE D) (ATEEE (BB BRA
(MR 1)) (B 5% © 601) © f*ﬂ
RORREDZEERTISMMEAET
o

FOAMm BB ERARNELEEE -
&ﬁé?iﬁuZTW@ > B T AR IR AR K

NREEEHEZMIETEEAEEY AFH
ReneBAFEZAEREERE  ARE
FRRFIATRLE E0.86% (20174F : 9.86%)
METE - BEHBEMNE S REER HRE
BEBEAEANARNBIENERREM
FERBIRET - BETEFREENE
hEBRESRBSRAREOGHT(E
EEEHEEELEMNE) - mABE IR
BZEMBANRARKNARESHRTIS
EROTEHEL - AAREFME - £F
ZEBRHEBEH IS EYRAERL
B AT e S FE AR EE o

(ii

The goodwill was resulted from the acquisition of Rare
Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holding Limited
(“REMT”) (formerly known as Group Sense International
Limited (“GSIL”)) (stock code: 601). The fair value of REMT
is calculated by reference to bid price quoted in active
market.

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determmed
based on a value in use calculation which use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by the
directors of the Company covering a five-year period,
and a pre-tax discount rate of 9.86% (2017: 9.86%) per
annum. Cash flow projections during the budget period
are based on the same expected gross margins and
raw material price inflation the budget period. Other key
assumptions for the value in use calculation relate to the
estimation of cash inflow/outflow which include budgeted
sales and gross profit margin, such estimation is based
on the unit’s past performance and the expectation of the
directors of the Company for the market development.
The directors of the Company believes that any
reasonable change in any of these assumptions would
not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the
aggregate recoverable amount.
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00 BWEE 22. Intangible Assets

BiRE  EFER  RR¥AA -]

Technical Club Development
Know-how membership cost  Trademark Total
T B T B
i HK$'000 i 1 HK$'000
A Cost
201751 A1H Asat 1 January 2017 3,687 80 10,970 1,006 - 16,743
WEHELR Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - 338,424 - 338,424
RE Addition - - - - 51,912 51,912
EiHEE Exchange alignment - - - 1,632 1,930 3,562
RO17E12A31R R As at 31 December 2017 and
0181418 1 January 2018 3,687 80 10,970 341,062 53,842 409,641
HEREAR(MF6) Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 16) - - (10970) (1,008) . (11,976)
ExEE Exchange alignment - - - (17518) (2,790) (20,308)
R2018512A31R As at 31 December 2018
ZHEERAE Accumulated amortisation and
impairment
R2017E1R18 Asat 1 January 2017 3,687 - 10,970 369 - 15,026
FREH Amortisation for the year - - - 1416 3,258 4,674
% Exchange alignment - - - 29 121 47
R017F12A3318 % As at 31 December 2017 and
201851418 1 January 2018 3,687 - 10,970 2,081 3,379 20,117
FREH Amortisation for the year - - - 928 8,176 9,009
HE-FMBLANES)  Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 16) - - (10,970) (688) - (11,658)
A% Exchange alignment - - - (328) (533 (861)
REFE Net carrying values
Ro017E12831H As at 31 December 2017 - 80 - 338,981 50,463 389,624
FTEHBEERFHAT The following useful lives are used in the calculation of
amortisation:
FERA : 3E5F Development costs : 3 to 5 years
[ELE © BE10%F Trademark : 510 10 years
=F| © 9E16%F Patent : 91to 16 years
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05 ERUERE

25 Mining Rights

TR
HK$°000

5% Cost
R20174F1 A1H As at 1 January 2017 531,090
M 5 A Exchange alignment 40,254
F2017F12A318 & As at 31 December 2017 and

20181 H1H 1 January 2018 571,344
M 5, R E Exchange alignment (29,606)
"2018F12A31H As at 31 December 2018 -
E-g: Accumulated amortisation
201751 A1H As at 1 January 2017 64,349
FRFE Charge for the year 14,129
& 5 A Exchange alignment 5,402
F2017F12A318 & As at 31 December 2017 and

2018F1H1H 1 January 2018 83,880
FRITE Charge for the year 13,678
b 5 Exchange alignment (4,280)

M20185F12H31H

As at 31 December 2018

AR R E

A2018%F12H31H

Net carrying values

As at 31 December 2018

H2017%F12H31H

As at 31 December 2017

487,464

HERARPEIIHARSFNENOBELD
BEMEAIT 2B ERENRIRREE
MABEREES D REERBROREHNH -

The balance represents two mining rights, the Serpentine
mine located in Donghai County of Jiangsu Province,
the PRC and the dolomite mine located in Baishan City

of Jilin Province, the PRC, which are amortised by the
production quantity over the ore reserve.
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24, FEHRBRA]
(a) M2018FE12A31H » ANEEM T EZH
BARZFBOT :

SRALHLR
EAERER
Place of
incorporation
and kind of

TEER
e
Principal activities and

legal entity place of operation

iR AR A Ef BREMDA RERREDR

Century Sunshine Ecological Hong Kong, limited Investment holdings in Hong Kong
Technology Limited liability company
AR () EERK P8 AREELT RAERERR

The PRC, imited
liability company

Century Sunshine (Zhangzhou)
Ecological Technology Limited

Investment holdings in the PRC

TERRENRERERAT o8 AREEAT RYEZERHERH

Jengsu Azureblue Technology ~ The PRC, limited Manufacturing and sale of
development Company Limited ~ liablity company fertiisers in the PRC

TEHERIIARAA P8 ARAEA RAEEAGRANT - ARRHE

Jiangsu Longteng The PRG, imited Processing, exploration and sales of
Petrochemical Limited liabiity company serpenting in the PRC

BALRERAT RERARE RREMNT NEAREAR

Long Xiang Enterorises Limited ~ Britsh Virgin Islands, limited

liability company

Investment holdings in Hong Kong

WRARK IR ERAR o8 AREEA ROEREREELH
Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint ~ The PRC, limfted Manufacturing and sales of
Stock Company Limited liablity company fertiisers in the PRC
EERRRENERLT P8 AREEA RORREREELH
BEERHEMERDT The PRC imited Manufacturing and sale of
liabiity company fertiisers in the PRC
TEREEN TERAR P8 AREEL RAEREREELH
TERRER TARAT The PRC limied Manufacturing and sale of
liability company fertlisers in the PRC
PENREEARARAG(NE) REE AREAAD  RASEASRESR

Bermuda, limited
liablty company

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology
Group Holoings Limfted (note |

Investment holdings in Bermuda

HERIGERERDT P8 AREELT RYEFERHELREREER
Xinjiang Tengxiang Mangesium ~ The PRC, limited fiabilty ~ Manufacturing and sales of
Products Company Limited company magnesium-related
products in the PRC
BUTRZEBERARAT 48 AREEAT RYEFERAECRRREER
Baishan Ctty Tianan Magnesium  The PRC, limited Manufacturing and sale of
Resources Company Limited liablity company magnesiugl-related products
inthe PR

24 Principal Subsidiaries

(a)

Particulars of the Group’s principal subsidiaries as
at 31 December 2018 are as follow:

BERA
BREMRA 2
Particulars of
issued share/
paid up
registered capital

RAARANERRLARR
Proportion of ownership
interest held by the Company

B [
Directly Indirectly

2017 017

HENRSRILH
Proportion of
voting power held

017

100K E AR ERAR! 00EL
1,00 ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each

100%

R RA R RE30,0000005 7
Registered and paid up capital of
HK$30,000,000

3t R R IR A & %275,000,0007C
Registered and paid up capital of
RMB275,000,000

SRR AR 450,000,000
Registered and paid up capital of
RMBS0,000,000

0L aREREE T
100 ordinary shares of USS1 each

100%

100%

100%

100%

At Rt R 2R A %260,000,0007C
Registered and paid up capital of
RMB260,000,000

it R AR 530,000, 0007
Registered and paid up capital of
RMB30,000,000

BEAIRERMAARE500,0000007
Issued and fully paid RMB500,000,000

70.02% 70.02%

100% 100%

100% 100%

BRO.10ATZBEAREREA
6,574,890, 0381%

Issued and fully paid up capital of
6,574,390,058 of HK$0.10 each

RS RRAARE171,800,0007
Registered and paid up capital of
RMB171,800,000

1242% 72.42%

1242% 72.42%

SHRRARRE AR 280,332,000
Registered and paid up capital of

RNIB280,332,000

1242% 72.42%
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ERBINEERREFEXEBEK
FEIBRASEEEFEEARN
MARRETEMBAR - EERRF
IR B AR ENSEREBAR
=

BEE GFHEREZNIFZENBER
B

The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of
the Company which, in the opinion of the directors,
affected the results for the year materially or formed
a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries, in the opinion
of the directors, would result in particulars of
excessive length.

Detail of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests

FERERFT
ZERERR
MR R R ZRELL
3k Proportion of DEFFERERZ
Place of ownership interests R/ (EE)
incorporation and voting rights held Profit/(loss) allocated

ARER RitFERER

Name of
company

registration
and operation

s (EE)

BRE

REMT (note i) Bermuda

AT RBRAEAZERED 2 AEE
MIE AR B EMBEE - AT
BERBMENEEEARRBHEEN S

()  ATRERE (B ERAR ([H#EE
B HRRBREZIMRLZE
RAF - EEROREZMAERLES
(B n 55 - 601) °

by non-controlling
interests

27.58%

Accumulated non-
controlling interests
2017 2017
FATL FHTL
2017 HK$’'000 HK$’'000

to non-controlling
interests

15,747 309,791

Summarised financial information in respect of
each of the Group’s subsidiary that has material
non-controlling interests is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

notes:

(i) Formerly known as Group Sense (International)
Limited (“GSIL”) which is incorporated in Bermuda
with limited liability and its shares are listed in the
Main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
601).
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WER

REMT

2017
TAET

HK$’000

MEVEE Current assets 763,067
ERBEE Non-current assets 1,795,734
U JN=NE Current liabilities (300,843)
FRBEE Non-current liabilities (1,134,714)
KAREE ANELER Equity attributable to owners

of the Company 813,453

TR

Non-controlling interests 309,791

2017
TR
HK$'000

WA Revenue 1,158,260
53 Expenses (980,478)
FREF Profit for the year 184,067
/NG 2= DN Sy Profit attribute to owners of the Company 168,320
FErE AR i AR AR % Profit attribute to non-controlling interests 15,747

F R F) Profit for the year 184,067
ARRHEAANEGERE Total comprehensive income

W tagE attributable to owners of the Company 280,588
FERESEE2E Total comprehensive income

WA s attributable to non-controlling interests 20,530
FREEKR B Total comprehensive income for the year 301,118
B FEERERRE Dividend paid to non-controlling interests -
KBTS Net cash flows generated from

RemeFH operating activities 194,759
BEEBA Net cash flows used in

Rene 758 investing activities (220,300)
EXNCEIIE Net cash flows generated from

RenEFH financing activities 5,017
Remt#E Net cash outflow (20,524)
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REBRRIZIEE 25. Investments in Joint Ventures

2017
TAT

HK$’000

BHEEFE Share of net assets 5,910

JEW & & R EIFIR Amounts due from joint ventures
— JETREBD M (B L)) - non-current (note (i))
B A B RRIFRIE Amount due from a joint venture
— mEN M (MREG) — current (note (ii))
MisE - notes:
(i) FARBERRREZEWASERNFIRIE (i) The amounts due from joint ventures included in
BEEE . o BHANRSHKRLE investments in joint ventures are unsecured, interest-
T+ -EAREE  BWRGRETBERRAERA free and are not repayable within twelve months from the
FBBRAEIERE o end of the reporting period and are therefore shown in
the consolidated statement of financial position as non-
current.
(i) FER—EAELRIRIESHEIT(20174F ¢ (i) The amount due from a joint venture of HK$Nil (2017:
844,000 )it ARNEBREEE - AR HK$844,000) included in the Group’s current assets,
AR - B N EE B o are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed term of
repayment.
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KEBEREERRFBFOT Particulars of the Group's material joint ventures are as
follows:

UFREZBDHT
Percentage of
FREZER EREIK

EXwE EXH
Particulars  Place of FiEkRs RERE i 2yl TEEK
of registered  registration Ownership Voting Profit Principal
capital held  and business interest power sharing activities

ERNRRERBERAR AR® & 19.78 20 19.78 HERHERT
(P& Rei) 5,401,550t PRC BEEMW
Chongaing New Standard ~ RMB5,401,550 Manufacture and
Medical Equipment trading of electronic
Co., Ltd (note i & ii) medical appliances
AEF HBERAR AR® & 50 50 50 HBLHEESTEMR
(FsEiRii) 15,0000 PRC Onling trading of
Shenzhen Innovation RMB15,000 electronic products
Trading Co., Ltd.
(note i & ii)
B s notes:
)y KEBEFHSHEAEEMERAREZ - () Not audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited.
(ii) FAEE AR 2R ERAATIRESES - (i) The above investments in joint ventures are indirectly held

by the Company.

T RAEFBFEAEAZEBERTZE The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
BT ER) information of the Group’s joint ventures that are not
individually material:

2017
THET

HK$’000

FNENG Share of the joint ventures’ profit
AEBERREF for the year

FREMEE Share of the joint ventures’ total
NEEER BT comprehensive income for the year

HEBKIEKEEY Disposal of discontinued operations

KEBREERTIREZ Aggregate carrying amount of
IRMEEASE the Group’s investments in the

joint ventures
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26 M—EBEPHEZKE 26. Investment in an Associate

2017
TAT
HK$’'000

FEIEEEFE Share of net assets

—EBECEFBET Particulars of an associate are as follows:

FREMEREREAL
R MELRFR BMKIREE Y Percentage of
Particulars of Place of ownership interest

registered registration attributable to FTEEHR
capital held and business the Group Principal activities

BNREETREERAA ARHE30000000  HE 30 BEE%
(B3 ) (note) RMB3,000,000 PRC Dormant
BiaE - note:
REHFE A ELEAARE R RIEX - Not audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited.
R—REsE N TR E 2 8T - The movement of investment in an associate is as
follows:

TRIWRAREBTEEATENE S NG Z The following table illustrates the financial information of
B &R the Group’s associate that is not material:

2017
FHT

HK$’000

FNEGEE D RET Share of the associate’s
profit for the year
FREEHEQARZA Share of the associate’s
W B 58 total comprehensive income
for the year
HEDRIEEETE Disposal of discontinued operations
REBER—EBEREIRE L Aggregate carrying amount of the
IREEERE Group’s investment in an associate
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D7 A[HHEIRE FEiREZE 27. Available-for-sale Investments/Equity
BAREGEZBRATA Instruments at Fair Value through Profit or
Loss
(a) AHEERE (a) Available-for-sale investments
2017
T
HK$’000
EmigE Listed investments
—BNZ ETRAFES - Listed equity securities in Australia,
BAREMEE) at fair value (note i) 11,620
ELEMRE Unlisted investments
— BB Z R AFEH (M i) — Equity securities in Hong Kong (note ii) 3,000
14,620
BLERER B BT A Analysed for reporting purposes as:
MENEE Current assets 11,620
EREBEE Non-current assets 3,000
14,620
(b) BRAREBEFAEBZEZRATE (b) Equity instruments at fair value through

profit or loss

2018
FET
HK$’000
A Listed investments
—BNZ ETRAES - Listed equity securities in Australia,
BAREMEE) at fair value (note i) 3,876
B s - notes:
(i) AHEEREEREENRMN . ETHES ()  The amount represents the Group’s investment in listed
& - AEEFBFitch Chain Ltd (A1 securities in Australia. The Group held 14,744,000
TTG Fintech Limited)14,744,000/% i {7 ° shares of Fitch China Ltd (formerly known as TTG Fintech
Limited).
TTRABHREZ ARBINREERM Fair values of the investments in listed equity securities
B BANEBMETE ° are determined by reference to bid prices quoted in active
markets.
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(i)

EHm
SUpK ah

ZEREAREREEEMALZAAE
BREITHFLMRAERESZ ZRE -

2018F 12318 » I EMIRERE AL
EBEBAAEGREREZEZEFEANRIER
LIRS ETOMEREESETGE  WE
ERBARETEASHESE - M AKAK
BEREREYE -

HRULEERERBXRE  REZSET
(20174 :3,840,000/0) EER BIEL™T
BRATE  HIEEEASHET(FIRIMERS
EH1) (20174 : 7,300,000/ 7T) °

REZE2018F12A31BILFE - BENT
AR EMBRAFESE L E(ME16) ©

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

The amount represents Group’s investments in unlisted
equity securities issued by private entities incorporate in
Hong Kong.

As at 31 December 2018, the unlisted equity investments
were stated at cost less impairment because the range
of reasonable fair value estimates was so significant
and the probabilities of the various estimates cannot be
reassembly assessed that the directors are of the opinion
that their fair value cannot be measured reliably.

Impairment of HK$Nil (2017: 3,840,000) was recognised
for unlisted equity investments with a carrying amount
of HK$Nil (before deducting the impairment loss) (2017:
HK$7,300,000) due to the non-performance of these
investments.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, all unlisted
equity securities in Hong Kong was disposal (Note 16).

Inventories

2017
TAT

HK$’000

220,765
32,694
227,606

29. B ZREINGRIE K RN EE

FEWE 5 5R0A (ML)

Trade receivables (note (i)

29, Trade and Bills Receivables

2017
TAT
HK$’'000

RIE Impairment
FE U EE B (PR EE (i) Bills receivables (note(ii))

481,627
15,858
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B aE

() AEELTESIEFZEEH-—KTBA
180H (20174 : TiBi#B180H) °

BEARTARENE ZERPCRRERZ
MEE ARREENEF B - CAaME
RABENESEEFIELESZ ZRAEEE
BRBRENEFAR - REBELR
AEBEEERR BEANKSTHEHRITIR
HEREG RARFEEZLEEAE
8- BESDERERN 2 8UE - KEE
WL S BB B TR o

(i)  F2018F12H831H + FEUE#4917,809,000
7 IL(20174F : 15,858,00078 7T ) i#8 70 ¥R 2 HA
K+—1MER (201745 : +EA)NEIE - FT
BREREEEAAREE -

R2018F12A31H » NEBEWE 5708
(B EREE NRRSITIZEZRHE
TR

note:

The Group allows a credit period normally not more than
180 days (2017: not more than 180 days) to its trade
customers.

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
related to a wide range of customers for whom there
was no recent history of default. Trade receivables that
were past due but not impaired related to a number of
customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, the management believes that
no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balance are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

As at 31 December 2018, bills receivables of approximately
HK$17,809,000 (2017: HK$15,858,000) will be matured
within 11 months (2017: ten months) after the end of the
reporting period. All the bills receivables are denominated
in RMB.

As at 31 December 2018, the ageing analysis of the trade
receivables of the Group presented based on the invoice
date and net of loss allowance was as follows:

2018 2017

FET FABT

HK$’000 HK$’000

30H AR Within 30 days 168,921 207,147
31E60H 31 to 60 days 101,335 152,271
61290H 61 to 90 days 42,690 54,232
#E3E90H Over 90 days 42,977 67,877
355,923 481,527
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E RIS IRRRERFEES T

REEA]
KRB B Y5 IEER
FOR R E

At the beginning of year
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

2017
THET

HK$’000

REFEE)

At the beginning of year (restated)

EERFEBE Impairment losses recognised

B EREFE Impairment losses reversed
HERIEEETS Disposal of discountinued operations
HE 5, R R Exchange alignment

RER At the end of year

FHMEE2017F12A31BEFERKES
BR SR B B 18 B 33 E B AR B FE UL E 5 IR 3K
2 159,974,000 7T o & B 4% R B FE W E
SEFERFERSESFIAERE - FAAE
AU B ot R R SR 2 — BB D o

EEHHERIRE R B 5 UK IR RR IR DA -

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables for the year ended 31 December 2017 is
a provision for individually impaired trade receivables
of HK$9,974,000. The individually impaired trade
receivables relate to customers that were in default
or delinquency in payments and only a portion of the
receivables is expected to be recovered.

Aging analysis of trade receivable which are past due but
not impaired:

2017

FHET

HK$’000

BE AR @ E TN RV E Neither past due nor impaired 413,650
BE L0 H Past due less than 90 days 14,030
B HARA180H Past due over 180 days 53,847
481,527
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BZ2018F12A31A L FENE B
e XERIEIEIE T RE

N& RS B BR AR EREETRED -
UETETRHEERR - BEXIERRNAERE
MEEREA (AR EREL &
FRARFE - URERELEME ARG
RRBRAAREE)NZ @R D EEEH
BEIRBET - Zat ERRE AT NELS
R BERBEMAREAHASERBEES
B AT R IER AR RAEA R A IR
FEER - —RME - WE SRR S
B-FAWEBERAFATER  AEH

RABRERESTAKEE S EEFENE
EREBRERIT:

R20185F12H31H

As at 31 December 2018

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31
December 2018

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type,
customer type and rating and coverage by letters of
credit or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value
of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if
past due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a
provision matrix:

FEHEEE
Expected
loss rate

REAE
Gross carrying
amount Loss allowance

EERE

TR TR

HK$’000 HK$’000

BIER (SR HA) Current (not past due) 0.54% 357,862 1,939
BHEI TN Z 1T Not more than 1 year past due 100.00% 13,209 13,209
371,071 15,148
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30, ANFUR - BE KEA R WFIR

Ho b e s R (B RE(T))
4!

30. Prepayments, Deposits and Other

Receivables

Other receivables (note (i)
Impairment

2017
TAT

HK$’000

89,782
(23,075)

FEN IR K 2 & (B RE (i)

Prepayments and deposits (note (i)

BiRE -

(i)

M2018F 128310  HthEW KB EE
B35 7 B ) A 038 (B A7 4921,982,0007%8
7L (20174 : 42,978,000 7T ) & 2K B B
NEZHZRERFEHTHEIT(20174F ¢
1,819,000 7T) + M & EFEBH KL
J& 45 4 4956,000,00078 7T (20174« T3
JT) °

M2018F12A31H * BN HERIZETE
B E 2 B 3 E #280,951,000% 7T
(20174F : 326,964,000/ 7T ) a5 X
#497/44,312,0007% 75 (2017 4F : 3,410,000
HBIL) °

notes:

(ii

As at 31 December 2018, other receivables mainly
comprise of value-added tax recoverable in the PRC of
approximately HK$21,982,000 (2017: HK$42,978,000),
and interest receivables from independent third parties
of approximately HK$Nil (2017: HK$1,819,000) and the
outstanding balance of disposal of electronic business
sector of approximately HK$56,000,000 (2017: HK$Nil).

As at 31 December 2018, prepayment and deposits
mainly comprise of prepayment of inventory of
approximately HK$280,951,000 (2017: HK$326,964,000)
and prepaid expenses of approximately HK$4,312,000
(2017: HK$3,410,000).
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LA M WG IR R E R E F e T The movements in the provision for impairment of other
receivables are as follows:

2017
TR

HK$’000

REF] At the beginning of year
RN BE B ik E ER| B9 Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9

e
REF(EET) At the beginning of year (restated)
ERERBEBE Impairment losses recognised
B EREEE Impairment losses reversed
HEDRIEEET Disposal of discontinued operations
b 5, R R Exchange alignment

2. BEMBITEFRIETRES&S 31 Pledged Bank Deposits and Bank and
Cash Balances

R2018F12A31H @ RIEAHB®E=EAE As at 31 December 2018, the fixed interest rate
DR — 5 2 R1T717 555,647,000/ 7£ (2017 on deposits with banks of HK$55,647,000, (2017:
F :175,407,0008 L) 2 B EFH X A HK$175,407,000), with maturity over three months but
1.24%E £ 4.30% 2 (20174 : 1.502 & less than one year, was ranging from 1.24% to 4.30%
2.52[F) c IRITFFUABTL - ELRARE (2017: 1.50% to 2.52%) per annum. The deposits with
FHE © banks were denominated in HK$, USD and RMB.

R20185F12 4318 + #R1T175K49149,156,000 As at 31 December 2018, deposits with banks
7T (20174 283,299,000/ 7T) EEATE of approximately HK$149,156,000 (2017:
R (WE32) RMEE 2 IR (FI:E34) ° HK$283,299,000) have been pledged to bills payables

(Note 32) and secure borrowings (Note 34).
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REBEHR  RIOTLRESEHRBEIATA

juni]

At the end of the reporting period, bank and cash
balances comprise of the followings:

2017
THTT

HK$’000

RIERBEEMNE KT Pledged bank deposits under

RITER non-current assets:
RERITIER Long-term bank deposits 26,084
RRBEEMRITR Bank and cash balances under

He e current assets:
RERITER Short-term bank deposits 287,197
RITRERFHERAS Cash at bank and on hand 643,714

930,911

Bt Total 956,995

B B AR SRR RN RIRER
ZBERRITHER

BYERRIABES
=B Az EBERBITER

Less: Pledged deposits with bank
pledged as security for
borrowings and bills payables

Non-pledged deposits with
bank with original maturity of
more than three months when
acquired

(283,299)

e kERRELIHAR

Cash and cash equivalents

_ 655,749

RB|EHR - EHRITFRZ BRIERN X
1.98E (20175 : 1.33) : ZZEHFHRZ
FHEHBEMY IR =EA (20174 : =&
A) e

BRI R BB RR S BRI T E
WA

RMB
BT HK$
Hith Others

At the end of the reporting period, the weighted effective
interest rate on short-term bank deposits was 1.98%
(2017: 1.33%); these deposits have an average maturity
of less than three months (2017: three months).

Pledged bank deposits and bank and cash balances
were denominated in the following currencies:

2017
TAT
HK$’'000

862,703
44,939
49,353

BAARBEZRIT RS HERE RS
AR PBERTEEAIMNEE SIFTRR o

The remittance of bank and cash balances denominated
in RMB out of the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange
control restrictions imposed by the government of the
PRC.
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20 BIENZIBEBRENEZRE 32. Trade and Bills Payables

2017
TAT

HK$’000

FERTE 5508 Trade payables 246,025
ANES Bills payables 387,813
633,838
HA0018F12A31H » NEEER S HE0E As at 31 December 2018, the ageing analysis of trade
THEBEAOMURREZERH2T))MT ¢ payables of the Group presented based on the invoice

date was as follows:

2017
TAT
HK$’'000

30H AR Within 30 days

31260H 31 to 60 days

61290H 61 to 90 days

R0 A Over 90 days

REERZ2FHEEH A0H =90 H The average credit period on purchases of goods is 60 to
(20174 : 60HEQ0H) - AEBEZRBF I 90 days (2017: 60 to 90 days). The Group has financial
PR ERBE - ARIRFTBENFIENEE risk management policies in place to ensure that all
HAER o payables are settled within the credit timeframe.
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35 FEETER
BHRAHNAE

R (I EE()
SRR AE (MEv)
FEET B A K H fh FE < 5RIB
(B & i) e i) )

- AR FRIR - FAMGK

Provision (note (i)

(note (i) and (iii))

Financial guarantee liabilities (note (iv))
Accruals and other payables

35, Accruals, Other Payables, Receipt in
Advance and Contract Liabilities

2017
TAT

HK$’000

1,042
69,969

567,133

240,591

FEWFRIE Receipt in advance
AR BE W) Contract liabilities (note v)
BIHA Current

FEBNEA (P aE (i)

Non-current (note (iii)

notes:

REBENDRUEREXBRETETER (i)
MEEFPRH2ESFRERY  RERE

G5 BRENEMBESEEZHEL -
REBBREBRIEHENBEREREZ
BELRETHR - MEREEDFELET

e RS RETTIERT

REA

At the beginning of the year

The Group’s discontinued operations provides 2 to 3 year
warranties to its customers on certain of its electronic
products, under which faulty products are repaired or
replaced. The amount of provision is estimated based on
sales volumes and past experience of the level of repairs
and returns. The estimation basis is reviewed on an
ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.

The movements in the provision for product warranty are
as follow:

2017
TAT

HK$’'000

RESNE Additional provision

B/ FAPRzeHE Amounts utilised during the period/year
HEBE R Disposal of discontinued operation

FE 5, B Exchange alignment

RER At the end of the year
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(ii

(ii)

(iv)

M2018F 128318 » Bt RERHEME
NREZZRRBERENE  BEEX
2 FEFF 3B #922,816,000%8 78 (2017 4F -
28,371,000 7T ) « [ER — M E A R IE
7RG RE R IB A Z T (20174F ¢ 152,000
77T ) R HoAth JE < B TH 916,381,000 7T
(20174 : 38,256,000/ 7T °

FERBARBET 2 HMENRBAEN—
MWE AR —BIEEBRBERE I RBEOT
T (20174 : 239,650,00087T) * B
REAEER B BEHAR12EARE
i

M2018F12A31H  IULRAHHZ BB
E=FEREERERSE TRITE LY
RO ARE270,446,0007T (2017 4F -
AR #270,446,0007T) - B B2 HEE
TRERZBERE  BFUZA -

MR2018F 12 A31H  ZE D AIERZ
N A B #) 558,802,000 JT (2017 4 -
69,969,000 7T ) °

EHRARERZEZFBFE2HAHA
2016F9A2THZ N

AEBRERFETHESEBE BER
T B2 JoR 8 1A 75 E o 6 40 B LKCERCE T B A5
MNEHNSE PEEZSHENRHE
BRVBEERIRERBENERE - &
ABREBEBRZAFEDRARE AN
240,591,000 7T - NEER A TE 38
ArElr e s E R EMERI D - B
BeRBETERSBRMEZFEMAE -
TEt R RGERLFEEE RN EBE R HR
B mERK o

(ii)

(iv)

As at 31 December 2018, accruals and other payables
mainly comprised of payable for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment of approximately HK$22,816,000
(2017: HK$28,371,000), amount due to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary of approximately HK$Nil
(2017: HK$152,000) other tax payable of approximately of
HK$16,381,000 (2017: HK$38,256,000).

For other payable under non-current liabilities was
the amount due to a non-controlling shareholder
of a subsidiary of approximately HK$Nil (2017:
HK$239,650,000) which is unsecured, interest-free and is
not repayable within 12 months.

As at 31 December 2018, the Shandong Hongri has
executed financial guarantees to certain banks for
credit facilities granted to several independent third
parties, for approximately RMB270,446,000 (2017:
RMB270,446,000) which would be required to be paid if
the guarantees were called upon in entirely.

As at 31 December 2018, the fair value of these corporate
guarantees was approximately HK$58,802,000 (2017:
HK$69,969,000).

For more detail of the corporate guarantees please refer to
announcement date 27 September 2016.

The Group receives certain portion of contract amounts
when signing the contracts with customers on sale of
magnesium, fertiliser and metallurgical flux products. The
transaction price allocated to these sales is recognized as
a contract liability at the time of initial sales transaction,
Revenue recognized in the current year that was included
in the contract liability balance was approximately
HK$240,591,000. The Group considers the advance
payments schemes does not contain significant financing
component and accordingly the amount of consideration
is not adjusted for the effects of the time value of money
taking into consideration that the payment terms were
not structured primarily for the provision of finance to the
Group.
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34, BE

RITEE
Hit 5 (P i)
ErERERE M EV)

34, Borrowings

Bank borrowings
Other borrowings (note ii)
Listed subordinated notes (note iv)

2017
TAT

HK$’000

922,787
304,294
592,104

1,819,185

g8 -
—FAR
—FLAFETHEBRF

HBRF

Borrowings:
Within one year

More than one year but not exceeding

five years
More than five years

626,425

1,185,880
6,880

B SVER B BE 2 BIA

Less: Amounts shown under
current liabilities

1,819,185

(626,425)

SVEFERE BB ZFR

Amounts shown under non-current
liabilities

1,192,760

Be
A AR (B 35D
SR (B Ei -~ i~ ivhav)

Borrowings:
Secured (note i)
Unsecured (notes i, iii, iv & v)

856,910
962,275

1,819,185
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EERATE%E - Borrowings were denominated in the following
currencies:

2017
TR

HK$’000

AR RMB 587,930

ATT HKS$ 295,314

Xt us$ 343,837

st SGD 592,104

1,819,185

MizE - notes:

() No018F 12 H31H » AEBEETE (i) As at 31 December 2018, the secured borrowings
UAEBE > YE BEREZE - T were mainly secured by property, plant and
FEHEE ROTEZEER 285 RY equipment, land use rights and deposits with
593,519,000 % 7T + 121,165,000 & 7T & banks of the Group amounting to approximately
86,759,000 7T (2017 4 : 424,713,000 HK$593,519,000, HK$121,165,000 and HK$86,759,000
YT+ 210,379,000 7T % 103,824,000 (2017: HK$424,713,000, HK$210,379,000 and
) AERREME A SRS A a B R ER HK$103,824,000) respectively and corporate guarantee
R o between the fellow subsidiaries.

20184128310 » RITIEERHMEE The weighted average effective interest rate of bank
ZINREF B R A46.23[E (20174 - borrowing and other borrowings as at 31 December 2018
5.75E) o was approximately 6.23% (2017: 5.75%).
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(ii

M2018F 128310  HfEEAESE
& () Bl IR & Bh A 71 B 51 49105,980,000 7
TT * (b)E 3 #4928,549,000/%8 JT & ()& 5 #J
160,146,000/ 7T °

(@)

BIE—HBHARARZIEZENER
AEEEReRAR([HREE@HA
AIDFIVHER R  BEREESmA
7] 2 m i /& 2 74 25,000,000
TLZEBR - ZBERIRMmBRITRE
FEMIBEZFMEFE  WIRE
ARiBFEEMTERER A HEE -
KEBBRESRBARZERUTIE
BIEHEIR - (VAR AMEL Z 2R
R (NERBEEERRERAR(E
E| BETERB)EBZARARK
5 R (i) #R1T717 K 4924,732,0007%
JL (2017 £ : 33,981,000/ 7C) ° i
20184 12 A31 H -+ 549,280,000 &
B (K915 A R 3201596 A30H
BETIRAN12%) EmEEETE
RGEEERSRARMERFBELER
MR o AN RAREZRLER
BREANELEE(FRENTEZ#E
@) AIBE S MR R A E G EHRA
RRAIZREFBRE - AEBRHE
RABETETRY  HRBREER
BT 2 B TS24 o

BIER2018F 12 A6 BT L HE K
W - AN EE$40,000,0008 7T
MELE - EFIR6E 2 FF R E
BAEBEEIMN—K - BIFRFEE
B BRZEEAA2020%7 A31
Ej °

R2018F 12310 » AEEE—F
B E17R % #8%820,000,000% 5t (48
B 155,314,000/ 1) 2 B IK 1 (&
%o BHRRTEZFNETE - BEE
FEIR—R - BRIFRFED - &
527 B H A2020F8 8118 - &
HFHERFNEART.05E -

As at 31 December 2018, included in other borrowings
was (a) IFC loan of approximately HK$105,980,000, (b)
loan of approximately HK$28,549,000 and (c) bond of
approximately HK$160,146,000.

(@)

Pursuant to a loan agreement entered into by a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
and International Finance Corporation (“IFC”),
IFC had granted a loan of US$25,000,000 to the
subsidiary. The loan bears interest at LIBOR plus
3.5% per annum and the amounts due are based
on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements. The loan from IFC was secured
by (i) corporate guarantee given by the Company;
and (ii) pledges of shares in the Company as
owned by Alpha Sino International Limited (“Alpha
Sino”), the substantial shareholder; (iii) deposits
with banks of approximately HK$24,732,000
(2017: HK$33,981,000). As at 31 December 2018,
549,280,000 shares, representing approximately
12% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 30 June 2015, has been pledged by Alpha
Sino to IFC as security for the loan granted. In
addition, Mr. Chi Wen Fu, a director and controlling
shareholder of the Company (through his interest
in Alpha Sino), has given an undertaking to IFC to
maintain a minimum level of shareholding in the
Company. The Group and the subsidiary had to
comply with certain covenants, including, among
other things, certain financial covenants, under the
loan arrangement.

According to a loan agreement entered on 6
December 2018, the Company was granted
HK$40,000,000 facilities. The loan bear an interest
of 6% per annum in arrear semi-annually. The
maturity date of the loan is 31 July 2020 unless early
redeemed.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has an
unsecured bond issued with the principal amount
of USD20,000,000 (equivalent to HK$155,314,000).
The bond bear an interest of 7% per annum payable
in arrear semi-annually. The maturity date of the
bond is 11 August 2020 unless early redeemed.
The effective interest rate of the bond is 7.05% per
annum.
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(i)  FHAMEIE IR E K £580,707,500 % 7T
FEAR A AIR2015F6 A4 H %201548 A
3 H % 17 @ & /& 75,000,000 ¥7 0 # 7T K
50,000,000 MLz S — LR = #t7.2
BREER(BZEEERHEEASE
T)ZEAEE - ZZBERIMER S E
™ WiER2018F6 A48 EI8] - EWik(E
ERMEFHERMER722E - £
BEZEHAQFZEMB A RER -

ZA7 2B RERBED RIS 22017466
A28 -

(iv)  LLIEARFR2017F6 ASB#IT 2 EE
/101,750,000 8T N T 2 7.0 B B ESE
B(BZEEERHEERTEET)ZER
B ZEZBERTMEZSHHA LT Wi
202047 A3E B -

(v)  FFA I {8 & /) 49 55,000,000 7% 7T
(20174 :70,000,0007 7T )36 2018412
A31BUARRARATIRE A R RERREY
RITEEN

M2018F 2017412 A31H - £EE 28R
HmMESZNERQ AR EA1,814,609,000% 7T
(20174 : 1,819,185,000/87T) °

(iii) Included in unsecured borrowings, approximately
HK$580,707,500 represents the carrying amount of the
first tranche and second tranche of 7.2% subordinated
notes with the face value of SGD75 million and SGD50
million (under the Multicurrency Medium Term Note
Programme) which was issued on 4 June 2015 and 3
August 2015 by the Company. The notes are listed on
the Singapore Stock Exchange and will mature on 4 June
2018. The weighted average effective interest rate of listed
subordinated notes is 7.22 %. The listed subordinated
notes are guaranteed by various subsidiaries of the
Company.

The 7.2% subordinated notes were fully redeemed in June
2017 before maturity.

(iv)  This represents the carrying amount of the 7.0%
subordinated notes with the face value of SGD101.75
million (under the Multicurrency Medium Term Note
Programme) issued by the Company on 5 June 2017. The
notes are listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange and will
mature on 3 July 2020.

(v) Included in unsecured borrowings, approximately
HK$55,000,000 (2017: HK$70,000,000) represents bank
loans guaranteed by the corporate guarantee of the
Company as at 31 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the carrying amount
of borrowing approximately equal to its fair value were
HK$1,814,609,000 (2017: HK$1,819,185,000).
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35 AE;mES

AERESAEHOMKREERT -

35. Exchangeable Bonds

The carrying values of the liability component of the
EBs are as follows:

FET
HK$’000

F2017F1A1H As at 1 January 2017 208,504
EMREEFERE Imputed interest expense charged 38,041
B RERFIERE Interest expense paid and payable (18,560)
R2017F12A318 & As at 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018

2018F1H1H 227,985
EHRGEENEMZ Imputed interest expense charged 41,039
B RESFIEREZ Interest expense paid and payable (18,560)
7A2018%12H31H As at 31 December 2018 250,464

B

m

MR2016F5A5H  ARRBETASEEA
232,000,000/ 02 A IR EAFUREIRE - 7]
BRESFEBITABRBIIRSEZ FMEHE -
BENEERXfM—K AlEBESEEAGE
BrlERELSERAPRBERD - JEZETA
BRESFEANROEE A BRELRTARN
MEARNETE o

AERESSAABRREATERES TANK
AR AR 7 40 A O B B 8 3 2 D SR A T AR 0 7T
BMESASHE - THRESIHRSETER
BERETHERA =F(THR]) - fEAREH
FRBARERVERS(REHR]) » HRA
PIRE 5 0 B U N AT R T IR E RSB AR
EE - EBRTEHMEZATER(REE B)ER
RABATE - (AZIH B (A # R EssE AT
SZREH BRI & D S0MEE B LT ERIEA)
(BEZREA R R A A EBMESFE AR LRERR
Ak E BN RN E0ERE R (UBREE

R2017F9A48 - HRFREBEER - AQA]
A EREAFEAZDREBA  MEBREFR
R2017FE10 A6 B KL -

note:

On 5 May 2016, the Company issued EBs with the principal
amount of HK$232,000,000 for cash. The EBs bear an interest
of 8% per annum payable in arrear every six calendar months
from the issue date. The EBs entitle the holder to convert to the
shares of China Rare Earth Magnesium. The number of share
transferrable to the holders of EBs shall be determined by the
formula described in EBs instrument.

The holders of EBs have the right to exchange all or any part
of the principal amount of the EBs at any time during the
exchange period as pursuant to the terms and conditions of
the EBs instrument. The maturity date of the EBs is three years
commencing from the date of issue of the EBs (the “Term”) and
upon prior notice, it can be extended for another 1 calendar year
(the “Extended Term”). The right to exchange attaching to the
EBs may be exercised, at the option of the holder thereof, at
any time and from time to time during the period from the issue
date up to and including the earlier of (A) the maturity date, if
the holders of EBs delivers an exchangeable notice at least 30
calendar days immediately before the maturity date, or (B) the
30th calendar day immediately following the date of delivery of
a submission notice or an agreement notice by the Company to
the holders of EBs.

On 4 September 2017, an Agreement Notice was given to the
holders of EBs due to the re-organisation in relation to China
Rare Earth Magnesium, the exchange right was lapsed on 6
October 2017.
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AERESBEMELLS  fTEeRaEBr Kk
BEBY c ABEHSIEETBHERE  CHER
FESER B HR AT - 12 R E IR IBRIIEST
AemARE - ARERENR2017F10A6A %K
W R2018F12A31H » fTEcMBEATHE
JC(20174F « THEIT) ©

36, EILEUW A

The EBs contain two components: derivative financial liability
component and liability component. The liability component
is classified as non-current liabilities and carried at amortised
costs using effective interest method. The conversion option is
classified as derivative financial liabilities. Due to the lapse of
the exchange right on 6 October 2017, the derivative financial
liabilities as at 31 December 2018 became HK$Nil (2017:
HK$Nil).

The effective interest rate of the liability component on initial
recognition is 18.04% per annum.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated on 26 April 2016.

36. Deferred Revenue

2018 2017
FE FHT

B AR B ER AT 5K

HK$’000 HK$’000

Government grants received related
to assets

69,772 73,585

ARECBEECER  OLUMARLSEBH
BEAR A FN2012FEE KT 7 —
Dz o BIEZE  SHBFRERA L
MALZEBEEEAR A IRETFEEY
(B HUREHLEERBEERRESDE
W E MR BRI ERE -

HZE2018F12A31HIEFE » REBLRZ
U BAE (A & Bh (2017 4F = 2,307,000 7 (47
BN ARE2,000,0007T)) © MEZE20184
F2017F12 A31 8 I FE W EERE MU
A °

PR A FE R IA 2 B B » ISR TR RIE
FTERA R B R ATNRITE XX - WZAT
FEEEN AFHNBRRER -

In order to encourage the development of magnesium
industry, Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co., Limited entered into an agreement with the local
government in 2012. Pursuant to the agreement, the
local government agree to provide financial assistance
(the “Assistance”) to Baishan City Tianan Magnesium
Resources Company Limited to improve their production
technology and enhance the capacity of the property,
plant and equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
has not received any Assistance (2017: HK$2,307,000
(equivalent to RMB2,000,000)) and there were no
other income was recognised for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017.

The Assistance received or which becomes receivables is
initially recognised as deferred revenue and subsequently
recognised in profit or loss over the life of a depreciable
asset by way of as a reduced depreciation charge
expense.
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37 EERIBRE 37 Deferred Tax Liabilities
FARGE PR RIER 2 IRIEF B 454 The components of deferred tax balances recognised in
KRR EB ) R A E BN T the consolidated statement of financial position and the

movements during the year are as follows:

EEHBEE Deferred Tax Liabilities

E T
HWE THERR SEL ] B &E L1t At
Property,

Mining Land use plant and Intangible

rights rights  equipment asset Others Total

TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

R2017E1F1H As at 1 January 2017 91,614 14,252 113 100 - 106,079
—HMBLREN Issue of convertible bond by
AR ES a subsidiary - - - - 17,102 17,102
hE-HHEAT Acauisition of a subsidiary - 5,534 (39,477) 84,010 - 50,067
AR RRE Credited to the consolidated
(KfsE11) statement of profit or loss
(Note 11) 2,729) (468) 2,167 %) (385) (1,449)
EREE Exchange alignment 6,842 1,095 (194) 423 - 8,166
Ro017%12A31A Rk As at 31 December 2017 and
2018F1 A1A 1 January 2018 95,727 20,413 (37,391) 84,500 16,717 179,966
AR BRR Credited to the consolidated
(BisE11) statement of profit or loss
(Note 11) 2,676) (517) 2,985 20) (4,986) (5,414)
B A% Exchange alignment (4,836) (1,047) 2,053 (4,374 - (8,204)
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38. ARRBIREA

38. Share Capital of the Company

RBEE [
Number of Share
CLHETEY capital
ThR THET
‘000 HK$’000
EE Authorised:
R201761 /18 - Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each
2017912 A31H » As at 1 January 2017,
2018F1RA1A K 31 December 2017,
2018%F12H31H 1 January 2018 and
SHRREEC.02F LY 31 December 2018
Liak 10,000,000 200,000
ERTRHE : Issued and fully paid:
20171418 As at 1 January 2017 4,597,977 101,756
B BITRG Cancellation of issued shares 0] (16,860) (337)
R2017F12A31H K As at 31 December 2017 and
2018F1 1B & 1 January 2018 and
201812 A31H 31 December 2018 4,581,117 101,419

GEE

i) HREZE2017F12A31BLEFE - KRR
#BR(EL4,081,00078 T (RETEA)IZTR
N F-0.223 JTLE0.2657 7T 2 (B 18 R B 2
Fir % [2116,860,000 A% A~ A A] & IR M {H0.02
Bz EBR - -BREZRNDERFARNZE
8o FIL - ARBZBEITRABD HER
ZERAD 2 EE T AHIR o B 2 8% E AT
ZHBEERARARMEERSH - Lt
BOAEFSRBEREREMAET - FEIU
REARBZEREEFERERAT -
EARREE RS S -

note:

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company
repurchased 16,860,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.02
each of the Company at an aggregated consideration of
approximately HK$4,081,000 before expenses at prices
ranging from HK$0.223 to HK$0.265 per share on the
Stock Exchange. The repurchased shares were cancelled
during the year. Accordingly, the issued share capital of
the Company was reduced by the nominal value thereof.
The premium payable on the repurchase was charged
against the share premium account of the Company.
The repurchases were effected by the Board pursuant
to the mandate from shareholders, with a view to benefit
shareholders as a whole in enhancing the net assets and
earnings per share of the Company.
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39, RRARFBARRAK LFEE 39. Statement of Financial Position and
Reserves of the Company
(a) BEMRRE (a) Statement of Financial Position
201812 A31H As at 31 December 2018
2017
TAEL
HK$’000
ERBEE Non-current assets
ERN S Property, plant and equipment 1,642
RIBR A ZIRE Investments in subsidiaries 2,108
3,750
REEE Current assets
HipEWE - BARERES Other receivables, prepayments and
deposits 1,167
JRE LBt /B8 A 7] 3B Amounts due from subsidiaries 2,513,692
FITRE &% Bank and cash balances 36,915
2,551,774
HRBeE Less: Current liabilities
H AR Other payables 6,555
e TSRt Income tax payable 2,974
fEE Borrowings 20,000
29,529
RBEEFE Net current assets 2,522,245
BEABERRBAE Total assets less current liabilities 2,525,995
A ERBAE Less: Non-current liability
EE Borrowings 1,014,946
1,014,946
EERE Net assets 1,511,049
AAREBARERARFEE Capital and reserves attributable
to owners of the Company
xR Share capital 101,419
& Reserves 1,409,630
BESEEE Total equity 1,511,049
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(b) f#EE (b) Reserves
RieE E4RORE  BREGS Bfifit RERH it
Capital Share
Share  redemption option  Revaluation Retained
premium reserve reverse reserve earnings Total
B Thn Thn Tin AT Thn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R017E1A18 As at 1 January 2017 1,367,100 4,189 4214 (2,749) 75,512 1,438,266
ErER Loss for the year - - - - (27,.950) (27,950)
EREmEERS Other comprehensive
MRAER - expense for the year,
net of income tax;
EREETRIERE Net gain arising on revaluation of
EENaEE avallable-for-sale investments
during the year - - - 3,236 - 3,236
ERHETHTEREL Redlassfication adjustment relating to
EbipEEd disposal of avallable-for-sale Investments
during the year - - - (487) - (487)
ER2ENE/ (%) Total comprehensive income/[expenses)

o for the year - - - 2749 (27.950) (25,201)
BAERE Share option lapsed - - (1,307) - 1307 -
REEERANF RS Equity settled share-based transactions - - 309 - - 309
TR Share cancelation (3,744) 37 - - (337) (3,744)
2017512318 R As at 31 December 2017 and

181A1A 1 January 2018 1,363,356 4526 3216 - 48532 1,409,630
FRmEN Profit for the year - - - - Q417 047
EmzERRER Total comprefensive

expenses for the year - - - - A7 nar
BARE Share option lapsed - - (2,064) - 2,064 -
REEERDAZ RS Equity settled share-based transactions - - 106 - - 106

20185123318

As at 31 December 2018
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40. BERiERT S

(a)

RRFZBREE
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40. Share Option Schemes

(a)

Share option scheme of the Company

On 3 December 2008, a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) was approved by the shareholders of
the Company. Under the Scheme, the Company
may grant options to the directors or employees
of the Group, consultant or adviser, distributor,
contractor, supplier, service provider, agent,
customer and business partner of the Group (the
“Eligible Participant”) to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

Options may be granted on such terms and